
  
Council Meeting Agenda 

November 6, 2023 
6:00PM 

 

1. Call to Order ............................................................................................... Mayor Ed Hooks 

2. Invocation ............................................. Rev. Jeff Nash, Mebane United Methodist Church 

3. Recognition ................................................................................................................ Mayor 

a. Sean Ewing- 2023 NAACP Presidents Award  
b. Jennifer Livers- Life Safety Educator of the Year Award 
c. Kirk Montgomery- President of the State Employees Association of NC 

 
4. Public Comments ....................................................................................................... Mayor 

5. Consent Agenda: 

a. 1st Quarter Financial Report- July 1, 2023, to September 30, 2023 
b. Approval of Minutes- October 2, 2023 Regular Meeting 

6. Public Hearings- 

a. Special Use Permit (Quasi-Judicial)- VM Development, LLC  
to allow for the development of a concrete plant 
at 920 Mattress Factory Road .................... Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
 

b. Conditional Rezoning- Samet Corporation- Heavy Manufacturing and  
Light Manufacturing to Heavy Manufacturing to allow  
for a rail transload facility on property at Lake Latham Road,  
W. Holt Street, and Sun Ray Lane  ....................................................... Ms. Ownbey 

 
c. Street Closing Resolution and Order-  

Portions of Jackson Street and Short Street .............. Lawson Brown, City Attorney 
 

7. Racial Equity Advisory Committee (REAC)  
Appointments ............................................ Beatrice Hunter, HR Director and REAC Liaison 

 
8. Recreation and Parks Advocacy Commission (RPAC)  

2024 Appointments ......................................... Aaron Davis, Recreation and Parks Director 
 

9. Purchase of Vacant Lot- Ruffin Street ................................................................. Mr. Brown 
 

10. FEMA BRIC Grant Application- Sewer Rehab ........................... Kyle Smith, Utilities Director 
 

11. Proposed 2024 Regular Meeting and FY 2024-25 Budget  
Calendar ..................................................................................... Chris Rollins, City Manager 

 
12. Adjournment .............................................................................................................. Mayor 



 

AGENDA ITEM #5A 
1st Quarter Financial Report –  
July 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023 

Meeting Date 
November 6, 2023 

Presenter  
Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Municipal finance officers in North Carolina must report financial information, including encumbrances, to 
the governing body throughout the fiscal year. The City of Mebane meets this requirement with quarterly 
reports. 

Background 
This report displays the first quarter of the fiscal year for the period that ended September 30, 2023.   

General Fund: Actual revenue collections are at 33% of the budget, so collections are ahead of the quarterly 
expectation of 25%. Actual revenue collections and other financing sources (including fund balance 
appropriation) are at 31% of the budget, which is still ahead of the quarterly expectation. Actual 
expenditures are 19% of the budget, which is below the quarterly expectation of 25%.  

Utility Fund: Actual revenue collections are at 27% of the budget, so collections are slightly ahead of the 
quarterly expectation of 25%. Actual revenue collections and other financing sources (including fund 
balance appropriation) are at 21% of the budget, which is below the quarterly expectation. Actual 
expenditures are 21% of the budget, which is slightly below the quarterly expectation of 25%.  

Utility Reserve Fund: Actual revenue collections are at 18% of the budget, which is below the quarterly 
expectation of 25%. 

Financial Impact 
None. 

Recommendation 
That the Council accepts the report. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to accept the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 1st  Quarter Financial Report. 

Attachments 
1. Fiscal Year 2023-2024 1st Quarter Financial Report 

 



10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 1 of 15

Income Statement
Mebane, NC Account Summary

For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 100 - General Fund

Revenue

GovType: 3000 - Property Taxes

205.39 -205.39205.39100-3018-000 2018 PROPERTY TAXES 205.390.00 0.00

24.73 -68.1568.15100-3019-000 2019 PROPERTY TAXES 68.150.00 0.00

44.96 -321.53321.53100-3020-000 2020 PROPERTY TAXES 321.530.00 0.00

495.90 -1,150.031,150.03100-3021-000 2021 PROPERTY TAXES 1,150.030.00 0.00

987.09 9,306.582,693.42100-3022-000 2022 PROPERTY TAXES 2,693.4212,000.00 12,000.00

7,062,095.93 7,062,460.747,679,303.26100-3023-000 2023 PROPERTY TAX 7,679,303.2614,741,764.00 14,741,764.00

95,981.99 619,960.07184,158.93100-3069-000 MOTOR VEHICLE PROPERTY TAXES 184,158.93804,119.00 804,119.00

-36,830.15 2,024.81-40,024.81100-3070-000 TAX DISCOUNTS -40,024.81-38,000.00 -38,000.00

8,732.98 49,692.4810,307.52100-3071-000 TAX PENALTIES & INTEREST 10,307.5260,000.00 60,000.00

300,519.13 212,510.49330,290.51100-3080-000 FIRE DISTRICT TAXES - CURRENT YR 330,290.51542,801.00 542,801.00

645.16 4,987.711,012.29100-3081-000 FIRE DISTRICT TAXES - PRIOR YEAR 1,012.296,000.00 6,000.00

203.34 1,622.20377.80100-3082-000 FIRE DISTRICT TAXES - PENALTY & INT 377.802,000.00 2,000.00

7,433,106.45 8,169,864.02 8,169,864.02 7,960,819.9816,130,684.00 16,130,684.00GovType: 3000 - Property Taxes Total:

GovType: 3100 - Other Taxes and Licenses

0.00 900.000.00100-3090-000 PRIVILEGE LICENSE FEES 0.00900.00 900.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 900.00900.00 900.00GovType: 3100 - Other Taxes and Licenses Total:

GovType: 3215 - Restricted Federal Intergov

0.00 -8,342.598,342.59100-3150-510 FEDERAL EQUITABLE SHARING FUNDS 8,342.590.00 0.00

0.00 8,342.59 8,342.59 -8,342.590.00 0.00GovType: 3215 - Restricted Federal Intergov Total:

GovType: 3220 - Unrestricted State Intergov

0.00 7,107,700.000.00100-3205-000 LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX 0.007,107,700.00 7,107,700.00

0.00 1,124,100.000.00100-3210-000 UTILITY FRANCHISE TAX 0.001,124,100.00 1,124,100.00

0.00 66,000.000.00100-3211-000 VIDEO PROGRAMMING SALES TAX 0.0066,000.00 66,000.00

0.00 55,000.000.00100-3212-000 TELECOM SALES TAX 0.0055,000.00 55,000.00

0.00 70,000.000.00100-3220-000 BEER AND WINE TAX 0.0070,000.00 70,000.00

0.00 11,000.000.00100-3258-580 SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL TAX 0.0011,000.00 11,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 8,433,800.008,433,800.00 8,433,800.00GovType: 3220 - Unrestricted State Intergov Total:

GovType: 3225 - Restricted State Intergov

262,384.96 240,615.04262,384.96100-3230-000 POWELL BILL ALLOCATION 262,384.96503,000.00 503,000.00

90.10 993.70306.30100-3252-510 CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE TAX 306.301,300.00 1,300.00

0.00 52,000.000.00100-3253-530 STATE CONTRIBUTION TO FIRE RELIEF 0.0052,000.00 52,000.00

262,475.06 262,691.26 262,691.26 293,608.74556,300.00 556,300.00GovType: 3225 - Restricted State Intergov Total:

GovType: 3230 - Unrestricted Local Intergov

0.00 300,000.000.00100-3301-000 INTERGOVERNMENTAL - TAX SHARING 0.00300,000.00 300,000.00

0.00 164,000.000.00100-3351-000 ABC DISTRIBUTION 0.00164,000.00 164,000.00

0.00 32,000.000.00100-3353-000 ABC DISTRIBUTION - SURCHARGE 0.0032,000.00 32,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 496,000.00496,000.00 496,000.00GovType: 3230 - Unrestricted Local Intergov Total:

GovType: 3235 - Restricted Local Intergov

0.00 -20,000.00300,000.00100-3308-000 ABSS SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER FU… 300,000.00280,000.00 280,000.00

0.00 9,000.000.00100-3320-530 EFLAND FIRE DISTRICT CONTRIBUTI 0.009,000.00 9,000.00

0.00 700.000.00100-3321-000 ORANGE COUNTY LIBRARY CONTRIBUT 0.00700.00 700.00

0.00 5,450.000.00100-3322-620 ORANGE COUNTY RECREATION CONT… 0.005,450.00 5,450.00

0.00 40,000.000.00100-3352-510 ABC DISTRIBUTION - LAW ENFORCEM 0.0040,000.00 40,000.00

0.00 300,000.00 300,000.00 35,150.00335,150.00 335,150.00GovType: 3235 - Restricted Local Intergov Total:

GovType: 3400 - Permits and Fees

125.00 18,810.00500.00100-3440-540 PLAN REVIEW FEES 500.0019,310.00 19,310.00

6,050.00 386,991.0033,509.00100-3440-548 ENGINEERING CONST INSP FEES 33,509.00420,500.00 420,500.00

9,325.00 12,140.0058,560.00100-3442-540 PLANNING AND ZONING FEES 58,560.0070,700.00 70,700.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 2 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

56,372.00 836,891.00163,109.00100-3445-544 BUILDING PERMIT FEES 163,109.001,000,000.00 1,000,000.00

18,140.00 229,683.0070,317.00100-3450-544 INSPECTIONS FEES 70,317.00300,000.00 300,000.00

700.00 53,442.0010,558.00100-3451-550 STREET & UTILITY INSPECTION FEE 10,558.0064,000.00 64,000.00

1,900.00 35,250.004,750.00100-3453-530 FIRE PERMIT & INSPECTION FEES 4,750.0040,000.00 40,000.00

0.00 1,000.000.00100-3455-540 STORMWATER CONTROL FEES 0.001,000.00 1,000.00

7.00 352.0048.00100-3459-544 HOMEOWNER'S RECOVERY FUND FEES 48.00400.00 400.00

225.00 3,303.82696.18100-3460-510 COURT FEES 696.184,000.00 4,000.00

92,844.00 342,047.18 342,047.18 1,577,862.821,919,910.00 1,919,910.00GovType: 3400 - Permits and Fees Total:

GovType: 3500 - Sales and Services

7,235.00 72,585.0027,415.00100-3510-620 FIELD, ROOM AND SHELTER RENTALS 27,415.00100,000.00 100,000.00

0.00 6,700.00300.00100-3511-620 EVENT FEES 300.007,000.00 7,000.00

4,340.00 25,660.0014,340.00100-3512-620 ATHLETIC FEES 14,340.0040,000.00 40,000.00

0.00 14,495.00505.00100-3513-620 CAMP FEES 505.0015,000.00 15,000.00

15.00 800.00200.00100-3515-620 RECREATION FEES OTHER 200.001,000.00 1,000.00

48,112.00 432,227.98143,280.02100-3558-580 SANITATION USER FEES 143,280.02575,508.00 575,508.00

6,000.00 21,750.0011,250.00100-3560-550 CEMETERY PLOT SALES 11,250.0033,000.00 33,000.00

2,409.00 34,724.8010,155.20100-3580-000 CELLULAR RENTS 10,155.2044,880.00 44,880.00

68,111.00 207,445.22 207,445.22 608,942.78816,388.00 816,388.00GovType: 3500 - Sales and Services Total:

GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings

0.00 20,000.000.00100-3710-000 INTEREST EARNINGS 0.0020,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.0020,000.00 20,000.00GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings Total:

GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues

100,000.00 -95,000.00100,000.00100-3802-000 MISCELLANEOUS GRANTS 100,000.005,000.00 5,000.00

5,068.00 456.2014,543.80100-3810-000 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 14,543.8015,000.00 15,000.00

0.00 3,000.000.00100-3811-000 CONTRIBUTIONS & DONATIONS 0.003,000.00 3,000.00

40.00 -4,732.002,732.00100-3811-620 DONATIONS - RECREATION 2,732.00-2,000.00 -2,000.00

0.00 10,000.007,000.00100-3840-000 SALE OF FIXED ASSETS 7,000.0017,000.00 17,000.00

270.12 4,588.60411.40100-3845-550 SALE OF MATERIALS 411.405,000.00 5,000.00

0.00 5,000.000.00100-3850-000 RENTAL INCOME 0.005,000.00 5,000.00

105,378.12 124,687.20 124,687.20 -76,687.2048,000.00 48,000.00GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues Total:

GovType: 8500 - Proceeds of Debt

0.00 1,258,439.012,097,500.00100-3980-000 PROCEEDS OF DEBT 2,097,500.001,270,062.00 3,355,939.01

0.00 2,097,500.00 2,097,500.00 1,258,439.011,270,062.00 3,355,939.01GovType: 8500 - Proceeds of Debt Total:

GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance

0.00 5,338,730.990.00100-3990-000 APPROPRIATED FUND BALANCE 0.002,797,463.00 5,338,730.99

0.00 0.00 0.00 5,338,730.992,797,463.00 5,338,730.99GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance Total:

7,961,914.63 11,512,577.47 11,512,577.47 25,939,224.5332,824,657.00 37,451,802.00Revenue Total:

Expense

Department: 4100 - City Council

4,541.67 46,470.9913,625.01100-4100-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 13,625.0160,096.00 60,096.00

347.46 3,554.621,042.38100-4100-050 FICA 1,042.384,597.00 4,597.00

0.00 327.000.00100-4100-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 0.00327.00 327.00

0.00 5,429.1070.90100-4100-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 70.905,500.00 5,500.00

0.00 1,350.000.00100-4100-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 0.001,350.00 1,350.00

4,889.13 14,738.29 57,131.7114,738.2971,870.00 71,870.00Department: 4100 - City Council Total:

Department: 4200 - Administration

68,149.33 700,726.00204,448.00100-4200-020 SALARIES & WAGES 204,448.00905,174.00 905,174.00

0.00 7,781.000.00100-4200-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 0.007,781.00 7,781.00

0.00 5,000.000.00100-4200-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 0.005,000.00 5,000.00

0.00 22,804.000.00100-4200-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.0022,804.00 22,804.00

282.46 2,844.62847.38100-4200-045 CAR ALLOWANCE 847.383,692.00 3,692.00

45.00 1,485.00135.00100-4200-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 135.001,620.00 1,620.00

5,081.49 57,724.2315,262.77100-4200-050 FICA 15,262.7772,987.00 72,987.00

5,627.68 50,148.9616,883.04100-4200-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 16,883.0467,032.00 67,032.00

15,912.89 173,223.3147,738.69100-4200-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 47,738.69220,962.00 220,962.00

3,407.50 37,092.5010,222.50100-4200-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 10,222.5047,315.00 47,315.00

0.00 -368,773.000.00100-4200-099 INDIRECT TO WATER (CONTRA) 0.00-368,773.00 -368,773.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 3 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

15,487.60 188,319.54107,749.46100-4200-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 26,833.51292,944.00 296,069.00

0.87 1,190.349.66100-4200-110 POSTAGE 9.661,200.00 1,200.00

900.00 21,670.403,827.60100-4200-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 3,327.6025,498.00 25,498.00

446.23 3,500.005,000.00100-4200-260 ADVERTISING 446.238,500.00 8,500.00

0.00 350.00350.00100-4200-310 FUEL 0.00700.00 700.00

1,195.79 18,553.0514,159.95100-4200-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 6,367.7432,963.00 32,713.00

0.00 20,543.000.00100-4200-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 0.0020,543.00 20,543.00

0.00 350.000.00100-4200-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 0.00350.00 350.00

0.00 6,339.00283.00100-4200-344 VARIED SERVICES 283.006,372.00 6,622.00

195.00 0.00260.00100-4200-350 SOFTWARE LICENSES 195.000.00 260.00

0.00 25,000.000.00100-4200-376 BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 0.0025,000.00 25,000.00

0.00 1,716.02283.98100-4200-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 283.982,000.00 2,000.00

0.00 19,500.000.00100-4200-450 MISCELLANEOUS 0.0019,500.00 19,500.00

0.00 4,878.54826.46100-4200-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 826.465,705.00 5,705.00

116,731.84 334,110.56 1,001,966.51428,287.491,426,869.00 1,430,254.00Department: 4200 - Administration Total:

Department: 4400 - Finance

29,817.98 368,600.1189,453.89100-4400-020 SALARIES & WAGES 89,453.89458,054.00 458,054.00

148.51 11,810.901,381.10100-4400-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 1,381.1013,192.00 13,192.00

0.00 5,000.000.00100-4400-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 0.005,000.00 5,000.00

0.00 8,099.000.00100-4400-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.008,099.00 8,099.00

225.00 2,115.00585.00100-4400-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 585.002,700.00 2,700.00

2,206.31 30,575.416,683.59100-4400-050 FICA 6,683.5937,259.00 37,259.00

4,031.68 45,360.9612,095.04100-4400-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 12,095.0457,456.00 57,456.00

6,962.48 89,757.5620,887.44100-4400-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 20,887.44110,645.00 110,645.00

1,490.90 19,220.304,472.70100-4400-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 4,472.7023,693.00 23,693.00

0.00 -244,196.000.00100-4400-099 INDIRECT TO UTILITY (CONTRA) 0.00-244,196.00 -244,196.00

1,300.00 15,476.7579,167.25100-4400-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,167.2594,644.00 94,644.00

345.73 1,437.987,572.02100-4400-110 POSTAGE 528.639,010.00 9,010.00

133.93 785.02214.98100-4400-120 BANK CHARGES 214.980.00 1,000.00

25.00 13,925.002,225.00100-4400-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 1,225.0016,150.00 16,150.00

0.00 0.000.00100-4400-260 ADVERTISING 0.001,000.00 0.00

32,335.24 69,203.4238,796.58100-4400-270 TAX COLLECTION FEE 38,796.58108,000.00 108,000.00

0.00 6,122.391,727.61100-4400-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 227.617,850.00 7,850.00

0.00 12,409.9122,715.09100-4400-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 22,715.0935,125.00 35,125.00

0.00 600.000.00100-4400-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 0.00600.00 600.00

0.00 900.000.00100-4400-391 SMALL EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE &… 0.00900.00 900.00

0.00 2,918.95526.05100-4400-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 526.053,445.00 3,445.00

79,022.76 201,959.95 460,122.66288,503.34748,626.00 748,626.00Department: 4400 - Finance Total:

Department: 4800 - IT

15,032.16 155,391.5545,096.45100-4800-020 SALARIES & WAGES 45,096.45200,488.00 200,488.00

0.00 5,923.000.00100-4800-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 0.005,923.00 5,923.00

0.00 5,000.000.00100-4800-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 0.005,000.00 5,000.00

0.00 7,072.000.00100-4800-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.007,072.00 7,072.00

90.00 810.00270.00100-4800-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 270.001,080.00 1,080.00

1,124.66 13,423.023,373.98100-4800-050 FICA 3,373.9816,797.00 16,797.00

1,596.00 14,364.004,788.00100-4800-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 4,788.0019,152.00 19,152.00

3,510.01 39,354.9910,530.01100-4800-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 10,530.0149,885.00 49,885.00

751.60 8,427.192,254.81100-4800-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 2,254.8110,682.00 10,682.00

0.00 -111,914.000.00100-4800-099 INDIRECT TO UTILITY (CONTRA) 0.00-111,914.00 -111,914.00

12,303.00 54,577.00166,087.00100-4800-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 35,603.00223,664.00 220,664.00

0.00 9,500.000.00100-4800-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 0.009,500.00 9,500.00

0.00 10,000.000.00100-4800-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 0.0010,000.00 10,000.00

0.00 1,000.000.00100-4800-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 0.001,000.00 1,000.00

0.00 500.000.00100-4800-310 FUEL 0.00500.00 500.00

331.55 12,234.831,165.17100-4800-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 1,165.1713,400.00 13,400.00

20,980.46 17,061.60173,270.40100-4800-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 46,469.35187,532.00 190,332.00

31,917.80 -33.08301,278.08100-4800-341 TELECOMMUNICATIONS 45,443.30301,245.00 301,245.00

0.00 18,123.4521,539.54100-4800-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 21,539.5437,117.00 39,662.99

100.00 0.003,240.00100-4800-344 VARIED SERVICES 514.773,240.00 3,240.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 4 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

21,727.69 211,296.61156,875.39100-4800-350 SOFTWARE LICENSING AND MAINT 84,907.26368,172.00 368,172.00

0.00 101,530.1911,643.53100-4800-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 8,180.13107,640.00 113,173.72

2,475.26 21,774.3418,625.66100-4800-391 SMALL EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 6,772.3240,400.00 40,400.00

0.00 680.0020.00100-4800-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 20.00700.00 700.00

0.00 138,847.6922,225.31100-4800-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 16,622.00139,202.00 161,073.00

16,674.00 2,250.0025,603.00100-4800-750 CAPITAL OUTLAY - EQUIPMENT 16,674.0015,924.00 27,853.00

128,614.19 350,224.09 737,194.38967,886.331,663,401.00 1,705,080.71Department: 4800 - IT Total:

Department: 4900 - Economic Development

0.00 830,691.7249,522.28100-4900-455 INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 49,522.28880,214.00 880,214.00

0.00 0.0020,000.00100-4900-684 ALAMANCE COUNTY CHAMBER OF C… 5,000.0020,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 54,522.28 830,691.7269,522.28900,214.00 900,214.00Department: 4900 - Economic Development Total:

Department: 5100 - Police

200,962.04 2,654,851.20677,461.80100-5100-020 SALARIES & WAGES 677,461.803,332,313.00 3,332,313.00

2,105.98 25,947.066,317.94100-5100-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 6,317.9432,265.00 32,265.00

1,505.23 61,683.259,006.75100-5100-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 9,006.7570,690.00 70,690.00

264.00 3,076.00924.00100-5100-036 ON-CALL 924.004,000.00 4,000.00

2,780.80 73,309.804,171.20100-5100-038 TEMPORARY SALARIES 4,171.2077,481.00 77,481.00

0.00 78,046.00500.00100-5100-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 500.0078,546.00 78,546.00

0.00 78,000.000.00100-5100-042 BONUS PAYMENTS 0.0078,000.00 78,000.00

4,481.06 82,082.8610,357.14100-5100-044 LEO SEPARATION ALLOWANCE 10,357.1492,440.00 92,440.00

135.00 675.00405.00100-5100-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 405.001,080.00 1,080.00

15,896.87 244,400.9153,249.09100-5100-050 FICA 53,249.09297,650.00 297,650.00

32,787.62 353,702.9096,369.10100-5100-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 96,369.10450,072.00 450,072.00

3,811.44 25,089.6811,434.32100-5100-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 11,434.3236,524.00 36,524.00

10,550.24 145,499.7534,280.25100-5100-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 34,280.25179,780.00 179,780.00

45,744.56 746,631.31149,701.69100-5100-072 LEO RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 149,701.69896,333.00 896,333.00

312.86 5,616.75123,461.25100-5100-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 663.25129,078.00 129,078.00

63.46 3,260.2499.76100-5100-110 POSTAGE 99.763,360.00 3,360.00

2,041.49 13,721.782,060.22100-5100-130 UTILITIES 2,060.2215,782.00 15,782.00

0.00 14,888.0414,611.96100-5100-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 14,611.9629,500.00 29,500.00

1,906.52 17,883.8227,480.00100-5100-150 BUILDING & GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 15,394.1837,820.00 45,363.82

12,917.89 21,924.6569,281.35100-5100-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 33,916.6691,206.00 91,206.00

0.00 1,026.0054.00100-5100-260 ADVERTISING 54.001,080.00 1,080.00

13,575.69 5,400.00135,000.00100-5100-310 FUEL 25,892.67140,400.00 140,400.00

3,711.31 47,041.1027,586.90100-5100-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 7,205.1474,628.00 74,628.00

875.00 6,750.5886,648.42100-5100-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 1,249.4293,399.00 93,399.00

0.00 9,477.7747,160.23100-5100-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 23,639.7956,638.00 56,638.00

3,119.69 5,007.2739,992.73100-5100-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 5,014.8045,000.00 45,000.00

0.00 1,600.01399.99100-5100-451 INVESTIGATIONS 399.995,000.00 2,000.00

680.57 8,399.43680.57100-5100-456 PUBLIC EDUCATION SUPPLIES & MAT… 680.579,080.00 9,080.00

0.00 879.534,590.47100-5100-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS -4.535,470.00 5,470.00

0.00 607.761,392.24100-5100-570 SPECIAL ACTIVITIES 1,392.242,000.00 2,000.00

0.00 10,631.0088,685.00100-5100-683 PET ADOPTION CENTER SUBSIDY 88,685.0099,316.00 99,316.00

0.00 0.0012,500.00100-5100-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 0.000.00 12,500.00

305,154.28 549.90448,670.30100-5100-740 CAPITAL OUTLAY - VEHICLES 338,147.72413,058.00 449,220.20

665,383.60 1,613,281.12 4,747,661.352,184,533.676,878,989.00 6,932,195.02Department: 5100 - Police Total:

Department: 5300 - Fire

165,075.56 1,821,785.24510,318.76100-5300-020 SALARIES & WAGES 510,318.762,360,208.00 2,332,104.00

5,310.00 58,433.7112,018.29100-5300-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 12,018.2970,452.00 70,452.00

12,402.75 61,336.2434,082.76100-5300-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 34,082.7695,419.00 95,419.00

0.00 57,076.000.00100-5300-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.0057,076.00 57,076.00

0.00 15,921.0011,095.00100-5300-041 VOLUNTEER REIMBURSEMENTS 11,095.0027,016.00 27,016.00

0.00 35,355.000.00100-5300-044 FIRE SEPARATION ALLOWANCE 0.0035,355.00 35,355.00

450.00 4,590.001,350.00100-5300-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 1,350.005,940.00 5,940.00

13,815.17 169,283.5542,910.45100-5300-050 FICA 42,910.45212,194.00 212,194.00

28,769.28 363,806.3286,328.68100-5300-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 86,328.68452,466.00 450,135.00

0.00 10,900.000.00100-5300-061 FRATERNAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIO 0.0010,900.00 10,900.00

41,441.20 497,801.24127,117.76100-5300-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 127,117.76624,919.00 624,919.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 5 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

9,080.21 105,948.9227,836.08100-5300-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 27,836.08133,785.00 133,785.00

0.00 4,905.000.00100-5300-072 FIRE RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 0.004,905.00 4,905.00

0.00 62,784.000.00100-5300-095 PENSION EXPENSE 0.0062,784.00 62,784.00

0.00 4,500.0025,500.00100-5300-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0.0030,000.00 30,000.00

5.67 3,673.0626.94100-5300-110 POSTAGE 26.943,700.00 3,700.00

44.54 1,544.8855.12100-5300-120 BANK CHARGES 55.121,600.00 1,600.00

4,810.88 34,296.226,323.78100-5300-130 UTILITIES 6,323.7840,620.00 40,620.00

851.39 20,124.787,275.22100-5300-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 3,375.2225,000.00 27,400.00

1,221.93 8,947.0317,705.97100-5300-150 BUILDING & GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 3,302.9226,653.00 26,653.00

1,815.02 7,411.921,988.08100-5300-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 1,988.089,400.00 9,400.00

18,143.62 17,246.7667,753.24100-5300-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 42,800.6885,000.00 85,000.00

5,670.84 5,961.8050,643.20100-5300-310 FUEL 9,515.5256,605.00 56,605.00

2,228.53 31,231.8213,568.18100-5300-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 9,044.1044,800.00 44,800.00

749.37 9,339.038,148.97100-5300-333 EMT EQUIPMENT 3,148.9717,488.00 17,488.00

0.00 1,667.8236,568.18100-5300-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 532.182,200.00 38,236.00

0.00 2,074.3917,941.61100-5300-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 15,241.6120,016.00 20,016.00

6,600.20 55,589.7323,460.27100-5300-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 8,718.5679,050.00 79,050.00

0.00 57,645.3811,354.62100-5300-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 6,929.9266,800.00 69,000.00

0.00 13,211.123,769.21100-5300-391 SMALL EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE &… 3,769.2113,640.00 16,980.33

0.00 3,335.17142.83100-5300-451 INVESTIGATIONS 142.834,478.00 3,478.00

0.00 4,945.0055.00100-5300-456 PUBLIC EDUCATION SUPPLIES & MAT… 55.005,000.00 5,000.00

176.00 7,710.48436.52100-5300-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 436.528,147.00 8,147.00

0.00 13,500.000.00100-5300-570 SPECIAL ACTIVITIES 0.0013,500.00 13,500.00

810.00 11,995.9845,491.77100-5300-720 CAPITAL OUTLAY - BUILDINGS 6,308.7526,524.00 57,487.75

0.00 90,720.000.00100-5300-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 0.0068,271.00 90,720.00

27,414.22 53,283.392,123,147.62100-5300-740 CAPITAL OUTLAY - VEHICLES 33,645.6189,554.00 2,176,431.01

0.00 0.7585,785.25100-5300-750 CAPITAL OUTLAY - EQUIPMENT 0.0080,000.00 85,786.00

346,886.38 1,008,419.30 3,729,882.733,400,199.364,971,465.00 7,130,082.09Department: 5300 - Fire Total:

Department: 5400 - Planning

15,577.94 170,226.1746,733.83100-5400-020 SALARIES & WAGES 46,733.83216,960.00 216,960.00

1,526.40 25,279.363,968.64100-5400-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 3,968.6429,248.00 29,248.00

0.00 5,430.000.00100-5400-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 0.005,430.00 5,430.00

0.00 2,276.000.00100-5400-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.002,276.00 2,276.00

45.00 1,485.00135.00100-5400-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 135.001,620.00 1,620.00

1,311.94 15,659.903,889.10100-5400-050 FICA 3,889.1019,549.00 19,549.00

2,394.00 21,546.007,182.00100-5400-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 7,182.0028,728.00 28,728.00

3,637.46 41,925.6310,912.37100-5400-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 10,912.3752,838.00 52,838.00

778.88 8,978.362,336.64100-5400-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 2,336.6411,315.00 11,315.00

0.00 -51,495.000.00100-5400-099 INDIRECT TO UTILITY (CONTRA) 0.00-51,495.00 -51,495.00

0.00 211,982.5017,433.85100-5400-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES -1,982.50220,000.00 229,416.35

0.00 936.3763.63100-5400-110 POSTAGE 63.631,000.00 1,000.00

0.00 7,517.781,792.22100-5400-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 792.229,310.00 9,310.00

1,226.16 471.6012,882.40100-5400-150 BUILDING & GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 2,929.1613,354.00 13,354.00

0.00 875.000.00100-5400-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 0.00875.00 875.00

461.26 6,593.047,156.96100-5400-260 ADVERTISING 760.0313,750.00 13,750.00

0.00 1,200.000.00100-5400-310 FUEL 0.001,200.00 1,200.00

0.00 5,349.001,651.00100-5400-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 1,151.007,000.00 7,000.00

0.00 2,500.000.00100-5400-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 0.002,500.00 2,500.00

0.00 1,200.000.00100-5400-344 VARIED SERVICES 0.001,200.00 1,200.00

0.00 500.000.00100-5400-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 0.00500.00 500.00

0.00 2,523.007,662.00100-5400-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 6,734.0010,185.00 10,185.00

26,959.04 85,605.12 482,959.71123,799.64597,343.00 606,759.35Department: 5400 - Planning Total:

Department: 5410 - Main Street Program

0.00 0.006,297.28100-5410-375 DOWNTOWN FACADE CITY GRANTS 0.000.00 6,297.28

0.00 0.00 0.006,297.280.00 6,297.28Department: 5410 - Main Street Program Total:

Department: 5440 - Inspections

37,959.45 398,587.63113,878.37100-5440-020 SALARIES & WAGES 113,878.37512,466.00 512,466.00

0.00 59,817.000.00100-5440-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 0.0059,817.00 59,817.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 6 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

0.00 5,868.000.00100-5440-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 0.005,868.00 5,868.00

0.00 11,835.000.00100-5440-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.0011,835.00 11,835.00

225.00 2,565.00675.00100-5440-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 675.003,240.00 3,240.00

2,736.16 37,173.518,208.49100-5440-050 FICA 8,208.4945,382.00 45,382.00

5,667.86 50,028.4217,003.58100-5440-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 17,003.5867,032.00 67,032.00

8,863.52 97,960.4426,590.56100-5440-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 26,590.56124,551.00 124,551.00

1,897.95 20,977.125,693.88100-5440-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 5,693.8826,671.00 26,671.00

0.00 -37,429.000.00100-5440-099 INDIRECT TO UTILITY (CONTRA) 0.00-37,429.00 -37,429.00

1,910.00 4,800.006,000.00100-5440-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 1,910.008,800.00 10,800.00

290.89 729.59710.41100-5440-110 POSTAGE 710.41440.00 1,440.00

659.40 41,656.943,343.06100-5440-120 BANK CHARGES 3,343.0645,000.00 45,000.00

0.00 9,081.001,569.00100-5440-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 569.0011,650.00 10,650.00

375.13 7,986.87413.13100-5440-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 413.138,400.00 8,400.00

475.73 1,000.006,500.00100-5440-310 FUEL 815.117,500.00 7,500.00

7,672.83 820.2318,079.77100-5440-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 10,630.3020,900.00 18,900.00

0.00 1,500.0011,291.48100-5440-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 0.001,500.00 12,791.48

201.00 0.002,000.00100-5440-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 201.002,000.00 2,000.00

0.00 660.000.00100-5440-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 0.00660.00 660.00

0.00 8,448.3626,551.64100-5440-740 CAPITAL OUTLAY - VEHICLES 0.0035,000.00 35,000.00

68,934.92 190,641.89 724,066.11248,508.37961,283.00 972,574.48Department: 5440 - Inspections Total:

Department: 5480 - Engineering

3,838.00 0.0096,500.00100-5480-101 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES - POWELL BI… 6,061.0096,500.00 96,500.00

11,838.75 0.0095,500.00100-5480-102 CITY ENGINEER 31,826.2595,500.00 95,500.00

2,483.06 0.0022,000.00100-5480-103 TECHNICAL REVIEW 5,863.8722,000.00 22,000.00

8,139.12 0.0090,000.00100-5480-104 CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION 17,224.0590,000.00 90,000.00

2,519.87 0.0068,500.00100-5480-105 DEPT ENGINEERING SERVICES 5,198.5168,500.00 68,500.00

3,450.87 0.0073,000.00100-5480-106 STORMWATER ENGINEERING 14,906.6873,000.00 73,000.00

32,269.67 81,080.36 0.00445,500.00445,500.00 445,500.00Department: 5480 - Engineering Total:

Department: 5500 - Public Works

37,921.50 563,658.21113,361.79100-5500-020 SALARIES & WAGES 113,361.79677,020.00 677,020.00

0.00 43,562.00960.00100-5500-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 960.0044,522.00 44,522.00

47.49 25,586.05639.95100-5500-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 639.9526,226.00 26,226.00

0.00 10,104.000.00100-5500-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.0010,104.00 10,104.00

90.00 1,350.00270.00100-5500-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 270.001,620.00 1,620.00

2,847.21 52,622.648,622.36100-5500-050 FICA 8,622.3661,245.00 61,245.00

7,213.30 111,626.1022,437.90100-5500-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 22,437.90134,064.00 134,064.00

8,865.71 152,390.7226,619.28100-5500-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 26,619.28179,010.00 179,010.00

1,701.86 32,579.775,111.23100-5500-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 5,111.2337,691.00 37,691.00

0.00 -71,949.000.00100-5500-099 INDIRECT TO UTILITY (CONTRA) 0.00-71,949.00 -71,949.00

0.00 30,000.0022,500.00100-5500-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0.0030,000.00 52,500.00

0.00 2,999.370.63100-5500-110 POSTAGE 0.633,000.00 3,000.00

8.17 -8.178.17100-5500-120 BANK CHARGES 8.170.00 0.00

5,752.61 222,373.097,515.91100-5500-130 UTILITIES 7,515.91229,889.00 229,889.00

0.00 26,017.622,782.38100-5500-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 1,102.3828,800.00 28,800.00

7,123.00 27,402.9528,231.16100-5500-150 BUILDING & GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 11,002.9061,392.00 55,634.11

28.61 28,700.0015,800.00100-5500-151 SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 28.6144,500.00 44,500.00

0.00 41,000.001,000.00100-5500-152 STORM SEWER & DRIVEWAY PIPE MAI 0.0042,000.00 42,000.00

359.99 845,558.4252,441.58100-5500-153 STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 2,799.23898,000.00 898,000.00

2,761.54 13,988.125,011.88100-5500-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 3,335.0819,000.00 19,000.00

197.75 44,681.73228.27100-5500-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 228.2744,910.00 44,910.00

4,126.53 2,500.0037,500.00100-5500-310 FUEL 7,225.6040,000.00 40,000.00

2,063.15 17,887.7821,612.22100-5500-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 3,473.4039,500.00 39,500.00

0.00 10,800.000.00100-5500-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 0.0010,800.00 10,800.00

0.00 2,500.001,999.00100-5500-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 0.002,500.00 4,499.00

2,672.44 6,568.069,071.94100-5500-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 2,672.4415,640.00 15,640.00

0.00 3,072.031,427.97100-5500-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 1,427.979,400.00 4,500.00

0.00 750.000.00100-5500-391 SMALL EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE &… 0.00750.00 750.00

0.00 3,563.00941.00100-5500-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 941.004,504.00 4,504.00

0.00 109,300.000.00100-5500-720 CAPITAL OUTLAY - BUILDING 0.00109,300.00 109,300.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 7 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

67,366.00 327,581.00331,462.11100-5500-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 88,972.25330,000.00 659,043.11

62,559.00 17,867.6578,865.35100-5500-740 CAPITAL OUTLAY - VEHICLES 76,320.35145,400.00 96,733.00

4,995.00 1,712.8498,787.16100-5500-750 CAPITAL OUTLAY - EQUIPMENT 4,995.0095,600.00 100,500.00

218,700.86 390,071.70 2,708,345.98895,209.243,304,438.00 3,603,555.22Department: 5500 - Public Works Total:

Department: 5700 - Public Facilities

18,960.85 290,438.4058,970.60100-5700-020 SALARIES & WAGES 58,970.60349,409.00 349,409.00

2,527.10 36,934.718,065.29100-5700-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 8,065.2945,000.00 45,000.00

0.00 5,525.55150.45100-5700-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 150.455,676.00 5,676.00

0.00 5,378.000.00100-5700-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.005,378.00 5,378.00

135.00 1,215.00405.00100-5700-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 405.001,620.00 1,620.00

1,631.20 26,078.815,063.19100-5700-050 FICA 5,063.1931,142.00 31,142.00

3,990.00 44,667.1612,788.84100-5700-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 12,788.8457,456.00 57,456.00

4,427.37 70,742.2113,804.79100-5700-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 13,804.7984,547.00 84,547.00

948.02 15,150.002,956.00100-5700-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 2,956.0018,106.00 18,106.00

0.00 -30,131.000.00100-5700-099 INDIRECT TO UTILITY (CONTRA) 0.00-30,131.00 -30,131.00

4,561.07 25,616.294,583.71100-5700-130 UTILITIES 4,583.7130,200.00 30,200.00

0.00 1,730.000.00100-5700-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 0.001,730.00 1,730.00

1,606.69 15,065.4467,130.56100-5700-150 BUILDING & GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 5,340.2742,950.00 82,196.00

5,358.35 185,636.655,358.35100-5700-154 LAKE & MARINA MAINT & OPERATION 5,358.35190,995.00 190,995.00

5,309.31 49,790.2744,917.71100-5700-155 LIBRARY MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 12,743.4682,800.00 94,707.98

12,770.29 87,533.22120,766.78100-5700-156 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 7,690.39208,300.00 208,300.00

5.49 -5.495.49100-5700-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 5.490.00 0.00

375.48 2,000.001,000.00100-5700-310 FUEL 587.753,000.00 3,000.00

1,010.24 5,676.018,573.99100-5700-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 1,144.2714,250.00 14,250.00

0.00 22,000.005,628.39100-5700-335 SIGNAGE AND BRANDING 0.0022,000.00 27,628.39

0.00 750.000.00100-5700-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 0.00750.00 750.00

0.00 5,500.000.00100-5700-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 0.005,500.00 5,500.00

0.00 4,800.000.00100-5700-400 FACILITY RENTAL 0.004,800.00 4,800.00

0.00 8,000.000.00100-5700-720 CAPITAL OUTLAY - BUILDINGS 0.0017,250.00 8,000.00

0.00 23,350.000.00100-5700-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 0.0021,000.00 23,350.00

0.00 12,645.1635,954.84100-5700-750 CAPITAL OUTLAY - EQUIPMENT 11,740.0048,600.00 48,600.00

0.00 11,928.000.00100-5700-754 CAPITAL OUTLAY - LIBRARY 0.009,250.00 11,928.00

63,616.46 151,397.85 928,014.39396,123.981,271,578.00 1,324,138.37Department: 5700 - Public Facilities Total:

Department: 5800 - Sanitation

28,357.58 324,490.2284,579.78100-5800-020 SALARIES & WAGES 84,579.78409,070.00 409,070.00

0.00 7,198.000.00100-5800-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 0.007,198.00 7,198.00

0.00 7,872.000.00100-5800-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.007,872.00 7,872.00

45.00 405.00135.00100-5800-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 135.00540.00 540.00

2,158.64 26,010.786,438.22100-5800-050 FICA 6,438.2232,449.00 32,449.00

6,384.00 56,658.5819,949.42100-5800-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 19,949.4276,608.00 76,608.00

6,621.48 79,413.6819,749.32100-5800-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 19,749.3299,163.00 99,163.00

1,417.88 17,005.004,229.00100-5800-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 4,229.0021,234.00 21,234.00

0.00 4,000.000.00100-5800-110 POSTAGE 0.004,000.00 4,000.00

0.00 7,500.000.00100-5800-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 0.007,500.00 7,500.00

12,113.63 68,847.36108,244.42100-5800-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 21,391.48175,000.00 177,091.78

7,846.23 14,503.5079,996.50100-5800-310 FUEL 14,539.5894,500.00 94,500.00

43.74 17,856.091,393.91100-5800-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 435.1419,250.00 19,250.00

0.00 3,214.9046,785.10100-5800-331 ROLL-OUT GARBAGE CANS 0.0050,000.00 50,000.00

742.84 3,750.004,520.00100-5800-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 1,062.848,270.00 8,270.00

22,534.86 46,000.00594,000.00100-5800-420 MATERIAL HAULING & DISPOSAL 88,017.37640,000.00 640,000.00

0.00 864.000.00100-5800-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 0.00864.00 864.00

49,212.00 153,463.72723,804.28100-5800-740 CAPITAL OUTLAY - VEHICLES 52,156.99525,150.00 877,268.00

137,477.88 312,684.14 839,052.831,693,824.952,178,668.00 2,532,877.78Department: 5800 - Sanitation Total:

Department: 6200 - Recreation and Parks

51,380.52 535,626.54154,343.46100-6200-020 SALARIES & WAGES 154,343.46689,970.00 689,970.00

6,858.57 123,549.4247,734.58100-6200-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 47,734.58171,284.00 171,284.00

194.91 17,019.882,980.12100-6200-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 2,980.1220,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 19,868.000.00100-6200-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.0019,868.00 19,868.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 8 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

282.46 2,844.62847.38100-6200-045 CAR ALLOWANCE 847.383,692.00 3,692.00

135.00 135.00405.00100-6200-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 405.00540.00 540.00

4,488.56 53,517.9215,742.08100-6200-050 FICA 15,742.0869,260.00 69,260.00

7,980.00 71,820.0023,940.00100-6200-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 23,940.0095,760.00 95,760.00

12,042.84 134,670.9836,735.02100-6200-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 36,735.02171,406.00 171,406.00

2,578.80 28,837.737,866.27100-6200-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 7,866.2736,704.00 36,704.00

1,200.00 50,000.0040,357.15100-6200-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,400.0075,000.00 90,357.15

0.00 299.370.63100-6200-110 POSTAGE 0.63300.00 300.00

1,269.51 4,987.752,012.25100-6200-120 BANK CHARGES 2,012.257,000.00 7,000.00

13,608.77 76,763.9813,656.02100-6200-130 UTILITIES 13,656.0290,420.00 90,420.00

2,295.32 44,204.682,295.32100-6200-131 BALLFIELD LIGHTS 2,295.3246,500.00 46,500.00

2,146.00 15,404.002,146.00100-6200-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 2,146.0017,550.00 17,550.00

23,308.29 102,782.34151,712.29100-6200-150 BUILDING & GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 41,310.12247,000.00 254,494.63

552.50 10,993.943,706.06100-6200-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 1,706.0614,700.00 14,700.00

28.25 12,506.75843.25100-6200-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 93.2513,350.00 13,350.00

0.00 8,200.007,500.00100-6200-265 SOCIAL MEDIA & MARKETING 96.0015,700.00 15,700.00

3,214.49 5,000.0033,300.00100-6200-310 FUEL 5,584.6638,300.00 38,300.00

4,432.12 16,236.0933,763.91100-6200-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 6,563.5450,000.00 50,000.00

582.53 50,781.9433,583.43100-6200-332 ATHLETIC PROGRAMS 6,133.4381,750.00 84,365.37

0.00 -6.986.98100-6200-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 6.980.00 0.00

0.00 4,163.738,151.27100-6200-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 6,974.2612,315.00 12,315.00

729.96 977.444,522.56100-6200-344 VARIED SERVICES 1,513.965,500.00 5,500.00

0.00 2,437.411,922.59100-6200-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 243.094,360.00 4,360.00

7,939.51 23,635.3715,341.47100-6200-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 8,809.4721,200.00 38,976.84

376.29 0.004,750.00100-6200-420 MATERIAL HAULING & DISPOSAL 376.294,750.00 4,750.00

0.00 5,288.01911.99100-6200-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 911.996,200.00 6,200.00

485.00 112,695.6419,111.75100-6200-570 SPECIAL ACTIVITIES 18,166.75126,000.00 131,807.39

0.00 8,890.0814,802.92100-6200-571 CAMPS 14,802.9219,850.00 23,693.00

0.00 13,386.9498,181.11100-6200-720 CAPITAL OUTLAY - BUILDINGS 27,172.1922,500.00 111,568.05

13,620.00 436,000.0044,000.00100-6200-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 13,620.00480,000.00 480,000.00

-12,673.75 597,169.007,169.03100-6200-744 LEBANON RD/LAKE MICHAEL CONNE… 2,725.00375,000.00 604,338.03

0.00 33,468.000.00100-6200-750 CAPITAL OUTLAY - EQUIPMENT 0.0040,000.00 33,468.00

149,056.45 469,914.09 2,624,155.57834,341.893,093,729.00 3,458,497.46Department: 6200 - Recreation and Parks Total:

Department: 9000 - Non-Departmental

-35,920.82 130,127.8820,045.12100-9000-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION -16,669.13150,173.00 150,173.00

0.00 20,000.000.00100-9000-080 UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE CONTR… 0.0020,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 10,000.000.00100-9000-334 TRAIN COLLECTION EXPENSES 0.0010,000.00 10,000.00

0.00 50,000.000.00100-9000-375 DOWNTOWN FACADE GRANT PROGR… 0.0050,000.00 50,000.00

0.00 20,978.006,472.00100-9000-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 6,472.0027,450.00 27,450.00

20,367.25 62,844.80426,387.20100-9000-540 PROPERTY & GENERAL LIABILITY IN 231,807.90489,232.00 489,232.00

0.00 13,000.000.00100-9000-570 SPECIAL ACTIVITIES 0.0013,000.00 13,000.00

0.00 0.0010,000.00100-9000-680 ALAMANCE COUNTY ARTS COUNCIL SU 0.0010,000.00 10,000.00

0.00 0.006,500.00100-9000-681 ACTA SUBSIDY 0.006,500.00 6,500.00

0.00 0.0043,700.00100-9000-682 MEBANE HISTORICAL MUSEUM SUBS… 10,925.0043,700.00 43,700.00

0.00 0.005,000.00100-9000-685 UNITED WAY DONATION 5,000.005,000.00 5,000.00

25,000.00 0.00100,000.00100-9000-686 DOWNTOWN MEBANE DEVELOPMEN… 50,000.00100,000.00 100,000.00

0.00 9,500.000.00100-9000-687 ALAMANCE COUNTY VISITORS BUREA… 0.009,500.00 9,500.00

0.00 497,650.240.00100-9000-900 CONTINGENCY 0.00500,000.00 497,650.24

1,274,946.00 0.001,274,946.00100-9000-978 TRANSFER TO CAPITAL PROJECT ORDI… 1,274,946.000.00 1,274,946.00

1,284,392.43 1,562,481.77 814,100.921,893,050.321,434,555.00 2,707,151.24Department: 9000 - Non-Departmental Total:

Department: 9001 - Debt Service

0.00 104,000.000.00100-9001-811 PRINCIPAL - FY 22-23 FIRE ENGINE PE… 0.00104,000.00 104,000.00

0.00 89,094.3385,784.67100-9001-812 PRINCIPAL - FY 22-23 ROLLING STOCK 85,784.67174,879.00 174,879.00

0.00 164,980.000.00100-9001-814 PRINCIPAL - FIRE TRUCK ORDERED M… 0.00164,980.00 164,980.00

0.00 254,013.000.00100-9001-817 PRINCIPAL - FY24 ROLLING STOCK 0.00254,013.00 254,013.00

0.00 86,667.3386,666.67100-9001-818 PRINCIPAL - FIRE STATION BB&T 86,666.67173,334.00 173,334.00

0.00 388,668.000.00100-9001-820 PRINCIPAL - NEW PARK 0.00388,668.00 388,668.00

0.00 57,167.0046,833.00100-9001-821 PRINCIPAL - FIRE TRUCK 2017 46,833.00104,000.00 104,000.00

0.00 53,294.000.00100-9001-823 PRINCIPAL - POLICE VEHICLES 2019 0.0053,294.00 53,294.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 9 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

0.00 46,900.000.00100-9001-824 PRINCIPAL - POLICE RADIOS 2019 Firs… 0.0046,900.00 46,900.00

0.00 43,050.0043,050.00100-9001-826 PRINCIPAL - NEW PW TRUCKS 43,050.0086,100.00 86,100.00

0.00 136,121.04135,395.96100-9001-828 PRINCIPAL - FY22 VEHICLE & APPARA… 135,395.96271,517.00 271,517.00

0.00 3,141.000.00100-9001-851 INTEREST - FY 22-23 FIRE ENGINE PE… 0.003,141.00 3,141.00

0.00 10,307.1213,613.88100-9001-852 INTEREST - FY 22-23 ROLLING STOCK 13,613.8823,921.00 23,921.00

0.00 20,315.000.00100-9001-854 INTEREST - FIRE TRUCK ORDERED MAY… 0.0020,315.00 20,315.00

0.00 39,340.000.00100-9001-857 INTEREST - FY24 ROLLING STOCK 0.0039,340.00 39,340.00

0.00 13,538.0114,767.99100-9001-858 INTEREST - FIRE STATION BB&T 14,767.9928,306.00 28,306.00

0.00 84,710.000.00100-9001-859 INTEREST - NEW PARK 0.0084,710.00 84,710.00

0.00 1,047.000.00100-9001-862 INTEREST - POLICE VEHICLES 2019 0.001,047.00 1,047.00

0.00 724.000.00100-9001-863 INTEREST - POLICE RADIOS 2019 0.00724.00 724.00

0.00 1,174.071,466.93100-9001-865 INTEREST - NEW PW TRUCKS 1,466.932,641.00 2,641.00

0.00 4,629.315,352.69100-9001-867 INTEREST - FY22 VEHICLE & APPARAT… 5,352.699,982.00 9,982.00

0.00 432,931.79 1,602,880.21432,931.792,035,812.00 2,035,812.00Department: 9001 - Debt Service Total:

Department: 9800 - 9800

0.00 840,317.000.00100-9800-931 TRANSFER TO CAPITAL RESERVE FUND 0.00840,317.00 840,317.00

0.00 0.00 840,317.000.00840,317.00 840,317.00Department: 9800 - 9800 Total:

3,322,935.61 7,254,064.30 14,323,258.22 23,128,543.7832,824,657.00 37,451,802.00Expense Total:

4,638,979.02 4,258,513.17 -2,810,680.75 2,810,680.750.00 0.00Fund: 100 - General Fund Surplus (Deficit):

Fund: 300 - Utility Fund

Revenue

GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings

0.00 20,000.000.00300-3710-000 INTEREST EARNINGS 0.0020,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.0020,000.00 20,000.00GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings Total:

GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues

0.00 300,000.000.00300-3802-000 MISCELLANEOUS GRANTS 0.000.00 300,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 300,000.000.00 300,000.00GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues Total:

GovType: 5010 - Enterprise Charges for Services

0.00 -106,000.000.00300-3391-000 REVENUE SHARING CONTRA (NCCP) 0.00-106,000.00 -106,000.00

432,537.03 3,157,787.751,278,224.25300-3501-820 WATER SALES 1,278,224.254,436,012.00 4,436,012.00

425,727.50 3,138,067.721,256,494.28300-3502-830 SEWER SALES 1,256,494.284,394,562.00 4,394,562.00

9,000.00 -8,380.0016,000.00300-3503-820 WATER TAPS 16,000.007,620.00 7,620.00

4,000.00 2,000.004,000.00300-3504-830 SEWER TAPS 4,000.006,000.00 6,000.00

871,264.53 2,554,718.53 2,554,718.53 6,183,475.478,738,194.00 8,738,194.00GovType: 5010 - Enterprise Charges for Services Total:

GovType: 5020 - Enterprise Other Operating Revenues

0.00 339,735.0020,565.00300-3447-000 ENGINEERING CONST INSP FEE 20,565.00360,300.00 360,300.00

250.00 8,475.00-475.00300-3812-000 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES -475.008,000.00 8,000.00

6,770.00 49,673.7020,326.30300-3820-000 LATE FEES 20,326.3070,000.00 70,000.00

200.00 2,650.00650.00300-3830-820 WATER RECONNECTIONS 650.003,300.00 3,300.00

1,200.00 10,800.001,200.00300-3836-000 FIRE FLOW TEST FEES 1,200.0012,000.00 12,000.00

9,880.50 180,119.5031,880.50300-3846-000 SALE OF MATERIALS 31,880.50212,000.00 212,000.00

0.00 3,800.000.00300-3883-830 INDUSTRIAL WASTE MONITORING FEE 0.003,800.00 3,800.00

18,300.50 74,146.80 74,146.80 595,253.20669,400.00 669,400.00GovType: 5020 - Enterprise Other Operating Revenues Total:

GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues

0.00 2,500.000.00300-3841-000 SALE OF FIXED ASSETS 0.002,500.00 2,500.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.002,500.00 2,500.00GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues Total:

GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance

0.00 2,737,795.000.00300-3990-000 APPROPRIATED FUND BALANCE 0.002,460,925.00 2,737,795.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 2,737,795.002,460,925.00 2,737,795.00GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance Total:

889,565.03 2,628,865.33 2,628,865.33 9,839,023.6711,891,019.00 12,467,889.00Revenue Total:

Expense

Department: 8100 - Admin, Meters and Billing

4,276.98 45,130.0612,830.94300-8100-020 SALARIES & WAGES 12,830.9457,961.00 57,961.00

0.00 568.000.00300-8100-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.00568.00 568.00

327.20 3,496.40981.60300-8100-050 FICA 981.604,478.00 4,478.00

798.00 7,182.002,394.00300-8100-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 2,394.009,576.00 9,576.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 10 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

998.68 10,670.962,996.04300-8100-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 2,996.0413,667.00 13,667.00

213.84 2,284.48641.52300-8100-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 641.522,926.00 2,926.00

0.00 915,887.000.00300-8100-099 INDIRECT TO UTILITY (CONTRA) 0.00915,887.00 915,887.00

4,680.00 28,500.0015,140.00300-8100-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 4,680.0030,000.00 43,640.00

2,624.66 0.0032,500.00300-8100-110 POSTAGE 5,243.8232,500.00 32,500.00

14,682.51 215,600.1879,199.82300-8100-120 BANK CHARGES 29,199.82294,800.00 294,800.00

0.00 1,000.000.00300-8100-140 SCHOOLS AND CONFERENCES 0.001,000.00 1,000.00

0.00 1,000.000.00300-8100-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 0.001,000.00 1,000.00

4,225.02 1,200.0052,912.00300-8100-271 UTILITY BILLING SERVICES 8,431.0854,112.00 54,112.00

0.00 1,000.000.00300-8100-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 0.001,000.00 1,000.00

0.00 2,989.4110,255.59300-8100-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 10,255.5913,245.00 13,245.00

0.00 1,000.000.00300-8100-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 0.001,000.00 1,000.00

161,631.00 10,160.09169,839.91300-8100-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 161,631.00180,000.00 180,000.00

194,457.89 239,285.41 1,247,668.58379,691.421,613,720.00 1,627,360.00Department: 8100 - Admin, Meters and Billing Total:

Department: 8200 - Utility Maintenance

60,637.01 773,317.50182,018.50300-8200-020 SALARIES & WAGES 182,018.50955,336.00 955,336.00

0.00 5,842.000.00300-8200-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 0.005,842.00 5,842.00

7,235.06 64,947.9818,618.02300-8200-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 18,618.0283,566.00 83,566.00

1,056.00 10,212.002,988.00300-8200-036 ON-CALL 2,988.0013,200.00 13,200.00

0.00 20,810.000.00300-8200-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.0020,810.00 20,810.00

282.46 2,844.62847.38300-8200-045 CAR ALLOWANCE 847.383,692.00 3,692.00

45.00 405.00135.00300-8200-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 135.00540.00 540.00

5,202.57 67,231.9815,366.02300-8200-050 FICA 15,366.0282,598.00 82,598.00

12,011.68 125,959.5436,832.46300-8200-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 36,832.46162,792.00 162,792.00

16,094.71 203,134.7047,546.30300-8200-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 47,546.30250,681.00 250,681.00

3,446.41 43,497.7110,181.29300-8200-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 10,181.2953,679.00 53,679.00

5,860.00 96,487.50358,173.50300-8200-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 8,343.75103,500.00 454,661.00

18.12 -38.5838.58300-8200-110 POSTAGE 38.580.00 0.00

16,036.41 93,205.2918,144.71300-8200-130 UTILITIES 18,144.71111,350.00 111,350.00

2,680.00 4,953.143,406.86300-8200-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 3,406.868,360.00 8,360.00

0.00 8,206.26793.74300-8200-150 BUILDING & GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 443.749,000.00 9,000.00

0.00 15,500.004,500.00300-8200-153 STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 0.0020,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 0.0035,000.00300-8200-157 FIRE HYDRANT MAINTENANCE & REPA 1,578.3635,000.00 35,000.00

5,945.10 93,862.7036,074.30300-8200-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 7,559.79136,000.00 129,937.00

0.00 556,670.8069,368.20300-8200-161 INFRASTRUCTURE MAINTENANCE & R… 51,717.05596,000.00 626,039.00

2,688.01 16,777.4511,222.55300-8200-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 8,652.7928,000.00 28,000.00

165.07 334.93165.07300-8200-260 ADVERTISING 165.07500.00 500.00

2,726.35 5,482.2028,517.80300-8200-310 FUEL 4,658.9234,000.00 34,000.00

20,223.06 17,691.89112,308.11300-8200-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 29,654.11130,000.00 130,000.00

28,509.00 21,403.00189,630.00300-8200-336 CHEMICALS 28,509.00233,833.00 211,033.00

0.00 1,061.000.00300-8200-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 0.00100.00 1,061.00

0.00 1,450.5024,972.50300-8200-342 TECHNOLOGY LICENSES 16,500.0020,360.00 26,423.00

0.00 1,250.002,750.00300-8200-344 VARIED SERVICES 2,750.004,000.00 4,000.00

575.00 0.00575.00300-8200-350 SOFTWARE LICENSING AND MAINTEN… 575.00575.00 575.00

2,135.87 6,800.0014,800.00300-8200-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 2,295.8721,600.00 21,600.00

0.00 8,381.638,268.37300-8200-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 5,721.1016,650.00 16,650.00

0.00 25,000.000.00300-8200-430 GRAHAM SEWER SERVICES 0.0025,000.00 25,000.00

560.00 8,875.006,125.00300-8200-452 LABORATORY SERVICES 560.0015,000.00 15,000.00

0.00 29,300.000.00300-8200-454 SCADA SERVICES 0.0029,300.00 29,300.00

53,693.38 1,279,846.6253,693.38300-8200-480 PURCHASE OF WATER 53,693.381,333,540.00 1,333,540.00

254.58 10,150.917,439.09300-8200-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 7,439.0917,590.00 17,590.00

0.00 425,000.000.00300-8200-720 CAPITAL OUTLAY - BUILDINGS 0.00425,000.00 425,000.00

61,218.15 482,875.00144,502.02300-8200-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 62,178.15617,875.00 627,377.02

0.00 73,287.23137,530.77300-8200-740 CAPITAL OUTLAY - VEHICLES 0.00198,818.00 210,818.00

0.00 9,685.9152,380.09300-8200-750 CAPITAL OUTLAY - EQUIPMENT 35,648.7751,266.00 62,066.00

309,299.00 664,767.06 4,611,703.411,634,912.615,854,953.00 6,246,616.02Department: 8200 - Utility Maintenance Total:

Department: 8280 - Engineering

16,826.25 0.00125,971.25300-8280-102 CITY ENGINEER 31,586.25122,000.00 125,971.25

1,040.25 0.0030,000.00300-8280-103 TECHNICAL REVIEW 4,892.5030,000.00 30,000.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 11 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

9,614.00 0.00100,000.00300-8280-104 CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION 18,954.87100,000.00 100,000.00

2,713.00 0.0033,000.00300-8280-105 DEPT ENGINEERING SERVICES 4,032.3133,000.00 33,000.00

30,193.50 59,465.93 0.00288,971.25285,000.00 288,971.25Department: 8280 - Engineering  Total:

Department: 8300 - Water Resource Recovery Facility

34,821.49 567,893.46104,464.54300-8300-020 SALARIES & WAGES 104,464.54672,358.00 672,358.00

4,182.55 36,452.3112,175.69300-8300-030 PART-TIME SALARIES 12,175.6948,628.00 48,628.00

551.60 29,819.932,255.07300-8300-035 OVERTIME SALARIES 2,255.0732,075.00 32,075.00

336.00 4,028.00972.00300-8300-036 ON-CALL 972.005,000.00 5,000.00

0.00 16,479.000.00300-8300-039 LONGEVITY CONTRIBUTION 0.0016,479.00 16,479.00

282.46 2,844.62847.38300-8300-045 CAR ALLOWANCE 847.383,692.00 3,692.00

180.00 2,115.00540.00300-8300-046 CELL PHONE STIPEND 540.002,655.00 2,655.00

2,930.52 50,360.718,806.29300-8300-050 FICA 8,806.2959,167.00 59,167.00

4,838.56 54,910.3214,515.68300-8300-060 GROUP INSURANCE CONTRIBUTION 14,515.6869,426.00 69,426.00

8,338.08 144,091.9925,146.01300-8300-070 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION 25,146.01169,238.00 169,238.00

1,785.45 30,855.425,384.58300-8300-071 401K CONTRIBUTION 5,384.5836,240.00 36,240.00

13,149.40 15,000.0015,000.00300-8300-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 13,149.4010,000.00 30,000.00

9.01 1,917.01146.99300-8300-110 POSTAGE 146.992,064.00 2,064.00

28,151.72 156,002.2828,151.72300-8300-130 UTILITIES 28,151.72184,154.00 184,154.00

0.00 3,216.37283.63300-8300-140 SCHOOLS & CONFERENCES 283.633,500.00 3,500.00

1,577.44 11,446.1519,517.85300-8300-150 BUILDINGS & GROUNDS MAINTENAN… 4,800.4430,964.00 30,964.00

2,334.99 137,962.4140,722.59300-8300-160 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE & REPAI… 7,951.13195,700.00 178,685.00

56.05 892.94207.06300-8300-170 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 207.061,100.00 1,100.00

0.00 115.000.00300-8300-260 ADVERTISING 0.00115.00 115.00

195.30 216.0010,500.00300-8300-310 FUEL 343.6210,716.00 10,716.00

1,777.66 3,677.5517,702.45300-8300-330 DEPARTMENTAL SUPPLIES 3,743.1121,380.00 21,380.00

7,783.50 157,368.36113,904.64300-8300-336 CHEMICALS 34,631.20271,273.00 271,273.00

0.00 1,500.000.00300-8300-340 TECHNOLOGY SERVICES & SUPPLIES 0.001,500.00 1,500.00

0.00 4,390.000.00300-8300-350 SOFTWARE LICENSING 0.002,040.00 4,390.00

958.23 2,804.983,164.02300-8300-360 EMPLOYEE UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 1,060.535,969.00 5,969.00

0.00 25,000.000.00300-8300-390 SMALL EQUIPMENT 0.0025,000.00 25,000.00

0.00 22,667.00500,000.00300-8300-420 MATERIAL HAULING & DISPOSAL 27,430.62522,667.00 522,667.00

5,536.77 7,272.4160,426.59300-8300-452 LABORATORY SERVICES 7,667.0067,699.00 67,699.00

0.00 31,119.0012,481.00300-8300-454 SCADA SERVICES 0.0042,985.00 43,600.00

0.00 12,167.002,706.00300-8300-530 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 2,706.0014,873.00 14,873.00

0.00 40,000.000.00300-8300-720 CAPITAL OUTLAY - BUILDINGS 0.0040,000.00 40,000.00

0.00 27,859.000.00300-8300-730 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER 0.0027,859.00 27,859.00

0.00 34,748.2328,959.00300-8300-750 CAPITAL OUTLAY - EQUIPMENT 10,542.0037,062.00 63,707.23

119,776.78 317,921.69 1,637,192.451,028,980.782,633,578.00 2,666,173.23Department: 8300 - Water Resource Recovery Facility Total:

Department: 9300 - Utility Non-Departmental

0.00 0.001,300.00300-9300-100 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0.001,300.00 1,300.00

0.00 11,100.000.00300-9300-540 PROPERTY & LIABILTY INSURANCE 0.0011,100.00 11,100.00

0.00 4,806.000.00300-9300-834 PRINCIPAL - 2009 DENR WATER QUAL… 0.004,806.00 4,806.00

0.00 127,403.000.00300-9300-836 PRINCIPAL - WATER PLANT CAPACITY … 0.00127,403.00 127,403.00

150,000.00 0.00150,000.00300-9300-837 PRINCIPAL - GRAHAM SEWER CAPACI 150,000.00150,000.00 150,000.00

0.00 0.50980,000.00300-9300-838 PRINCIPAL - WRRF FY22 REVENUE BO… 980,000.00980,000.00 980,000.50

0.00 12,266.4812,200.52300-9300-839 PRINCIPAL - FY22 VEHICLES & APPAR… 12,200.5224,467.00 24,467.00

0.00 98,177.90106,049.10300-9300-885 INTEREST - WRRF FY22 REVENUE BO… 106,049.10204,227.00 204,227.00

0.00 200.69264.31300-9300-886 INTEREST - FY22 VEHICLES & APPARA… 264.31465.00 465.00

135,000.00 0.00135,000.00300-9300-978 TRANSFER TO CAPITAL PROJECT ORDI… 135,000.000.00 135,000.00

285,000.00 1,383,513.93 253,954.571,384,813.931,503,768.00 1,638,768.50Department: 9300 - Utility Non-Departmental Total:

938,727.17 2,664,954.02 4,717,369.99 7,750,519.0111,891,019.00 12,467,889.00Expense Total:

-49,162.14 -36,088.69 -2,088,504.66 2,088,504.660.00 0.00Fund: 300 - Utility Fund Surplus (Deficit):

Fund: 390 - Utility Capital Reserve

Revenue

GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings

0.00 3,000.000.00390-3710-000 INTEREST EARNINGS 0.003,000.00 3,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.003,000.00 3,000.00GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings Total:



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 12 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues

23,777.00 410,717.0089,283.00390-3401-000 System Development Fees - Water 89,283.00500,000.00 500,000.00

58,022.00 961,350.00208,650.00390-3402-000 System Development Fees - Sewer 208,650.001,170,000.00 1,170,000.00

81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 1,372,067.001,670,000.00 1,670,000.00GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues Total:

81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 1,375,067.001,673,000.00 1,673,000.00Revenue Total:

Expense

Department: 8900 - UTILITY CAPITAL RESERVE

0.00 1,673,000.000.00390-8900-900 UTILITY CAPITAL RESERVE 0.001,673,000.00 1,673,000.00

0.00 0.00 1,673,000.000.001,673,000.00 1,673,000.00Department: 8900 - UTILITY CAPITAL RESERVE Total:

0.00 0.00 0.00 1,673,000.001,673,000.00 1,673,000.00Expense Total:

81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 -297,933.000.00 0.00Fund: 390 - Utility Capital Reserve Surplus (Deficit):

4,671,615.88 4,520,357.48 -4,601,252.410.000.00Report Surplus (Deficit):



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 13 of 15

Group Summary

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

RemainingDepartment

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Fund: 100 - General Fund

Revenue

GovType: 3000 - Property Taxes

7,433,106.45 8,169,864.02 8,169,864.02 7,960,819.9816,130,684.00 16,130,684.00

7,433,106.45 8,169,864.02 8,169,864.02 7,960,819.9816,130,684.00 16,130,684.00GovType: 3000 - Property Taxes Total:

GovType: 3100 - Other Taxes and Licenses

0.00 0.00 0.00 900.00900.00 900.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 900.00900.00 900.00GovType: 3100 - Other Taxes and Licenses Total:

GovType: 3215 - Restricted Federal Intergov

0.00 8,342.59 8,342.59 -8,342.590.00 0.00

0.00 8,342.59 8,342.59 -8,342.590.00 0.00GovType: 3215 - Restricted Federal Intergov Total:

GovType: 3220 - Unrestricted State Intergov

0.00 0.00 0.00 8,433,800.008,433,800.00 8,433,800.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 8,433,800.008,433,800.00 8,433,800.00GovType: 3220 - Unrestricted State Intergov Total:

GovType: 3225 - Restricted State Intergov

262,475.06 262,691.26 262,691.26 293,608.74556,300.00 556,300.00

262,475.06 262,691.26 262,691.26 293,608.74556,300.00 556,300.00GovType: 3225 - Restricted State Intergov Total:

GovType: 3230 - Unrestricted Local Intergov

0.00 0.00 0.00 496,000.00496,000.00 496,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 496,000.00496,000.00 496,000.00GovType: 3230 - Unrestricted Local Intergov Total:

GovType: 3235 - Restricted Local Intergov

0.00 300,000.00 300,000.00 35,150.00335,150.00 335,150.00

0.00 300,000.00 300,000.00 35,150.00335,150.00 335,150.00GovType: 3235 - Restricted Local Intergov Total:

GovType: 3400 - Permits and Fees

92,844.00 342,047.18 342,047.18 1,577,862.821,919,910.00 1,919,910.00

92,844.00 342,047.18 342,047.18 1,577,862.821,919,910.00 1,919,910.00GovType: 3400 - Permits and Fees Total:

GovType: 3500 - Sales and Services

68,111.00 207,445.22 207,445.22 608,942.78816,388.00 816,388.00

68,111.00 207,445.22 207,445.22 608,942.78816,388.00 816,388.00GovType: 3500 - Sales and Services Total:

GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings

0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.0020,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.0020,000.00 20,000.00GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings Total:

GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues

105,378.12 124,687.20 124,687.20 -76,687.2048,000.00 48,000.00

105,378.12 124,687.20 124,687.20 -76,687.2048,000.00 48,000.00GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues Total:

GovType: 8500 - Proceeds of Debt

0.00 2,097,500.00 2,097,500.00 1,258,439.011,270,062.00 3,355,939.01

0.00 2,097,500.00 2,097,500.00 1,258,439.011,270,062.00 3,355,939.01GovType: 8500 - Proceeds of Debt Total:

GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance

0.00 0.00 0.00 5,338,730.992,797,463.00 5,338,730.99

0.00 0.00 0.00 5,338,730.992,797,463.00 5,338,730.99GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance Total:

7,961,914.63 11,512,577.47 11,512,577.47 25,939,224.5332,824,657.00 37,451,802.00Revenue Total:

Expense

4,889.13 14,738.29 14,738.29 57,131.7171,870.00 71,870.004100 - City Council

116,731.84 334,110.56 428,287.49 1,001,966.511,426,869.00 1,430,254.004200 - Administration

79,022.76 201,959.95 288,503.34 460,122.66748,626.00 748,626.004400 - Finance

128,614.19 350,224.09 967,886.33 737,194.381,663,401.00 1,705,080.714800 - IT

0.00 54,522.28 69,522.28 830,691.72900,214.00 900,214.004900 - Economic Development

665,383.60 1,613,281.12 2,184,533.67 4,747,661.356,878,989.00 6,932,195.025100 - Police

346,886.38 1,008,419.30 3,400,199.36 3,729,882.734,971,465.00 7,130,082.095300 - Fire

26,959.04 85,605.12 123,799.64 482,959.71597,343.00 606,759.355400 - Planning

0.00 0.00 6,297.28 0.000.00 6,297.285410 - Main Street Program

68,934.92 190,641.89 248,508.37 724,066.11961,283.00 972,574.485440 - Inspections



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 14 of 15

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

RemainingDepartment

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

32,269.67 81,080.36 445,500.00 0.00445,500.00 445,500.005480 - Engineering

218,700.86 390,071.70 895,209.24 2,708,345.983,304,438.00 3,603,555.225500 - Public Works

63,616.46 151,397.85 396,123.98 928,014.391,271,578.00 1,324,138.375700 - Public Facilities

137,477.88 312,684.14 1,693,824.95 839,052.832,178,668.00 2,532,877.785800 - Sanitation

149,056.45 469,914.09 834,341.89 2,624,155.573,093,729.00 3,458,497.466200 - Recreation and Parks

1,284,392.43 1,562,481.77 1,893,050.32 814,100.921,434,555.00 2,707,151.249000 - Non-Departmental

0.00 432,931.79 432,931.79 1,602,880.212,035,812.00 2,035,812.009001 - Debt Service

0.00 0.00 0.00 840,317.00840,317.00 840,317.009800 - 9800

3,322,935.61 7,254,064.30 14,323,258.22 23,128,543.7832,824,657.00 37,451,802.00Expense Total:

4,638,979.02 4,258,513.17 -2,810,680.75 2,810,680.750.00 0.00Fund: 100 - General Fund Surplus (Deficit):

Fund: 300 - Utility Fund

Revenue

GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings

0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.0020,000.00 20,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.0020,000.00 20,000.00GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings Total:

GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues

0.00 0.00 0.00 300,000.000.00 300,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 300,000.000.00 300,000.00GovType: 3800 - Miscellaneous Revenues Total:

GovType: 5010 - Enterprise Charges for Services

871,264.53 2,554,718.53 2,554,718.53 6,183,475.478,738,194.00 8,738,194.00

871,264.53 2,554,718.53 2,554,718.53 6,183,475.478,738,194.00 8,738,194.00GovType: 5010 - Enterprise Charges for Services Total:

GovType: 5020 - Enterprise Other Operating Revenues

18,300.50 74,146.80 74,146.80 595,253.20669,400.00 669,400.00

18,300.50 74,146.80 74,146.80 595,253.20669,400.00 669,400.00GovType: 5020 - Enterprise Other Operating Revenues Total:

GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues

0.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.002,500.00 2,500.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.002,500.00 2,500.00GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues Total:

GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance

0.00 0.00 0.00 2,737,795.002,460,925.00 2,737,795.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 2,737,795.002,460,925.00 2,737,795.00GovType: 9000 - Appropriated Fund Balance Total:

889,565.03 2,628,865.33 2,628,865.33 9,839,023.6711,891,019.00 12,467,889.00Revenue Total:

Expense

194,457.89 239,285.41 379,691.42 1,247,668.581,613,720.00 1,627,360.008100 - Admin, Meters and Billing

309,299.00 664,767.06 1,634,912.61 4,611,703.415,854,953.00 6,246,616.028200 - Utility Maintenance

30,193.50 59,465.93 288,971.25 0.00285,000.00 288,971.258280 - Engineering

119,776.78 317,921.69 1,028,980.78 1,637,192.452,633,578.00 2,666,173.238300 - Water Resource Recovery Facility

285,000.00 1,383,513.93 1,384,813.93 253,954.571,503,768.00 1,638,768.509300 - Utility Non-Departmental

938,727.17 2,664,954.02 4,717,369.99 7,750,519.0111,891,019.00 12,467,889.00Expense Total:

-49,162.14 -36,088.69 -2,088,504.66 2,088,504.660.00 0.00Fund: 300 - Utility Fund Surplus (Deficit):

Fund: 390 - Utility Capital Reserve

Revenue

GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings

0.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.003,000.00 3,000.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.003,000.00 3,000.00GovType: 3700 - Investment earnings Total:

GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues

81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 1,372,067.001,670,000.00 1,670,000.00

81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 1,372,067.001,670,000.00 1,670,000.00GovType: 5500 - Enterprise NonOperating Revenues Total:

81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 1,375,067.001,673,000.00 1,673,000.00Revenue Total:

Expense

0.00 0.00 0.00 1,673,000.001,673,000.00 1,673,000.008900 - UTILITY CAPITAL RESERVE

0.00 0.00 0.00 1,673,000.001,673,000.00 1,673,000.00Expense Total:

81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 -297,933.000.00 0.00Fund: 390 - Utility Capital Reserve Surplus (Deficit):

4,671,615.88 4,520,357.48 -4,601,252.41Total Surplus (Deficit): 0.000.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 09/30/2023

10/12/2023 11:33:57 AM Page 15 of 15

Fund Summary

MTD Activity YTD Activity
YTD Activity +

Encumbrances
Budget

RemainingFund
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

100 - General Fund 4,638,979.02 4,258,513.17 -2,810,680.75 2,810,680.750.000.00

300 - Utility Fund -49,162.14 -36,088.69 -2,088,504.66 2,088,504.660.000.00

390 - Utility Capital Reserve 81,799.00 297,933.00 297,933.00 -297,933.000.000.00

Total Surplus (Deficit): 4,671,615.88 4,520,357.48 -4,601,252.410.000.00



 

City Council Meeting 
Mebane Municipal Building 

Monday, October 2, 2023 

The Mebane City Council met for its regular monthly meeting at 6:00 p.m., Monday, 
October 2, 2023 in the Council Chambers of the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 
106 E. Washington Street.  

Councilmembers Present: Also Present:  
Mayor Ed Hooks  Chris Rollins, City Manager 
Mayor Pro-Tem Tim Bradley Preston Mitchell, Assistant City Manager      
Councilmember Katie Burkholder Lawson Brown, City Attorney 
Councilmember Sean Ewing Stephanie Shaw, City Clerk 
Councilmember Montrena Hadley Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
Councilmember Jonathan White                             Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 
                                                                                      Aaron Davis, Recreation and Parks Director 
                                                                                      Kyle Smith, Utilities Director 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

Mayor Hooks called the meeting to order. Pastor Sammy Ballard of First Baptist Church of Mebane 
gave the invocation. 

Mr. Davis introduced NC Recreation and Park Association (NCRPA) Executive Director, Michelle 
Wells. Ms. Wells gave a short presentation recognizing Kris Kloepping as the recipient of the 
NCRPA’s Young Professional Award. 

Mr. Mitchell introduced John Dodson as the City’s new Water Resource Recovery Facility Director. 
Mr. Mitchell stated that Mr. Dodson previously worked for the City of Durham since 2006 and has 
over 25 years of experience in this field.  Mr. Dodson thanked staff and Council for the opportunity. 
He shared a few brief comments about himself, his family, and his passion for his career.   

Mayor Hooks recognized and congratulated Kirk Montgomery, Mebane’s IT Director, as he was 
recently elected to serve as the President of the State Employees Association of North Carolina.   

Ms. Burkholder made a motion, seconded by Mr. Bradley, to approve the minutes from the 
September 5, 2023, Regular Meeting. The motion carried unanimously.  

No one spoke during the Public Comment Period. 

A Public Hearing was held on a request from Deep River for approval to rezone four properties 
totaling +/- 27.16 acres located along Mebane Oaks Road and Old Hillsborough Road from R-20 
and B-2 to R-8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) for a development consisting of five commercial parcels and 90 
townhomes. Ms. Ownbey presented the request. She shared that the properties are in Alamance 
County in the Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ). The applicant must petition for annexation 
before connecting to City water and sewer. The site is largely forested and vacant. There is a 
stream on the site along with floodplains and wetlands. Surrounding uses include single-family 
residential, commercial, churches and Mebane Fire Station No. 3. The site is identified in the City’s 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane by Design as having both Secondary Growth 
Strategy Area and a Jones Drive in South Mebane Oaks Residential Growth Area. There is some 
Conservation Area identified on the site as well, given the presence of the Stream. Those strategy 
areas support a general mix of light commercial and residential uses. Development of the site is 
also informed by a plan that was adopted by the Council in 2007 and is known as the Mebane Oaks 
Road Small Area Plan. This would provide the extension of Wilson Road from Forest Oaks Lane to 
Old Hillsborough Road; development of this site would help realize the southern connection of 
that extension. The proposed request is conditional, meaning it is site specific, and it is for two 
zoning districts R-8(CD) and B-2(CD) and would be split based on where Wilson Road is located. 
So, the General Business would be along Mebane Oaks and the Residential zoning would be to the 
east where the town homes are shown. The City’s Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation Plan 
shows a sidewalk along Mebane Oaks Road and a multi-use path along Old Hillsborough Road. The 
applicant is showing a five-foot-wide sidewalk on Mebane Oaks and a 10-foot-wide multi-use path 
on Old Hillsborough. Additionally, the development shows public and private streets, Wilson Road 
would be public and the immediate connection to Mebane Oaks would also be a public street. The 



 

private streets are within the townhome community. The town home community would include a 
private playground area, a picnic area, dog park exercise area, and a walking trail. There are 
conditions associated with the site-specific plan, those include a minimum 30-foot building 
separation between the town home buildings with no side yards for the in units. The applicant has 
proposed an alternative landscaping plan which was detailed in the staff report and approximately 
one acre of common private recreation area that would be open to all residents. The applicant is 
asking that the individual town home backyards be considered when evaluating private recreation. 
Public recreation space is required, so the applicant is requesting to make a payment in lieu of that 
public recreation area. The payment in lieu would be used to realize some off-site pedestrian 
improvements for the growing multi-use path network in this area. The applicant would be 
responsible for installing the crosswalk and pedestrian signals at the intersection of Mebane Oaks 
Road and Old Hillsborough Road and the remainder of the payment in lieu would be used to 
connect this development to The Meadows subdivision in the multi-use path network emerging 
there. Ms. Ownbey stated that the commercial lots would be developed with driveway access from 
Wilson Road, cross-access between lots supporting interconnectivity and with a restriction of uses. 
Ms. Ownbey concluded her presentation with a brief overview of the multi-modal and road 
improvements that would be required based on the traffic study recommendations. 

Mike Fox, Attorney with Tuggle Duggins and representative of the applicant, talked about the 
extensive process to get to this point and the applicant’s commitment to “get the project right” 
for Mebane.  Mr. Fox reiterated project highlights as shared by Ms. Ownbey.  He shared that Deep 
River representatives have had extensive conversations with the neighboring property owners, 
even having met with some of the neighbors. Concerns were related to traffic, wetlands, and 
wildlife.   

Brian Pierce, Deep River Partner, shared some history about their company, sharing that they are 
a local company that has invested in the Triad community for over 35 years. He named several of 
their past projects/clients: Trader Joes, Greensboro Surgical Center, Texas Roadhouse, Chick-fil-A, 
Verizon, Habit Burger, Krispy Kreme, and Aldi.   

Mr. White asked if a strip mall type project could be built on the commercial outparcels, stating 
that he felt that would not be desirable.  Mr. Fox replied that it is possible but not the goal as they 
prefer individual uses on those parcels. 

Mr. Pierce spoke briefly on the residential development aspect of the project. He stated that they 
feel this mixed-use development will offer a great transition between what exists residentially and 
commercially, tying those things together. He thanked Council for its consideration of the project.  

Mr. Fox spoke about the design and development considerations for the project. He stated that 
the townhomes have not been designed yet. He shared “inspiration” illustration with features that 
their townhomes would have such as multi-story and one car garage.  He also shared the following 
architectural commitments: 

• Facade elevations feature 25% or more stone or brick 
• Slab on grade construction 
• Single car garages on all units 
•  30-year architectural shingles  
• Projected Eaves (side, back & front) 
• Minimum 1,400 square feet 
• Where Vinyl Siding is used, there will be elevation differentiation and variety of 

textures and muted colors. 
 

Ms. Burkholder requested more details related to parking. Mr. Pierce stated that what they have 
designed is for single car garages with driveways at least 20 feet beyond the sidewalks, so there 
are two spaces for each unit and in addition there are 47 off-street parking spaces. He stated that 
they do exceed the requirements and their goal in creating the off-street parking spaces was to 
encourage cars to stay off the street. Ms. Burkholder asked if there would be anything that would 
prevent folks for the retail portion from attempting to park in the residential community. Mr. 
Pierce said they could certainly consider signage and there would be adequate parking for the 
retail/commercial pieces of the development.  



 

Mr. Bradley asked what the road widths will be on the private drive. Andrew Christ, Project 
Manager with Fleming Engineering Inc., stated 22 feet pavement to pavement (27 feet back-to-
back) on the private drive and 26 feet pavement to pavement (31 feet back-to-back) on the public 
roads. 

Ms. Ownbey stated that during the TRC process, a note was provided on the site plan disallowing 
on-street parking and the property management group would make sure that people cannot park 
on the street.   

Per Ms. Hadley’s request, Mr. Christ shared information regarding the developer’s plans as related 
to building within a floodplain. He briefly explained the process and assured the Council that there 
would be no impact on the wetlands and streams by staying outside of their parameters. 

The Council expressed its desire to see the front of the townhomes staggered with some depth or 
to have differentiation so that they are not just flat all the way across. Hardieplank siding was also 
discussed as a preference. Mr. Pierce stated that the townhomes have not been designed yet but 
they certainly want to create homes that are attractive, and they have a track record for doing so. 

There was brief discussion about the list of restricted uses which the applicant voluntarily offered 
as a condition. 

Dionne Brown, Traffic Engineer with Davenport, shared that the following projects were 
considered when completing the Traffic Impact Assessment (TIA): the new traffic light, Summit 
Church, Meadow Phases, Meadowstone Townhomes, and McKay Bookstore. Ms. Ownbey 
confirmed that the recently approved Evolve project included this Deep River project in its TIA.  
Mr. Mitchell stated that all TIA’s are reviewed by NCDOT and the City contracted traffic engineer. 

Mr. Ewing requested more information regarding the proposed buffer between the commercial 
and residential lots. Mr. Christ stated that between the residential community and the commercial 
lots lies Wilson Road but they plan to provide landscaping on both sides, the commercial side, and 
the townhomes side. One of the conditions requested is a reduction of 2 feet, to 8 feet, on the 
commercial side but an increase on the townhome side from 10 feet to 15 feet.  

Ms. Hadley spoke about the importance of capturing all the offered conditions and commitments 
within the City’s approval letter to ensure the City has a means to ensure compliance.  Mr. Fox 
stated all would be followed as part of the zoning process.  

Carl Bradley, 4610, Mebane Rogers Road, Mebane, asked a question about the stormwater 
retention pond on the site plan slide. Mr. Pierce stated that the stormwater retention pond will 
service the entire site, both the commercial and the residential pieces.  

Mr. White made a motion, seconded by Mr. Bradley, to close the public hearing. The motion 
carried unanimously.  Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Ms. Burkholder, to approve the R-
8 (CD) and B-2 (CD) zoning as presented and a motion to find that the application is consistent 
with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane 
By Design. Specifically, the request: 

• Is for properties within the City’s G-4, Secondary Growth Area and G-2, Jones Drive and 
South Mebane Oaks Road Residential Growth Area and proposes a mix of residential and 
light commercial uses  

• Encourages a variety of uses in growth strategy areas to promote a village concept that 
supports compact and walkable environments, consistent with Growth Management Goal 
1.1  

• Allows for commercial development to be pedestrian-friendly, supporting walking 
between different land uses, consistent with Growth Management Goal 1.6  

• Improves safety and pedestrian access across major streets such as Mebane Oaks Road, 
consistent with Public Facilities and Infrastructure Goal 2.1  

The motions carried unanimously. 

Greg Payne, a 20-year resident of Mebane, announced the creation of the Mebane Community 
Fund, to be housed at the Alamance Community Foundation. The new fund will pool private 
donations from individuals and businesses and be used to make grants that improve the quality of 
life and amenities in Mebane. 



 

The fund is intended to be used for physical, tangible improvements that are visible to the public, 
located outdoors or in a public building. Examples include public art, improvements to our parks 
and recreation areas, improvements to trails and greenways, downtown improvements, or for 
new facilities like a permanent farmers market structure. Governments and non-profit 
organizations will be eligible to apply for grants. A Mebane Advisory Board will be established to 
review grant proposals and make recommendations to the board of the Alamance Community 
Foundation, which will make the final decision.  An initial deposit of $25,000 was required to open 
a new fund at the Alamance Community Foundation, and that amount has been raised. The next 
step will be to obtain multi-year pledges from Mebane individuals and businesses to increase the 
size of the fund.  No formal action was taken. 

Mark Reich, Alley, Williams, Carmen and King, Inc., presented a request for approval of a change 
order for the FY 2023-24 Street Repair Contract. He explained that last October the Council 
awarded the street repair and resurfacing contract to Turner Asphalt GC, LLC for $725,000 with a 
provision to allow a 100% extension of the same contract unit prices. The change order work 
consists of patching/repairing and resurfacing 2.26 miles of City Streets, crack sealing 0.58 miles 
of City Streets, mill and resurface the Recreation Museum parking lot, crack seal the City Hall and 
Inspection Department parking lots and patching and resurfacing 2,380 square yards of the Public 
Works Department parking lot. Total Change Order amount is $725,000. 

Mr. White made a motion, seconded by Mr. Bradley, Motion to approve a change order to Turner 
Asphalt GC, LLC contract in the amount of $725,000.00 for the 2023-24 Street Repair and 
Resurfacing Contract. The motion carried unanimously.  

Mr. Smith gave a brief update on the Clay Street Improvement project. He stated that all the 
underground work has been completed but they are working on six areas of concern that were 
found. He said they are going to wait until the next resurfacing contract in the next fiscal year to 
resurface on Clay Street since they did not have near as many pavement cuts as they initially 
thought. 

Ms. Schwartz presented a request for approval of a Bond Order and Series Resolution for revenue 
bonds and the Elevated Water Tank Capital Ordinance Amendment.  Ms. Schwartz provided some 
background information, sharing that the revenue bonds are for the elevated water tank project 
that the city determined was needed. The City purchased the property to build the tank and the 
contract for engineering was awarded to Hazen and Sawyer in the Summer of 2022. In August of 
this year, the Council adopted the resolution with the intention to issue revenue bonds and 
provide funding for the elevated water tank through Capital One at a 4.46 % interest rate for 20 
years.  Construction bids have been received and they were slightly higher than expected. So, the 
current estimated cost of the project is $8,425,000.  The City has been awarded grant funding for 
approximately $2.6 million and the estimated amount to finance is approximately $5.8 million.  
Staff is still waiting to hear about a few grant opportunities but because of the time schedule for 
the project, staff recommends moving forward with the revenue bonds and should the City be 
awarded grant funding, the revenue bonds could be used to fund other utility projects as there 
are several coming up. The Bond Order and Series Resolution would formally authorize the 
issuance of the revenue bonds for the elevated water tank project and approve substantial final 
fund financing documents and other financing details which will authorize the city staff to 
complete the bond closing. This is all dependent on the Local Government Commission Approval. 
Also for approval is a Capital Project Ordinance Amendment 1 which will adjust the budget in the 
Capital Project Ordinance to increase it to match the new estimate for the project. Additionally, 
there is a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement and by approving the Bond Order and Series 
Resolution, that agreement would be approved as well.  

Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to approve the Bond Order and Series 
Resolution. The motion carried unanimously. Ms. Burkholder made a motion, seconded by Mr. 
Bradley, to approve the Capital Project Ordinance as presented. The motion carried unanimously.  

Bond Order and Series Resolution Authorizing the Issuance of up to $6,000,000 in 
City Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds for the Elevated Water Tank Project 

Introduction --The Mebane City Council, by resolution adopted on August 7, 2023, has stated its 
proposal to issue revenue bonds to provide funds to carry out a plan (the “Project”) to build a new 
1-million-gallon elevated water tank and to pay related costs. Revenue bonds are not secured by 



 

the City’s taxing power or any physical collateral, but instead by a pledge of the net operating 
revenues of the City’s water and sewer utility system. 

 The City has applied to the North Carolina Local Government Commission for its approval 
of the revenue bonds, and the LGC has accepted the City’s application. The Council now desires to 
adopt a bond order to authorize formally the issuance of these revenue bonds for the water tank 
project, and to approve substantially final financing documents and other details of the financing. 

 BE IT ORDERED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as follows: 

 1. There are hereby ordered to be issued, pursuant to the North Carolina Local 
Government Revenue Bond Act, City revenue bonds (the “2023 Bonds”) in an amount not to 
exceed $6,000,000 to pay capital costs of water and sewer system improvements, and in particular 
costs of the planned water tank referenced above, together with related financing and other 
necessary or incidental costs.  

 2. The 2023 Bonds will be special obligations of the City, secured by a pledge of the 
net receipts of the City’s water and sewer system. The principal of, and interest and any premium 
on, the 2023 Bonds shall be payable solely from the sources pledged to the payment. Neither the 
faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City or any other governmental entity shall be pledged 
for the payment of the principal of, or interest or any premium on, the 2023 Bonds, and no owner 
of the 2023 Bonds shall have the right to compel the exercise of the taxing power of any 
governmental entity in connection with any default on the 2023 Bonds. 

 3. The City will issue the 2023 Bonds as “Additional Bonds” as provided in the City’s 
existing Master Trust Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) for combined utilities revenue bonds 
dated September 1, 2021. The Master Agreement sets the overall legal framework for all City 
revenue bonds, including the City’s prior revenue bonds, the 2023 Bonds and any future revenue 
bonds. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Council as follows: 

 A. Sale of Bonds – Capital One Public Funding, LLC (the “Lender”) has submitted a 
proposal to purchase the proposed 2023 Bonds. City staff recommends that the Council accept 
the proposal, and the Council accepts the proposal. The City asks the LGC to sell the Bonds to the 
Lender at a private sale, substantially in accordance with this resolution and the Lender’s financing 
proposal dated July 26, 2023. 

 B. Approval of Second Supplemental Agreement; Direction To Execute Agreement – 
The City will issue the 2023 Bonds to the Lender pursuant to a Second Supplemental Trust 
Agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) in substantially the form of the draft dated 
September 25, 2023 presented to this meeting. The Supplemental Agreement sets the terms 
specifically applicable to the 2023 Bonds, including the interest rate and the payment and 
prepayment provisions. The Supplemental Agreement will be dated, for identification purposes, 
as of October 1, 2023. 

 The Council authorizes the Mayor and the City Manager, or either of them, to execute and 
deliver the Supplemental Agreement in its final form. The Supplemental Agreement in its final 
form must be substantially in the form presented, with such changes as the Mayor or the City 
Manager may approve. The execution and delivery by an authorized City officer will be conclusive 
evidence of that officer’s approval of any changes.   

 The Supplemental Agreement in its final form, however, must be consistent with the 
financing plan described in this resolution and must provide (a) for the principal amount of the 
2023 Bonds not to exceed $6,000,000, (b) for an annual interest rate not to exceed 4.46% (in the 
absence of a default or a change in tax status, substantially as described in the draft Supplemental 
Agreement), and (c) for a financing term not to extend beyond December 31, 2043. 

 C. Officers To Complete Closing – The Council authorizes the City Manager, the 
Finance Director and all other City officers and employees to take all proper steps to complete the 
financing in cooperation with the Lender and in accordance with this resolution. 

 



 

The Council authorizes the City Manager to hold executed copies of all financing documents 
authorized or permitted by this resolution in escrow on the City's behalf until the conditions for 
their delivery have been completed to that officer's satisfaction, and then to release the executed 
copies of the documents for delivery to the appropriate persons or organizations.   

 Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board specifically authorizes the City 
Manager to (a) to approve and enter into additional agreements to carry out the financing 
contemplated by this resolution, including agreements for the custody of Bond proceeds and 
agreements for appropriate professional services, and (b) to approve changes to any documents 
previously signed by City officers or employees, provided that the changes do not conflict with this 
resolution or substantially alter the intent from that expressed in the form originally signed. The 
City Manager’s authorization of the release of any document for delivery will constitute conclusive 
evidence of that officer’s approval of any changes. 

In addition, the Council authorizes the City Manager and the Finance Director to take all 
appropriate steps for the efficient and convenient carrying out of the City’s on-going 
responsibilities with respect to the financing. This authorization includes, without limitation, 
contracting with third parties for reports and calculations that may be required under this 
resolution or otherwise with respect to the Master Agreement or the Supplemental Agreement. 

 D.      Resolutions as to Tax Matters -- The City will not take or omit to take any action the 
taking or omission of which will cause the 2023 Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds," within the meaning 
of Section 148 of the “Code” (as defined below), or “private activity  bonds” within the meaning 
of Code Section 141, or otherwise cause interest on the 2023 Bonds to be includable in gross 
income for federal income tax purposes. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City 
will comply with any Code provision that may require the City at any time to pay to the United 
States any part of the earnings derived from the investment of the financing proceeds. In this 
resolution, “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and 
includes applicable Treasury regulations. 

 E. Additional Provisions -- The Council authorizes all City officers and employees to 
take all further action as they may consider necessary or desirable in furtherance of the purposes 
of this resolution. The Council ratifies all prior actions of City officers and employees to this end. 
Upon the absence, unavailability, or refusal to act of the City Manager, the Mayor or the Finance 
Director, any other of those officers may assume any responsibility or carry out any function 
assigned in this resolution. In addition, the Mayor Pro Tem, and Deputy or Assistant City Manager 
or any Deputy or Assistant City Clerk may in any event assume any responsibility or carry out any 
function assigned in this resolution to the Mayor, the City Manager or the Clerk, respectively. All 
other Council proceedings, or parts thereof, in conflict with this resolution are repealed, to the 
extent of the conflict. This resolution takes effect immediately. 

This is the 2nd day of October 2023. 

Capital Project Ordinance for the City of Mebane 
Elevated Water Tank Project Amendment One 

 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Board of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, that, pursuant to 
Section 
13.2 of Chapter 159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, the following capital project ordinance is 
hereby adopted: 

 
Section 1: The project authorized is the design and construction of an elevated water tank to 

be financed by the debt and grant proceeds. 
 

Section 2: The officers of this City are hereby directed to proceed with the capital project 
within the terms of the budget contained herein. 

 
Section 3: The following amounts are hereby appropriated for the project: 

 



 

 
 

Section 4: The following revenues are anticipated to be available to complete the project: 
 

 
 

Section 5: The Finance Officer is hereby directed to maintain within the Capital Project Fund 
sufficient specific detailed accounting records to satisfy the requirements of the General Statutes of 
North Carolina. 

 

Section 6: Funds may be advanced from the Utility Fund for the purpose of making payments 
as due. 

 

Section 7: The Finance Officer is hereby directed to report, on a quarterly basis, on the financial 
status of each project element in Section 3. 

 
Section 8: The Budget Officer is directed to include a detailed analysis of past and future costs 

and revenues on this capital project in every budget submission made to this Board. 
 

Section 9: Copies of this capital project ordinance shall be furnished to the Clerk to the 
Governing Board and to the Budget Officer and Finance Officer for direction in carrying out this project. 

 

Mr. Rollins stated that this whole process will begin again for the Water Recovery Resource Facility 
(WRRF) Expansion and the City can easily use additional funding if granted as the WRRF expansion 
will be a much larger than the water tank project. 

Mr. Brown presented a request for adoption of a Resolution of Intent for Street Closing- Portions 
of Jackson Street and Short Street.  Mr. Brown explained that the City, as applicant, is the owner 
of land contiguous to portions of Jackson Street and Short Street, which were previously platted 
but unopened streets, shown on a plat recorded in Plat Book, 83, Page 237 of the Alamance 
Registry shown as sixty feet (60’) in width.  Mr. Brown stated that the Resolution of Intent will be 
published in the Mebane Enterprise according to NCGS requirements as well as the property will 
posted with a public hearing notice.  He stated that staff recommends the adoption of the 
Resolution of Intent declaring the City’s intention to close the portions of Jackson Street and Short 
Street and to set a date of public hearing for November 6, 2023, to consider adoption of the Street 
Closing Order.  

Mr. Ewing made a motion, seconded by Ms. Hadley, to adopt the Resolution of Intent as 
presented. The motion carried unanimously.  

 

RESOLUTION OF INTENT BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA 
PURSUANT TO N.C.G.S. §160A-299 TO PERMANENTLY CLOSE  

PORTIONS OF JACKSON STREET AND SHORT STREET 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina has been recently requested to 
permanently close portions of Jackson Street and Short Street; and  

Appropriation Project Budget

Administrative and legal expenses 170,360$           
Architectural & engineering fees 524,000$           
Construction 7,577,000$       
Contingency 153,640$           
Total Expenses 8,425,000$       

Revenue Project Budget
Economic Development Administration (EDA) Grant 2,502,990$       
State Capital and Infrastructure Fund (SCIF) Directed Grant 150,000$           

Debt Proceeds 5,772,010$       
8,425,000$       



 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina hereby declares its intent to 
permanently close portions of Jackson Street and Short Street; and a public hearing on said matter 
is to be held on November 6, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. in the council chambers of the Glendel Stephenson 
Municipal Building, 106 E. Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane as follows: 

Section 1.  The City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, pursuant to N.C.G.S. §160A-
299, does hereby declare its intent to permanently close portions of Jackson Street and Short 
Street, the right of way for which is more particularly described as follows: 

A certain tract or parcel of land in Melville Township, Alamance County, North Carolina adjoining 
the lands of the unopened right of way of Jackson Street, the unopened right of way of Short 
Street, Willard Rogers and wife Evelyn A. Rogers parcel ID number 165064, Elizabeth Foust Heirs 
parcel ID number 165070, the City of Mebane property parcel ID numbers 165218, 165069, 
165075, 165076, and 165077, and being more particularly described as follows:        

 BEGINNING at an iron stake found in the northern margin of the unopened 60 foot right of way 
of Short Street, said iron stake found being a corner between Willard Rogers and wife Evelyn A. 
Rogers parcel ID number 165064 and the City of Mebane property parcel ID number 165069 and 
running thence with said northern margin of the unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street     S 
86° 38’ 27” E 150.00 feet to an iron stake found at the intersection of the northern margin of the 
unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street and the western margin of the unopened 60 foot 
right of way of Jackson Street being the southeastern most corner of the City of Mebane property 
parcel ID number 165069; running thence with the western margin of the unopened 60 foot right 
of way of Jackson Street N 03° 18’ 39” E 375.15 feet to an iron stake found said iron stake found 
being a corner between Elizabeth Foust Heirs parcel ID number 165070 and the City of Mebane 
property parcel ID number 165069; running thence perpendicular across the unopened 60 foot 
right of way of Jackon Street S 86° 41’ 21” E 60.00 feet to an iron stake set in the eastern margin 
of the unopened 60 foot right of way of Jackon Street in the line of the City of Mebane property 
parcel ID number 165077; running thence with said eastern margin of the unopened 60 foot right 
of way of Jackon Street the following three(3) calls: S 03° 18’ 39” W 171.38 feet to an iron stake 
found corner between the City of Mebane property parcel ID 165077 and the City of Mebane 
property parcel ID 165076; thence S 03° 18’ 39” W 50.09 feet to an iron stake found corner 
between the City of Mebane property parcel ID 165076 and the City of Mebane property parcel 
ID 165075; thence S 03° 18’ 39” W 185.72 feet to an iron stake found at the intersection of the 
eastern margin of the unopened 60 foot right of way of Jackon Street and the southern margin of 
the unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street said iron stake found being the southwestern 
most corner of the City of Mebane property parcel ID number 165075 in the line of the City of 
Mebane property parcel ID number 165218; running thence with said southern margin of the 
unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street the following two(2) calls: S 81° 43’ 01” W 138.80 
feet to an iron stake found; thence N 86° 38’ 27” W 74.08 feet to an iron stake set in the southern 
margin of the unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street being in the line of the City of Mebane 
property parcel ID 165218; running thence perpendicular across the unopened 60 foot right of 
way of Short Street N 03° 21’ 33” E 59.87 feet to the POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING containing 
0.762 acres plus or minus of unopened road right of way to be abandoned.  

The foregoing descriptions were obtained from a survey and map prepared by Alley, Williams, 
Carmen & King, Inc., Engineers, Architects & Surveyors, dated August 30, 2023, Job No. 22021 and 
recorded in Plat Book 83 Page 237 of the Alamance County Registry. 

Section 2.  That the City Clerk shall duly advertise that a public hearing will be held on these matters 
in the Council Chambers, Mebane, North Carolina on November 6, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. 

The foregoing resolution was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Mebane at the 
meeting held on the 2nd day of October 2023. 

 

Ms. Ownbey came forward to introduce an informational item. She shared that at the September 
2022 Council meeting, the Council received a brief presentation from a representative of Orange 
County to kick off the U.S 70 multimodal Corridor study. Since then, staff has been meeting on a 
regular basis with other communities involved in that study. A public information workshop was 



 

also held in early March of 2023. Ms. Ownbey introduced Orange County Transportation Planning 
Manager Darlene Weaver. Ms. Weaver gave an update on the progress of the study via the attached 
PowerPoint. No formal action was taken. 

Mr. Brown presented a request for approval of an Ordinance Amendment- Deletion of 
Inconsistent Code Provision- Section 34-134- Riding on sidewalks prohibited.  Mr. Brown explained 
that the Mebane Code of Ordinances was adopted in 2002. Section 34-94 was amended in 2019 
to allow the riding of bicycles on sidewalks except for in the business district.  Section 34-134 which 
prohibited the same was not deleted at that time. He stated that staff recommends the deletion 
of the latter referenced Section so that Section 34-94 is controlling, as intended.   Mr. Brown stated 
that there has been a recent inquiry regarding motorized bicycles which led to staff discussion. 
Staff feels that motorized bicycles should not be on the sidewalks in any areas. Mr. Brown said, 
with that said, he would like to offer additional language to the existing ordinance which would 
state that motor assisted bicycles of any type are prohibited on sidewalks whether powered by 
electricity, combustion engine or other technology.  

Mr. Bradley questioned if that would include scooters, like the pay by card rental type scooters in 
some cities.  Mr. Brown stated if the Council desires, the amendment could include such scooters. 

Mr. White stated that some children get motorized scooters as gifts, so he would not want to 
exclude kids from being able to enjoy those on the sidewalks.  

Mr. Ewing said electric bikes are considered to be any bike over 750 watts and asked if the city 
would the city be encroaching on any federal laws. 

The Council requested Mr. Brown to investigate the motorized bicycle portion further, with clearer 
parameters, identifying definitions for motorized bicycles and with distinction of use on sidewalks 
vs multi-use paths. 

Mr. White made a motion, seconded by Ms. Hadley, to approve the deletion of Section 34-134 
from the Code of Ordinances as recommended. The motion carried unanimously.  

Mr. Brown presented a request for approval of a 2004 Plat Revision- Removal of No Build Line 
from the Creekside Subdivision Plat.  He explained that the plat for the Creekside Subdivision was 
approved by the Council in 2004. The seven-lot plat, as approved and recorded, showed a “No 
Build” line on each lot at the depth of two hundred eighty feet (280’).  Kevin L. Jackson, the owner 
of Lot 7, has applied for a building permit for an accessory structure to be located beyond the No 
Build Line.  City staff in reviewing his request brought the No Build Line issue to Mr. Jackson’s 
attention.   Staff research on the appearance of the No Build Line has not shown the reason for 
the No Build Line.  Because the City Council approved the plat in 2004, staff recommended that 
the removal of the No Build Line be approved. In lieu of the expense of a current survey of the 
seven-lot subdivision and approval of a new plat, staff recommended a recordable agreement 
signed by all seven lot owners, agreeing to the same.  A copy of the Agreement would be recorded 
along with a certified copy of Council’s action, in the Registry. Mr. Ewing made a motion, seconded 
by Ms. Burkholder, to approve the agreement of the  seven lot owners to remove the No Build 
Line and a motion to approve the removal of the No Build Line from the plat of the Creekside 
Subdivision, prepared by R.S. Jones & Associates, Inc., Land Surveyors, dated June 22, 2004, as 
recorded in the Alamance County Registry in Plat Book 69, page 136, and to evidence this City 
Council action by Resolution, copy of which should be recorded in the Alamance County Registry 
along with the lot owners’ agreement to the same. The motions carried unanimously.  

Ms. Ownbey presented a request for approval of appointment to the City of Mebane Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Advisory Commission (BPAC). She explained that a recent member of the BPAC could 
no longer serve, and that seat is now vacant. Three applications were received. The term for the 
appointed member would expire in January 2025.   

Ms. Burkholder thanked all the applicants for submitting. She then made a motion, seconded by 
Mr. Bradley, to appoint Jennifer Nunez. The motion carried unanimously.  

Mayor Hooks shared several announcements regarding upcoming events. 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:51 p.m. 

 



 

ATTEST:       __________________________ 
________________________ ___    Ed Hooks, Mayor 
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 

 

 

 



US 70
Multimodal Corridor Plan

Mebane



US 70 Study Overview
• In-depth review of US 70 Corridor

• NC 119 in Mebane to Orange/Durham County line (NC 751)
• US 70 Business from NC 86 (Churton Street) to US 70

• Develop long-term vision for:
• US 70 roadway itself
• Surrounding communities and natural areas

• Focus is on preserving/enhancing:
• Safety
• Multi-modal options (access & connectivity)
• Environmental features
• Economic opportunities

• Project Study Team
• City of Mebane & Town of Hillsborough
• BGMPO & DCHC MPO
• Alamance and Orange Counties
• NCDOT
• Consultant Team (VHB and Rose & Associates)



US 70 Study Background
• US 70 Corridor

• ~19 miles: US 70 (minor arterial)
• 3 miles: US 70 Bus (major collector/other arterial)

• Links Durham, Hillsborough & Mebane
• I-85 and I-40 handle bulk of traffic
• Alternate route during I-85 incidents

• Crucial northern access via NC 86 & NC 57

• Land Use Context
• Significant natural & cultural constraints
• Rural/Suburban/Urban: Varies by segment
• Economic potential



US 70 Study Background
• Roadway Characteristics

• Primarily 2-lane with 4’ paved shoulders
• 120’ ROW (RR constraints in Mebane)
• 13 traffic signals
• Primarily 45-mph speed limit
• Rolling terrain & curvature in segments; limited passing
• No bicycle facilities; limited pedestrian facilities

• Need better multi-modal access & functionality
• Safety!
• Transit options and access
• Preserve & enhance environment
• Provide economic opportunities
• Balance desired improvements with long-term maintenance

• Municipal/County/State



Corridor Location & Planning Jurisdictions



Corridor Segments



Current 2020-2029 NCDOT STIP Projects



Project Website
• General project information
• www.us70west.com
• Interactive map/comment 

opportunity
• Public Meeting details

http://www.us70west.com/


Project Newsletter





Public Participation – Round 1

Project Public
Team Public 

Workshop 
#1

Public 
Workshop 

#2

Final 
Presentation

Recommendations

Alternatives 

Feedback

Background 

Concerns

Suggestions

Feedback



Workshop Format
• Technical presentation at 5pm and 6pm
• Information boards with team members to have 1:1 discussions
• Interactive Activities

• Sticker activity for problem identification
• Bead voting activity to identify local priorities for improvements



Environmental Context



Water Quality, Sources, & Watersheds



Natural Features



Wildlife Resources



Major Wildlife Corridors & Critical US 70 Crossing Areas



Places of Interest



Transportation



Existing Pedestrian & Bicycle Networks



Existing Transit Routes



Regional Hiking & Biking Routes



Relative 2019 Traffic Volumes in Study Area

50,000

25,000
10,000 5,000 1,000

2019 AADT

Study Corridor

Major Intersecting Roads

Interstates

15,500

4800 11,00070009500 9600

9100

13,800

7500



Relative 2019 Traffic Volumes in Study Area

100,000

50,000
20,000 10,000 2,000

2019 AADT

Study Corridor

Major Intersecting Roads

Interstates

US 70

I-40/I-85

US 70

US 70US 70 Bus

DOWNTOWN 
MEBANE

DOWNTOWN
HILLSBOROUGH



Total Truck Percentages
Estimated from 2019 Location-Based Services

Al
am

an
ce

 
Co

un
ty

 O
ra

ng
e 

Co
un

ty

6-7% 7-8%Total Truck %

Hi
lls

bo
ro

ug
h

Hi
lls

bo
ro

ug
h

Hi
lls

bo
ro

ug
h

Signalized Intersection Stop-Controlled Approach

1-2% 2-3% 3-4% 4-5% 5-6%

X.X% - Heavy Truck %

0.6%

0.8%

1.2% 1.8% 1.5% 1.1% 3.1% 3.3% 2.9% 2.2%

2.3%

2.2%

0.7%0.3% 0.5%



Heavy Truck Percentages
Estimated from 2019 Location-Based Services

Al
am

an
ce

 
Co

un
ty

 O
ra

ng
e 

Co
un

ty

Stop-Controlled Approach

2-3% 3-4%Heavy Truck %

Signalized Intersection

0-1% 1-2%

Hi
lls

bo
ro

ug
h

Hi
lls

bo
ro

ug
h

Hi
lls

bo
ro

ug
h



Distribution of US 70 trips for point west of West Hill St (2019 StreetLight LBS Data)



Distribution of US 70 trips for point west of Pleasant Green Rd (2019 StreetLight LBS Data)



Historic Traffic Volume Trends by Study Segment



Hourly Traffic Volume by Time-of-Day (by Segment)

Tr
af

fic
 (v

ph
)



% of Daily Traffic by Time-of-Day (by Segment)



Crash Density



Detailed Crash Totals by Type & Location



Speed Data with Statutory Limits 85th % 
Speed Limit

Average

55 MPH



Run-Off Road Crashes with Severities & Passing Zones



Intersection Level-of-Service (LOS)

Al
am

an
ce

 
Co

un
ty

 
O

ra
ng

e 
Co

un
ty

B A B C C C

B

A BC

LOS* Potential Queueing Problems

Stop-Controlled ApproachSignalized Intersection

A-C D E-F

From Lawrence Road Development TIA From NC 86 Connector Study

* Worst case from AM and PM peaks



Level-of-Service (LOS) by Corridor Segment



Growth



Less growth likely 
due to water & 

sewer constraints

More growth likely

Population Growth, 2020 to 2050



Employment Growth, 2020 to 2050

Less growth likely 
due to water & 

sewer constraints

More growth likely



Estimated Daily Traffic Volumes, 2020 vs 2050
(Triangle Regional Travel Model)



Estimated Change in Daily Traffic Volumes, 2020 to 2050
(Triangle Regional Travel Model)



Next Steps



Findings to Date
 Traffic has returned to pre-COVID levels

• Higher speeds
• More trucks

 High crash rates & speeds in some locations
 Need pedestrian & bicycle improvements

• Safety – Health – Economy – Transit
 Anticipate moderate, localized traffic growth

 Rail ROW constrains parts of western corridor
 I-85 improvements critical to US 70 traffic

 Full access needed at I-85 Connector
 NC 86 & NC 57 access via US 70 is important



Develop & Test Solutions

 Safety
Walk & bike connections

• Crossing/along US 70

 Intersection operations
• RR interactions

 Transit service
 Roadway cross-sections
 Environmental protection
 Supportive land uses & policies
 Project priorities & phasing



Public Participation – Round 2

Project 
Team

Public
Public

Workshop 
#1

Public 
Workshop 

#2

Final
Presentation

Alternatives 

Feedback

Background

Concerns 

Suggestions

Recommendations

Feedback

Fall 2023

Winter 2023



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #6A 
SUP 23-02 
Special Use Permit – 920 
Mattress Factory Road 

Presenter 
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Applicant 
VM Development, LLC 
PO Box 984 
Asheboro, NC 27204 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  (Quasi-Judicial) 

 
  

Site Plan 

 
 
 

Property 
920 Mattress 
Factory Road 

Orange County 
GPIN: 9824778854 

Proposed Zoning 
N/A 

Current Zoning 
HM 

Size 
+/-5.28 acres 

Surrounding 
Zoning 
HM 

Surrounding Land 
Uses 
Vacant, Industrial, 
Commercial 

Utilities 
Available 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
No 

City Limits 
No 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Application Brief 
See Planning Project Report for more details. 

Recommendations 

Technical Review Committee: 
The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the site plan four 
times, and the applicant has revised the plan to reflect the comments.  

Planning Staff: 
The proposed development of a concrete plant on Mattress Factory 
Road is consistent with the guidance provided within Mebane By 
Design, the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

Planning Board: 
At their October 9 meeting, the Planning Board voted 7-0 to 
recommend approval of the rezoning request. 

Zoning & Land Use Report 

Jurisdiction: Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction 

Proposed Use By-Right (Yes/No): No 

Type of Rezoning Request: N/A 

Special Use Request (Yes/No): Yes 

Consistency with Mebane By Design (Yes/No):  Yes 

Utilities Report 

Available Utilities (Yes/No): Yes 

Adequate Stormwater Control (Yes/No): Yes 

Innovative Stormwater Control (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Long-Range Utility Plan (Yes/No): Yes 

Transportation Report 

Traffic Impact Analysis Required (Yes/No): No 

Multi-Modal Improvements (Yes/No): Yes 

Consistency with Bike/Ped Transportation Plan (Yes/No):  Yes 

 
 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 3 

Summary 
VM Development, LLC is requesting approval for a Special Use Permit to allow for the development of a 
concrete plant on a +/- 5.28-acre parcel located at 920 Mattress Factory Road. The subject property is 
currently zoned Heavy Manufacturing (HM) and includes a single-family dwelling. The manufacturing of 
concrete is only allowed in the HM Zoning District with a Special Use Permit. Surrounding uses are largely 
industrial, with some vacant and underdeveloped land adjacent to the site and a nearby commercial use 
on Industrial Drive. The property is located in an industrial growth strategy area as identified by Mebane By 
Design, the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan. The site plan has been reviewed for 
compliance with the Mebane Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). 

The property is in Orange County in the Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ). The applicant must 
petition for annexation before connecting to City water and sewer. 

Financial Impact 
The developer will be required to make all of the improvements shown on the site plan at his own expense. 

Suggested Motion 

1. Motion to approve the Special Use Permit as presented; and, 
2. Motion to find that the request is both reasonable and in the public interest because it has been found 

that the request: 
a. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety; 
b. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property; 
c. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and 
d. Will be in conformity with the land development plan or other plans officially adopted by 

the City Council.  
OR 
 
1. Motion to deny the special use permit as presented due to a failure to satisfy any one of the four criteria 

required for approval (NOTE: criterion for failure must be specified): 
a. Will materially endanger the public health or safety; or 
b. Will substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property; or 
c. Will not be in harmony with the area in which it is located; or 
d. Will not be in conformity with the land development plan or other plans officially adopted 

by the City Council. 

Attachments 
1. Preliminary Presentation Slides 
2. Special Use Permit Application 
3. Site Plan  
4. Planning Project Report   
5. Technical Memorandum – City Engineering Review 





Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request



Concrete Plant
Special Use Request





PIEDMONT READY MIX – Mebane, NC
Special Use Request for 920 Mattress Factory Road



About Us and Safety

• Company founded in 1979

• Trucks are well maintained with ZERO DOT violations during truck stop inspections

• Safer DOT Rating = 0% (National Industry Average = 22%)

• Zero CGL, equipment, property or umbrella losses in the past 5 years

• Zero environmental spills or hazard violations

• This facility will be adding a minimum of 10 drivers within the first 24 months

• Offer comprehensive benefit package

• Excited to be a member of this community



Project Team

VM Development, LLC



Project Overview

• Fred Gibson – Director of Operations

• 30+ Years Experience
• Oversite of safety, personnel, and 

environmental issues 
• Numerous certifications in the 

concrete industry

• 10 CY Concrete Batch Plant

• Located on +/- 5.28 Acres

• 920 Mattress Factory Road



Finding of Facts

1. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety; 

2. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property;

3. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is to be located; 

4. Will be in general conformity with the land use plan or other plans and policies 
officially adopted by the City Council.



Finding of Facts

1. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety; 

Traffic - Addition of approximately 75 trips per day
• Intersection of Mattress Factory Rd and Industrial Dr

• 2019 traffic count – 2900 (2.59% increase)
• Intersection of Industrial Dr and Buckhorn Rd

• 2019 traffic count – 3900 (1.92% increase)

Water Quality – 
• Pollution Prevention Plan
• Bioretention Cell
• Truck Washout with Sediment Bays

Air Quality – 
• Silo Top Dust Collectors
• Dust Collector Hood

Sample Photos of Truck Washout and Sediment Bays

Sample Bio-Cell



Finding of Facts

2. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property;



Finding of Facts

3. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is to be located; 

Existing Zoning = HM (Heavy Manufacturing) 

Location = Orange County, Mebane ETJ

Neighboring Properties – 
• Armacell LLC Distribution Center (1300 ft West)
• Kingsdown Mattress Factory (642 ft West)
• Whites Tire Service (Across Mattress Factory Rd)
• Dealers Supply Warehouse (North)
• AKG Thermal Systems (644 ft)
• Penske Mebane Service (1000 ft)
• Vacant Land (East)



Finding of Facts

4. Will be in general conformity with the land use plan or other plans and policies 
officially adopted by the City Council.

Technical Review Committee (TRC) –
• Completed and Approved

Land Use Plan –
• In conformance with G2 – Industrial Growth Area



Thank you and are there any questions?

Closing





Orange County

May 22, 2023

0 0.02 0.040.01 mi

0 0.03 0.060.015 km

1:1,220

 
 

9824778854PIN:
VM DEVELOPMENT LLCOWNER 1:
 

MAJ P/O 38-46 PO 35-37 & 47-48 BRIGHTLEGAL DESC:

6718/1392DEED REF:
1

BLDG_VALUE:
$76,600LAND VALUE:

$0USE VALUE:
$167,700TOTAL VALUE:

5.28 ASIZE: BUILDING COUNT:

$91,100
OWNER 2:

ADDRESS 1:
ADDRESS 2:

524 W BAILEY ST
 

CITY: ASHEBORO
STATE, ZIP: NC 27203

RATECODE: 03

DATE SOLD: 04/21/2021
BLDG SQFT: 1210
YEAR BUILT: 1942 TAX STAMPS: 800

TOWNSHIP CHEEKS

This map contains parcels prepared for the inventory of real property within Orange County, and is compiled from recorded deed, plats, and other public records and data. 
 Users of this map are hereby notified that the aforementioned public primary information sources should be consulted for verification of the information contained on this map.  

The county and its mapping companies assume no legal responsibility for the information on this map.























 

PAGE 1 

PLANNING PROJECT REPORT 
DATE 09/20/2023 
PROJECT NUMBER SUP 23-02 
PROJECT NAME Concrete Plant – Mattress Factory Road 

APPLICANT 
VM Development, LLC 
PO Box 984 
Asheboro, NC 27204 

 

CONTENTS 
PROJECT NAME & APPLICANT ........................................................................................... PAGE 1 
ZONING REPORT ............................................................................................................... PAGE 2 
LAND USE REPORT ............................................................................................................ PAGE 4 
UTILITIES REPORT .............................................................................................................. PAGE 6 
STAFF SPECIAL USE CONSISTENCY FINDING ....................................................................... PAGE 7



 

PAGE 2 

ZONING REPORT 
EXISTING ZONE HM, Heavy Manufacturing 
REQUESTED ACTION N/A 
CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
CURRENT LAND USE Vacant, Single-Family  
PARCEL SIZE  +/- 5.28 acres 

PROPERTY OWNERS 

VM Development, LLC 
PO Box 984 
Asheboro, NC 27204 
GPIN: 9824778854 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
Request for a Special Use Permit to allow for a concrete plant on the +/- 5.28-acre 
parcel located at 920 Mattress Factory Road (GPIN: 9824778854) by VM 
Development, LLC. 

AREA ZONING & DISTRICTS 

Surrounding properties are zoned HM, Heavy Manufacturing. Across the interstate, 
most of the properties are zoned Agricultural Residential and Rural Residential by 
Orange County and one site is zoned LM (CD), Light Manufacturing Conditional 
District. 

SITE HISTORY The property was improved with a single-family residence in the 1940s. 
STAFF ANALYSIS 

CITY LIMITS? YES   NO  
PROPOSED USE BY-RIGHT? YES   NO  
SPECIAL USE? YES   NO 
EXISTING UTILITIES? YES   NO 
POTENTIAL IMPACT OF 
PROPOSED ZONE 

There is no rezoning request, only a special use request to allow for a concrete plant. 



 

PAGE 3 

 



 

PAGE 4 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

EXISTING LAND USE Vacant, Single-Family  

PROPOSED LAND USE & 
REQUESTED ACTION 

Request for a Special Use Permit to allow for a concrete plant on the +/- 
5.28-acre parcel located at 920 Mattress Factory Road (GPIN: 9824778854) 
by VM Development, LLC. 

PROPOSED ZONING N/A 
PARCEL SIZE +/- 5.28 acres 

AREA LAND USE 

The subject property is located at the intersection of Mattress Factory Road 
and Industrial Drive. The properties to the west include a tire business and 
an abandoned home. Various industrial uses are to the north, including 
Penske Truck Rental and AKG. The properties to the east include vacant 
property and industrial and commercial uses. Residential and agricultural 
uses are across the interstate along with Buckhorn Business Centre. 

ONSITE AMENITIES & DEDICATIONS 
The developer is responsible for installing public sidewalk along the street 
frontages. 

CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 
CONDITIONS 
 

N/A 

  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE BY DESIGN STRATEGY 
LAND USE GROWTH STRATEGY 
DESIGNATION(S) 

G-2, Industrial 
 

OTHER LAND USE CONSIDERATIONS  

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES SUPPORTED 

  

   

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES NOT SUPPORTED 

 



 

PAGE 5 

 



 

PAGE 6 

UTILITIES REPORT 
AVAILABLE UTILITIES YES   NO 

PROPOSED UTILITY NEEDS 

The proposed sewer service to the building is 4-inch. The 
proposed water service is 6-inch for fire flow at the site fire 
hydrant and reduced to 4-inch for industrial use with 
appropriate metering and backflow device. An encroachment 
agreement with the NCDOT will be required for the proposed 
utility connections. 

UTILITIES PROVIDED BY APPLICANT Applicant has pledged to provide all on-site utilities, as 
described in AWCK’s Technical Memo. 

MUNICIPAL CAPACITY TO ABSORB 
PROJECT  

The City has adequate water & sewer supply to meet the 
domestic and fire flow demands of the project.  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE LONG 
RANGE UTILITY PLAN? 

YES   NO 

ADEQUATE STORMWATER 
CONTROL? 

YES   NO 

INNOVATIVE STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT? 

YES   NO   N/A 

TRANSPORTATION NETWORK STATUS 

CURRENT CONDITIONS 

The subject property is on the corner of Mattress Factory Road 
and Industrial Drive. The site plan features driveway connections 
on Mattress Factory Road and Industrial Drive. Both roads are 
maintained by the NCDOT.  
 
Mattress Factory Road had an average daily traffic volume of 
2,700 trips in 2021. The section of Mattress Factory Road has a 
safety score of 89, with four crashes reported from 2018 to 
2022. The section of Industrial Drive at the subject property has 
a safety score of 78 with two crashes reported from 2018 to 
2022. There was one bicyclist accident with serious injury in the 
area in 2022. 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
REQUIRED? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF RECOMMENDED 
IMPROVEMENTS 

N/A 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE MEBANE 
BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN? 

 
YES   NO 
 

MULTIMODAL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROVIDED BY APPLICANT? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 

As shown on the site plan, the developer will install sidewalk 
along the street frontages. 



 

PAGE 7 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 APPROVE    DISAPPROVE 

STAFF SPECIAL USE FINDING 
 CONSISTENT    NOT CONSISTENT………………..WITH MEBANE BY 
DESIGN 

RATIONALE 

The proposed development “Concrete Plant” is consistent with the 
guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

PUBLIC INTEREST CONFORMANCE? 
ENDANGER PUBLIC HEALTH OR 
SAFETY? 

YES    NO 

SUBSTANTIALLY INJURE THE 
VALUE OF ADJOINING OR 
ABUTTING PROPERTY?  

YES    NO 

HARMONIOUS WITH THE AREA 
IN WHICH IT IS LOCATED?  

 YES   NO 

CONSISTENT WITH MEBANE BY 
DESIGN, THE MUNICIPAL 
COMPREHENSIVE LAND 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN? 

   The application is consistent with the objectives and  
policies for growth and development contained in the 
City of Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan, 
Mebane By Design, and, as such, has been 
recommended for approval. 

          The application is not fully consistent with the objectives  
and policies for growth and development of the City of 
Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan, 
Mebane By Design, but is otherwise in the public 
interest and has been recommended for approval. The 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan must be 
amended to reflect this approval and ensure 
consistency for the City of Mebane’s long-range 
planning objectives and policies. 

          The application is not consistent with the objectives and  
policies for growth and development of the City of 
Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan, 
Mebane By Design, and, as such, has been 
recommended for denial. 

 



 
 
 

Technical Memo 

Date: 10-03-23 

From: Franz Holt, City Engineer 

To: Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Subject: Proposed Concrete Plant on Mattress Factory Road 

 

The Engineering Department has completed its review of a proposed concrete plant located on a currently 

vacant 5.28-acre parcel along Mattress Factory Road (SR 1302) and VM Development LLC of Asheboro, NC.   

Our technical review comments are as follows: 

 

A. The preliminary site plans prepared by Wescott, Small & Associates, PLLC of Greensboro, NC Triad 

Design include driveway connections to Mattress Factory Road (SR 1302) and Industrial Drive (SR 

13674) requiring NCDOT driveway permits with the change in property use.  No TIA was required for 

the project. 

 

B. The site is to be landscaped along Mattress Factory Road and Industrial Drive frontage.  Additionally, 

landscaped planting yards are required along the perimeter of the property against adjacent owners. 

 

C. Industrial activities associated with the concrete plant will be fenced with gated driveway entrances. 

 

D. A stormwater permit will be required for the site development with treatment in accordance with City 

of Mebane requirements (Runoff from 1-inch rain and detention for 10-year design storm post vs. 

pre.).  A bioretention basin is proposed for the treatment of stormwater runoff as the proposed built 

upon area of 30.11 percent exceeds the 24 percent threshold for low density development without 

stormwater controls. 

 

E. Water and Sewer service connections will be made to City of Mebane lines requiring annexation of the 

site.  The proposed sewer service to the building is 4-inch.  The proposed water service is 6-inch for fire 

flow at the site fire hydrant and reduced to 4-inch for industrial use with appropriate metering and 

backflow device.  Domestic water service to the building is 1-inch with meter and backflow device.  

Connections and extensions will be to City of Mebane standards and requirements. An NCDOT 

encroachment agreement will be required for the proposed utility connections. 

 

F. The site is properly zoned as Heavy Manufacturing and requires a special use permit. 

 

G. Final construction drawings are required to be submitted for TRC review. 

 

 

 

CITY OF MEBANE 106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901       fholt@cityofmebane.com 

  W W W . C I T Y O F M E B A N E . C O M  

mailto:fholt@cityofmebane.com
http://www.cityofmebane.com/


 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #6B 
RZ 23-07 
Conditional Rezoning – NCIC Rail 
Transload 

Presenter 
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Applicant 
Samet Corporation 
309 Gallimore Dairy Road 
Greensboro, NC 27409 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

 

  

Zoning Map 
 

 

Property 
1268 West Holt 
Street 

Unaddressed 

Alamance County 
GPINs:  9815147486; 
9815242044; 
9815125977 

Proposed Zoning 
HM (CD) 

Current Zoning 
LM & HM 

Size 
 +/-8.03 acres  

Surrounding Zoning 
HM, LM, R-20, B-3 

Surrounding Land 
Uses 
Industrial, Residential 

Utilities 
Available 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
No 

City Limits 
No 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Application Brief 
See Planning Project Report for more details. 

Recommendations 

Technical Review Committee: 
The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the site plan 
three times and the applicant has revised the plan to reflect the 
comments.  

Planning Staff: 
The proposed development “NCIC Rail Transload” is consistent with 
the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

Planning Board: 
At their October 9 meeting, the Planning Board voted 7-0 to 
recommend approval of the rezoning request. 

Zoning & Land Use Report 

Jurisdiction: Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) 

Proposed Use By-Right (Yes/No): No 

Type of Rezoning Request: Conditional 

Special Use Request (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Mebane By Design (Yes/No):  Yes 

Utilities Report 

Available Utilities (Yes/No): Yes 

Adequate Stormwater Control (Yes/No): Yes 

Innovative Stormwater Control (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Long-Range Utility Plan (Yes/No): Yes 

Transportation Report 

Traffic Impact Analysis Required (Yes/No): No 

Multi-Modal Improvements (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Bike/Ped Transportation Plan (Yes/No):  No 

 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 3 

Summary 
Samet Corporation is requesting approval to conditionally rezone one property and portions of two other 
properties (GPINs 9815147486; 9815242044; 9815125977), totaling +/- 8.03 acres and located with 
frontages on West Holt Street, Lake Latham Road, and Sun Ray Lane from HM and LM to HM (CD) to allow 
for a rail transload facility. A conceptual site plan is included with the request and shows recombination of 
the subject parcels. A rail transload facility in this area has been studied and discussed for at least a decade. 
The properties are located in Alamance County in the Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ). The 
applicant has agreed to petition for annexation.  

The following conditions are proposed with the conditional rezoning request:  

Proposed Conditions of Zoning District Mebane UDO Requirements 

The subject properties are part of the master plan 
for the North Carolina Industrial Center (NCIC) 
developed in the early 2000s. Restrictive covenants 
were established for this industrial park and include 
specific standards for building setbacks and height 
and landscaping requirements. 

The following dimensional standards are requested: 
− Front: 100’  
− Side: 30’ 
− Rear: 20’ 
− Maximum Building Height: 50’ 

 
At minimum 10’ landscape buffers are shown on the 
site plan, with wider buffer areas shown in certain 
areas. 

Table 4-2-1 of the Mebane UDO defines density and 
dimensional requirements.  

The following dimensional standards are required of 
development in the HM Zoning District: 

− Front: 50’ 
− Side: 50’ 
− Rear: 20’ 
− Maximum Building Height: 150’ 

Tables 6-4-1 and 6-4-3 define perimeter buffer and 
streetscape requirements. Larger buffers, between 
70’ and 125’, are required between railyards and 
residentially-used and -zoned properties. Landscape 
buffers between adjoining industrial zoning range 
from 10’ to 20’. 

 

Financial Impact 
The developer will be required to make all of the improvements at his own expense. 

Suggested Motion 
1. Motion to approve the HM(CD) zoning as presented.  
 
2. Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 

Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, the request: 
 
 Is for a property within the City’s G-1 NC 119 Bypass and US 70 Mixed Use Growth Area and is part 

of the North Carolina Industrial Center (Mebane CLP, p. 70). 
 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 4 

OR 
 
3. Motion to deny the HM (CD) rezoning as presented due to a lack of 

 
a. Harmony with the surrounding zoning or land use 

OR 
b. Consistency with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development 

Plan Mebane By Design. 
 

Attachments 
1. Preliminary Presentation Slides 
2. Zoning Amendment Application 
3. Zoning Map 
4. Site Plan 
5. Planning Project Report  
6. Technical Memorandum – City Engineering Review 

 





NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning

G-1 Mixed Use

Secondary



NCIC Rail Transload
Conditional Rezoning





North Carolina 
Industrial Center 
(NCIC)
Transload Rail Facility
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 6, 2023
BRIAN HALL
BHALL@SAMETCORP.COM
HUNTER NICHOLS
HNICHOLS@SAMETCORP.COM 

mailto:bhall@sametcorp.com
mailto:hnichols@sametcorp.com


Transload – A Long Time in the Making
2001 2010

Rail Spur / Rail Access

20142011



Transload Rail Key Points
 Planning began 2001

 Managed by a non-profit that will own, 
operate, and maintain the facility. 

 Keep costs low to enhance access and 
utilization

 Add to Mebane & Alamance’s competitive 
advantage for industry growth

 Continuation of Existing Usage of Rail by 
Cambro and extend current rail further to 
allow for on site storage

 Site to accommodate (10) Rail Cars 

 No hazardous materials to be allowed to 
be transported via Transload Facility



Current Zoning

Proposed



Transload Site Plan



Transload Site Plan



Neighborhood Meeting

 Neighborhood Meeting was held at noon on Tuesday, October 3, 
2023

 Notes:
 Invite sent out to the 42 property owners within the notification radius

 Attended by Ellis Family

 Overview of history of NCIC and our proposed project

 Ellis Family had no concerns with the project



Transload Rail Facility Action Requested

• Action Items:
• Rezoning of site from Heavy Manufacturing to Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional 

District







©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©CURVE#3

CURVE#4

CURVE#1

CURVE#2

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

©

CXXX

SITE
PLAN

OVERALL

Date:

Sheet:

AUGUST, 2023

23-061

Drawn: Check:

Job Number:

PRELIMINARY

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

LA
KE

 LA
TH

AM
 R

OA
D

ME
BA

NE
, N

OR
TH

 C
AR

OL
IN

A

NC
IC

 R
AI

L T
RA

NS
LO

AD
 SI

TE

This drawing & the details herein, as an instrument of
service, is the property of Triad Design Group, PC, and
may be used only for this specific project and shall not
be loaned, copied, or reproduced in any form without
expressed written consent from Triad Design Group,
PC. Copyright © 2023. Triad Design Group, PC, All
rights reserved.

Triad Design Group, PC, shall not be responsible for
cons t ruct i on means,  me thods ,  techn iques ,  or
procedures utilized by the contractor, nor for the safety
of public or contractor's employees; or for the failure of
the contractor to carry out the work in accordance with
t he  con t rac t  document s .                                                             .

1

A
SHEET TITLE:

NO DATE DESCRIPTION
REVISIONS:

DATE DESCRIPTION
SUBMITTALS:

10/11/2021 PRELIMINARY

B

C

D

A

B

C

D

2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

Architecture    Engineering    Interior Design

4807 Koger Boulevard Suite C
Greensboro, NC 27407

Telephone 336-218-8282

8430 University Executive
Park Drive Suite 650
Charlotte, NC 28262

Telephone 704-312-0140
www.triad-designgroup.com

NC Architecture Reg.  50709
NC Engineering Lic.   C-1108

MWJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX CONC. BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERM. ACCESS ESMT

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FDC

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX SWITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARNING POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURIED CABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX RAIL SPUR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAIL SPUR

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF FROG

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL TRACK BED 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL TRACK BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH TENSION

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX ASPHALT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL DRIVE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 12" PVC

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV 604.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOURCE NOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX OLD CHAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX OLD CHAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX OLD CHAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX FOUNDATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN RUINS

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV 575.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 2" METAL PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVER DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 2" PVC PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVER DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 12" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
576.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DB 2799 PG 569

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 66 PG 76 LOT 1 (PART)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN RAY LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
50' PRIVATE R/W ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 66 PG 76 / 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 6 PG 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
60' PUBLIC R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
[SR 1976]

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX PARCEL #164905

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LATHAM RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.56'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 82°32'45" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
117.99'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 07°00'21" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
107.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 03°49'47" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN RAY LANE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 6 PG 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309.70'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 08°54'28" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-20

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
222.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 83°26'10" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
465.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 12°38'54" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
762.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 09°28'30" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-23

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC R/W VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
[SR 1976]

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LATHAM RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC R/W VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
[SR 1963]

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. HOLT ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBM

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX 15" RCP INV(N) 619.4  INV(S) 619.1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  WILLIAM EARL JAMES  DB 1305 PG 640  TAX PARCEL #164852 ZONED: R-20 USE: RESIDENTIAL LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  ROBERT A. FERRAR TRUST DB 3533 PG 607 TAX PARCEL #164842 ZONED: R-20 USE: RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  ANDREA L. JONES & MARSHALL W. JONES DB 3533 PG 607 TAX PARCEL #164841 ZONED: R-20 USE: RSDIENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  JACK M. FLORENCE HEIRS (SEE DB 398 PG 4)  TAX PARCEL #164840 ZONED: R-20 USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  RUBY FLORENCE  DB 641 PG 180  TAX PARCEL #164839 ZONED: R-20 USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  ROBERT V. KERNODLE DB 1697 PG 738  TAX PARCEL #164838 ZONED: R-20 USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR. FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP DB 2799 PG 569   TAX PARCEL #16436-16438 ZONED: LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING) USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PART OF TAX PARCEL #164905 PB 66 PG 76 PART OF LOT 1 ZONED: USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  A CAMPBELL HOLDINGS, LLC  DB 3331 PG 570  TAX PARCEL #172092 ZONED: HM (HEAVY MANUFACTURING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC PHASE 3, LOT 1 PB 76 PG 221

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W LINE L-21 TO L-23 PER DB 3799 PG 612

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.  FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP  DB 2799 PG 569  (SEE ALSO PB 76 PG 221)  TAX PARCEL #164853 ZONED: HM (HEAVY MANUFACTURING) & LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING) USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY LOCATOR UBABLE TO LOCATE TELECOM. LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.  FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP DB 2799 PG 569 PART OF TAX PARCEL #172092

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX  METAL TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE CONTROL PT. #13001  MAGNETIC NAIL SET  N.C. GRID COORDS (NAD 83/2011) N(y) = 854,781.99' E(x) = 1,911,780.74' ELEV = 635.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200' NORTH CAROLINA RAILROAD COMPANY R/W SEE PB 76 PG 221 SEE DB 2251 PG 485

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CLIFFORD M. RAY, JR.  FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP DB 2799 PG 569  TAX PARCEL #164818

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 25A, PHASE 3 PB 83 PP 147-149

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  JOHN RAY OF MEBANCE INC  DB 1173 PG 449  TAX PARCEL #164851 ZONED: B-3 (NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS) USE: AUTO SALVAGE LUC:7

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  TYLER S STOKES CATHERINE M  COLE DB 4389 PG 383  TAX PARCEL #164850 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  JOHN W DANIEL JESSICA L W DANIEL DB 3334 PG 841  TAX PARCEL #164849 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  B & B PROPERTIES  OF ALA CO LLC DB 2597 PG 694 PB 6 PG 2  TAX PARCEL #164848 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F  PETER D ELLIS PAULA-JEANNE ELLIS DB 3970 PG 456 PB 63 PG 151  TAX PARCEL #164846 ZONED: R-20 (RESIDENTIAL) LUC:2

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LOCAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(RESIDENTIAL PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 6 PG 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
(RESIDENTIAL PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LOCAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LOCAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUT 601.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 598.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" CMP IN 601.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" WEEPHOLE 606.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP/RISER 608.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP/TRASH RACK 610.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" METAL RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
605.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
605.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAFFLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPILLWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAFFLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIRPAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIPRAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
599.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED: LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED: LM (LIGHT MANUFACTURING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCIC FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
USE: UNDEVELOPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
 THE RAILROAD ASSOCIATES CORP. (TRAC) WWW.RAILROADTRAC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
H 30

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAL STA=1484+84 NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROSSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROSSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP BLOCK RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCM FOR SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP LANDSCAPE YARD W/ EVERGREEN TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL TO BE RECOMBINED INTO SINGLE PARCEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'x450' SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'x450' SIGHT DISTANCE TRIANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'x70' SIGHT TRIANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
50x40 FUTURE BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP RAILROAD BALLAST (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY TO BE ANNEXED BY THE CITY OF MEBANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE EX HYD

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO LANDSCAPING WITHIN WATERLINE ESMT GRASS ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE TO BE ABANDONED WITH RECOMBINATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NAME: P:\2023\NCIC Rail Transload Site 23-061\- Civil\23-061_SITE_C3D22.dwg - OV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AMP:\2023\NCIC Rail Transload Site 23-061\- Civil\23-061_SITE_C3D22.dwg - OV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AM - OV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AMOV SITE - 9/28/2023 8:40 AM - 9/28/2023 8:40 AM9/28/2023 8:40 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:	1"=60'1"=60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE- BUA ADDED FOR PROPOSED TRANSLOAD YARD WILL BE TREATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY OF MEBANE STORMWATER ORDINANCE.



 

PAGE 1 

PLANNING PROJECT REPORT 
DATE 10/04/2023 
PROJECT NUMBER RZ 23-07 
PROJECT NAME NCIC Rail Transload  

APPLICANT 
Samet Corporation 
309 Gallimore Dairy Road 
Greensboro, NC 27409 

 

CONTENTS 
PROJECT NAME & APPLICANT ........................................................................................... PAGE 1 
ZONING REPORT ............................................................................................................... PAGE 2 
LAND USE REPORT ............................................................................................................ PAGE 4 
UTILITIES REPORT .............................................................................................................. PAGE 6 
STAFF ZONING REQUEST RECOMMENDATION .................................................................. PAGE 7



 

PAGE 2 

ZONING REPORT 
EXISTING ZONE HM, Heavy Manufacturing & LM, Light Manufacturing 
REQUESTED ACTION HM (CD) (Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional District) 
CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
CURRENT LAND USE Vacant, Rail Spur 
PARCEL SIZE  +/- 8.03 acres 

PROPERTY OWNERS 

Clifford M. Ray, Jr. Family Limited Partnership 
PO Box 445  
Oak Island, NC 28465 
GPINs: 9815147486; 9815125977 
 
A. Campbell Holdings, LLC 
5801 Skylab Road 
Huntington Beach, CA 92647 
GPIN: 9815242044 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Request to rezone a +/- 3.78-acre unaddressed property with frontages on Lake 
Latham Road and West Holt Street (GPIN: 9815147486), portions of a +/- 27.473-acre 
property addressed 1268 West Holt Street (GPIN: 9815242044), and portions of a +/- 
6.815-acre unaddressed property with frontages on Sun Ray Lane and Lake Latham 
Road (GPIN: 9815125977) from Heavy Manufacturing and Light Manufacturing to 
Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional District to allow for a railyard on a +/- 8.03-acre 
site by Samet Corporation. 

AREA ZONING & DISTRICTS 

The properties to the north, across US 70, are in Alamance County’s planning 
jurisdiction and are not zoned. The properties to the east are zoned HM, Heavy 
Manufacturing. The properties to the west are zoned R-20, Residential District and B-
3, Neighborhood Business District. The properties to the south are zoned R-20 and 
LM, Light Manufacturing District. 

SITE HISTORY 

The subject properties were included in a master site plan for the North Carolina 
Industrial Center (NCIC) completed in the early 2000s. A rail transload facility in this 
area has been studied and discussed for at least a decade. The largest property is 
currently vacant and adjacent to a rail spur serving the Cambro facility.  

STAFF ANALYSIS 
CITY LIMITS? YES   NO  
PROPOSED USE BY-RIGHT? YES   NO  
SPECIAL USE? YES   NO 
EXISTING UTILITIES?  YES   NO 

POTENTIAL IMPACT OF 
PROPOSED ZONE 

Most of the property is already zoned HM, Heavy Manufacturing District. The 
proposed rezoning largely impacts the southern portion of the site. As shown on the 
site-specific plan, a rail spur already exists in the area to serve the Cambro facility. 



 

PAGE 3 

 
 
 
 

  
 



 

PAGE 4 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

EXISTING LAND USE Vacant, Rail Spur 

PROPOSED LAND USE & 
REQUESTED ACTION 

The applicant is requesting to rezone a +/- 3.78-acre unaddressed property 
with frontages on Lake Latham Road and West Holt Street (GPIN: 
9815147486), portions of a +/- 27.473-acre property addressed 1268 West 
Holt Street (GPIN: 9815242044), and portions of a +/- 6.815-acre 
unaddressed property with frontages on Sun Ray Lane and Lake Latham 
Road (GPIN: 9815125977) from Heavy Manufacturing and Light 
Manufacturing to Heavy Manufacturing, Conditional District to allow for a 
railyard on a +/- 8.03-acre site. 

PROPOSED ZONING HM (CD) (Heavy Manufacturing District) 
PARCEL SIZE +/- 8.03 acres 

AREA LAND USE 
The subject property is located within the North Carolina Industrial Center 
(NCIC) and adjacent to the existing Cambro facility. Residential uses are 
adjacent to the site and along Lake Latham Road. 

ONSITE AMENITIES & DEDICATIONS 
N/A 
 

CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 
CONDITIONS 
 

The applicant has committed to annexation of the site. The subject 
properties are part of the master plan for the North Carolina Industrial 
Center (NCIC) developed in the early 2000s. Restrictive covenants were 
established for this industrial park and include specific standards for 
building setbacks, building height and landscaping requirements. 
 
The following dimensional standards are requested: 

− Front: 100’  
− Side: 30’ 
− Rear: 20’ 
− Maximum Building Height: 50’ 

 
At minimum 10’ landscape buffers are shown on the site plan, with wider 
buffer areas shown on parts of the site. 

  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE BY DESIGN STRATEGY 
LAND USE GROWTH STRATEGY 
DESIGNATION(S) 

G-1 Mixed Use (NC 119 Bypass and US 70) 
 

OTHER LAND USE CONSIDERATIONS  

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES SUPPORTED 

 

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES NOT SUPPORTED 

 



 

PAGE 5 



 

PAGE 6 

UTILITIES REPORT 
AVAILABLE UTILITIES YES   NO 
PROPOSED UTILITY NEEDS No water and sewer services are currently proposed. 
UTILITIES PROVIDED BY APPLICANT N/A 
MUNICIPAL CAPACITY TO ABSORB 
PROJECT  

N/A 

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE LONG 
RANGE UTILITY PLAN? 

YES   NO  N/A 

ADEQUATE STORMWATER 
CONTROL? 

YES   NO  
Stormwater treatment shall be in accordance with City requirements. 

INNOVATIVE STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT? 

YES   NO 

TRANSPORTATION NETWORK STATUS 

CURRENT CONDITIONS 

The site includes one driveway connection to Lake Latham Road, 
which is a two-lane facility maintained by the NCDOT. Traffic 
counts are not available for Lake Latham Road. In 2019, the 
annual average daily traffic count for West Holt Street in this 
area was 1,500. Crash data is not reported by the NCDOT for 
this area. 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
REQUIRED? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF RECOMMENDED 
IMPROVEMENTS 

No improvements are required. To date, discussions have 
occurred with the NCDOT related to providing a direct trucking 
route to NC 119 through the extension of Development Center 
Drive to Lake Latham Road, pending right-of-way acquisition and 
NCDOT funding. 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE MEBANE 
BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN? 

 
YES   NO  
The current plan shows a multi-use path in this area. However, the City 
is updating this plan and preliminary routes show a sidewalk ending at 
Cambro. 

MULTIMODAL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROVIDED BY APPLICANT? 

YES   NO  

DESCRIPTION OF MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 

N/A 

 
  



 

PAGE 7 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
STAFF ZONING 
RECOMMENDATION  

 APPROVE    DISAPPROVE 

STAFF SPECIAL USE FINDING 
 CONSISTENT    NOT CONSISTENT………………..WITH MEBANE 
BY DESIGN 

RATIONALE 

 
The proposed development “NCIC Rail Transload” is consistent 
with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the 
Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

 



 
 
 

Technical Memo 

Date: 10-03-23 

From: Franz Holt, City Engineer 

To: Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Subject: NCIC Rail Transload Site  

 
The Engineering Department has completed its review of a proposed NCIC Rail Transload Site 

located on a currently vacant 3.78-acre parcel along Lake Latham Road (SR 1976) and being 

combined with other NCIC property totaling 8.03 acres all being developed by Samet Corporation.  

Our technical review comments are as follows: 

 

A. The site plans completed by Triad Design Group include rail improvements connecting to the 

existing rail spur at Cambro Manufacturing and a paved receiving and loading yard area.  

 

B. The site is to be landscaped along Lake Latham Road frontage, Sun Ray Lane frontage, and 

along the western adjoining property. 

 

C. A stormwater permit will be required for the site development with treatment in accordance 

with City of Mebane requirements. Built upon area exceeds the threshold for low density 

option requirement stormwater control measures treating the runoff from a 1-inch rain and 

providing detention for a 10-year storm design post vs. pre. 

 

D. One driveway connection is proposed at Lake Latham Road requiring a driveway permit from 

NCDOT.  No TIA was required. 

 

E. The site is proposed to be annexed and rezoned to Heavy Manufacturing Conditional Use. 

 

F. No water and sewer services are proposed.  However, the site will be annexed. 

 

G. To date discussions have occurred with NCDOT related to providing a direct trucking route to 

NC Hwy. 119 through the extension of Development Center Drive to Lake Latham Road 

pending right-of-way acquisition and NCDOT funding. 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF MEBANE 106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901       fholt@cityofmebane.com 

  W W W . C I T Y O F M E B A N E . C O M  

mailto:fholt@cityofmebane.com
http://www.cityofmebane.com/


 

AGENDA ITEM #6C 
Street Closing Resolution and Order- Portions 
of Jackson Street and Short Street 

Meeting Date 
November 6, 2023 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
At the October 2, 2023, meeting, the Council set a date of public hearing for consideration of closing 
portions of Jackson Street and Short Street. 

Background 
The City is the owner of properties on Jackson Street and Short Street, which streets were previously platted 
but unopened, shown on a plat recorded in Plat Book 83, Page 237 of the Alamance County Registry, shown 
as sixty feet (60’) in width. The Public Hearing Notice/Resolution of Intent was properly advertised at the 
property and in the Mebane Enterprise. 

Financial Impact 
N/A 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the adoption of the Resolution and Order closing the portions of Jackson Street and 
Short Street as presented. 

Suggested Motion 
I move to adopt the Resolution and Order closing the portions of Jackson Street and Short Street. 

Attachments 
1. Street Closing Resolution and Order  
2. Plat 
3. Map  

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared By: E. Lawson Brown, Jr. 
           City of Mebane 
  106 E. Washington Street 
  Mebane, NC 27302 
               
 
 
NORTH CAROLINA 
ALAMANCE COUNTY   
 

RESOLUTION AND ORDER PURSUANT TO N.C.G.S. §160A-299 TO PERMANENTLY CLOSE 
PORTIONS OF JACKSON STREET AND SHORT STREET 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C.G.S. §160A-299, the City Council of the City of Mebane, North 

Carolina held a public hearing on November 6, 2023 to consider closing portions of Jackson Street 
and Short Street; and  
 

WHEREAS, after full consideration of these matters, the City Council of the City of Mebane, 
North Carolina does hereby deem it to be in the best interest of the City of Mebane to close 
Douglas Street;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Mebane as follows: 
 

Section 1. That the City Council, after full consideration of this matter at the public 
hearing held on November 6, 2023, and upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, does 
hereby order the closing of that portion of Douglas Street which is more particularly described as 
follows: 
 

A certain tract or parcel of land in Melville Township, Alamance County, North Carolina 
adjoining the lands of the unopened right of way of Jackson Street, the unopened right of way of 
Short Street, Willard Rogers and wife Evelyn A. Rogers parcel ID number 165064, Elizabeth Foust 
Heirs parcel ID number 165070, the City of Mebane property parcel ID numbers 165218, 165069, 
165075, 165076, and 165077, and being more par�cularly described as follows:     
    

 BEGINNING at an iron stake found in the northern margin of the unopened 60 foot right 
of way of Short Street, said iron stake found being a corner between Willard Rogers and wife Evelyn 
A. Rogers parcel ID number 165064 and the City of Mebane property parcel ID number 165069 
and running thence with said northern margin of the unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street     
S 86° 38’ 27” E 150.00 feet to an iron stake found at the intersec�on of the northern margin of the 
unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street and the western margin of the unopened 60 foot 
right of way of Jackson Street being the southeastern most corner of the City of Mebane property 
parcel ID number 165069; running thence with the western margin of the unopened 60 foot right 
of way of Jackson Street N 03° 18’ 39” E 375.15 feet to an iron stake found said iron stake found 
being a corner between Elizabeth Foust Heirs parcel ID number 165070 and the City of Mebane 



property parcel ID number 165069; running thence perpendicular across the unopened 60 foot 
right of way of Jackon Street S 86° 41’ 21” E 60.00 feet to an iron stake set in the eastern margin 
of the unopened 60 foot right of way of Jackon Street in the line of the City of Mebane property 
parcel ID number 165077; running thence with said eastern margin of the unopened 60 foot right 
of way of Jackon Street the following three(3) calls: S 03° 18’ 39” W 171.38 feet to an iron stake 
found corner between the City of Mebane property parcel ID 165077 and the City of Mebane 
property parcel ID 165076; thence S 03° 18’ 39” W 50.09 feet to an iron stake found corner 
between the City of Mebane property parcel ID 165076 and the City of Mebane property parcel ID 
165075; thence S 03° 18’ 39” W 185.72 feet to an iron stake found at the intersec�on of the eastern 
margin of the unopened 60 foot right of way of Jackon Street and the southern margin of the 
unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street said iron stake found being the southwestern most 
corner of the City of Mebane property parcel ID number 165075 in the line of the City of Mebane 
property parcel ID number 165218; running thence with said southern margin of the unopened 
60 foot right of way of Short Street the following two(2) calls: S 81° 43’ 01” W 138.80 feet to an 
iron stake found; thence N 86° 38’ 27” W 74.08 feet to an iron stake set in the southern margin of 
the unopened 60 foot right of way of Short Street being in the line of the City of Mebane property 
parcel ID 165218; running thence perpendicular across the unopened 60 foot right of way of Short 
Street N 03° 21’ 33” E 59.87 feet to the POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING containing 0.762 acres 
plus or minus of unopened road right of way to be abandoned.  
 

The foregoing descrip�ons were obtained from a survey and map prepared by Alley, 
Williams, Carmen & King, Inc., Engineers, Architects & Surveyors, dated August 30, 2023, Job No. 
22021 and recorded in Plat Book_______ Page_______ of the Alamance County Registry. 

 
Section 2.  
 
The City Council of the City of Mebane adopted a resolution on the 2nd day of October, 

2023 thereby declaring its intent to permanently close portions of Jackson Street and Short Street 
as is more particularly described in Section 1 hereof,  

 
Section 3.  That notice of said public hearing was published on October 11th, 18th, 25th 

and November 1st, 2023. 
 
Section 4.  That a copy of this Resolution and Order shall be mailed to all owners of the 

property abutting said unnamed street as more particularly described above. 
 

Section 5.  That a notice of this closing was prominently displayed and posted in at least 
two places along Jackson Street and Short Street. 
 

Section 6.  That the North Carolina Department of Transportation has not accepted any 
portion of Jackson Street or Short Street for maintenance. 
 

Section 7.  That after full consideration of these matters at said public hearing, it appears 
to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Mebane that the closing portions of Jackson 
Street and Short Street will be deprived of reasonable means of ingress and egress to his property. 

 
Section 8.  That this Resolution and Order closing of portions of Jackson Street and Short 

Street shall be made effective as of the adoption of this Resolution and Order. 
 

Section 9.  That a copy of this Resolution and Order shall be filed in the office of the 
Register of Deeds for Alamance County, North Carolina. 
 

Section 10.  That this resolution shall take effect upon passage. 
 

This the 6th day of November, 2023. 
_____________________________ 
Ed Hooks, Mayor of  

              City of Mebane 



ATTEST: 
 
_____________________  
Stephanie W. Shaw,  
Mebane City Clerk     (Corporate Seal) 
 
 
NORTH CAROLINA 
ALAMANCE COUNTY 
 

This ___ day of June, 2023, personally appeared before me, ______________________, a 
Notary Public in and for the aforesaid County and State, STEPHANIE W. SHAW, who being by me 
duly sworn says that she knows the corporate seal of the City of Mebane, a municipal corporation 
in North Carolina, and is acquainted with ED HOOKS, who is Mayor of said corporation, and that 
she, the said STEPHANIE W. SHAW, is the Clerk of said municipal corporation, and saw the Mayor 
sign the foregoing instrument, and that she, the said STEPHANIE W. SHAW, Clerk as aforesaid, 
affixed said seal to said instrument, and that she, the said STEPHANIE W. SHAW, signed her name 
in attestation of the execution of said instrument in the presence of said Mayor of said municipal 
corporation. 
 

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this ___ day of June, 2023. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
My Commission Expires: ____________



 

 
4 

 







 

AGENDA ITEM # 7 
Racial Equity Advisory 
Committee (REAC) 
Appointments 

Meeting Date 
November 6, 2023 

Presenter  
Beatrice Hunter, HR Director and REAC Liaison  

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
The City of Mebane’s Racial Equity Advisory Committee currently has three (3) openings; one 4-year term 
seat and two 2-year term seats. These open positions have been advertised and staff has received five (5) 
applications.  

Financial Impact 
None. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Council appoint three members to the committee. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to appoint three individuals to the REAC. One to complete an existing four-year term, and two to 
each serve a two-year term.  All terms end June 30, 2025. 

Attachments 
1. Brenda Buchanon- Application and Resume 
2. Dr. Gradesa Lockhart- Application and Interest Letter 
3. Christopher Norwood- Application 
4. Jason Gaskin- Application 
5. Christopher Dixon- Application 

 



City of Mebane  
Boards and Commissions Application  

  
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s 
advisory boards and commissions.  To ensure that your application will receive full consideration, please answer all 
questions completely. Return this application either in person, by mail, or by fax to the Mebane Municipal Building, 
106 East Washington Street, Mebane, NC  27302, Fax (919) 563-9506.  
  
  
Personal Information  
 

Name: Brenda B. Buchanon 

_____________________________________________________________________  

Home Address:  1143 Dartmouth Dr., Mebane, NC 27302 
______________________________________________________________  

Mailing Address (if different):  ____________________________________________________  

Cell Phone:  910-381-4936___________________________  Business Phone:  _______ 

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits?    Yes_x____   No_____  

In Alamance or Orange County?  ______Alamance_____________________  

  

Board Preference  
Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane?  Yes____  No__x__  
If so, which one(s)?_____________________________________________________________  
  
Please list the name(s) of the board(s) to which you are applying or seeking reappointment (you 
may apply to more than one): Racial Equity Advisory Board 
_____________________________________________________  
  
Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity?  If additional space is needed please attach a 
separate sheet:   
I recently moved to Mebane in April 2023 and interested in becoming an integral part of the 
community; I moved from Wake County to live with my son. While living in Wake County, I 
served as a member of the Wake County Library Commission from 2016 until April 2023 (served 
as Vice Chair for 2 terms, resigned due to move); served as a Wake County Board of Adjustment 
member from January 2023 until April 2023 (resigned due to move) and I believe my experience 
will serve this advisory board well. I have been active in my community, worked as a Board of 
Elections official during local, state, and national elections and believe this knowledge will 
ensure objectivity and diversity (African American female, over 60) as a member of this board.  
______________________________________________________________________________  
  



Education  
Please list your educational background.  Include name of all schools attended:  

Clear Run High School – graduated co-salutatorian May 1969’ Elizabeth City State University 
1969-1970; Sampson Community College- graduated May 2001- Associate of Arts degree; 
Fayetteville State University August 2001, graduated June 2003 B. A. degree in English (Magna 
Cum Laude); Grand Canyon University 2016, graduated June 2018 – Master of Education, 
Secondary Education degree. 

Employment  
Please list the names and address of your current employer, the title of your current position, and 
a brief description of your job duties.  
  
Name of Employer:  Retired as print media journalist /news editor – The Sampson Independent 
Newspaper, Clinton, NC; The Daily Record, Dunn, NC   
Address:  _____________________________________________________________________  
  
Title and Duties:   
Currently employed as a substitute teacher with Wake County Schools; substitute teacher with 
Alamance County Schools beginning this fall. 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Civic Involvement  
Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership:   

Alpha Kappa Alpha Sorority, Inc., Sigma Tau Omega Chapter, Cary, NC; Order of the Eastern 
Star, Drucillia Chapter #19, Durham, NC; Shiloh Missionary Baptist Church, Morrisville, NC. 

 

  
Thank you for your interest in appointment to the City of Mebane’s Advisory Boards and 
Commissions.  Individuals selected for appointment will be notified by mail within 5 working days 
from the City Council meeting at which they have been appointed.  
  
  
  
  
  



 

BRENDA B. BUCHANON 
4217 Brushy Mountain Street, Cary, NC  27519  · 910-381-4936 

silvergray49@hotmail.com 
January, 2023 

 

EXPERIENCE 

APRIL 1976 – 1985 
MEDICAL RECORDS SUPERVISOR, DUPLIN-SAMPSON AREA 
MENTAL HEALTH  
Supervised medical records transcriptionist (Sampson County office), 
maintained confidential medical records, worked in coordination with the 
clinical psychiatrist and area medical records coordinator. This position 
worked directly with the clinical psychiatrist, clinical nurse, and social 
workers; supervised two medical records typists; completed annual 
evaluations of medical records staff; vacation/sick leave approval; and 
attended monthly staff meetings with area medical records coordinator.  
Confidentiality was the word of the day to provide maintenance of vital 
identifying information of the mental health clients.  

 
MAY 1985 – 2001 
LICENSURE/BENEFITS SPECIALIST, SAMPSON COUNTY 
SCHOOLS 
Worked under the supervision of the Superintendent of Personnel Services.  
Responsible for all confidential personnel records for more than 900 school 
employees; responsible for new employee orientation (completing paperwork 
and data entry of all employees’ identifying information (DOB, SSN, 
address, workers’ compensation, insurance, payroll deductions, etc.). 
Responsible for some teacher recruitment- attended university/college fairs- 
maintained/data entry for each new/current employees through the Human 
Resource Management System (HRMS) and coordinated 
demographic/identifying information with the Central Office Finance Office.  
Duties included securing teaching license for newly employed teachers 
(new/lateral entry teachers) and developing queries which maintained current 
licensure status of all teachers. Responsible for maintenance of secure space 
for teacher/certified/non-certified annual evaluations. The position required 
producing a personnel agenda to submitted to the Superintendent for 

mailto:silvergray49@hotmail.com


2 

Personnel to deliver to the monthly Board of Education meetings. 
Confidentiality was of the utmost importance. (Returned to complete college 
degree 2001-2003). 
 
 
June 2004 – 2008 
COPY EDITOR, THE SAMPSON INDEPENDENT, CLINTON, NC 
Reporter for Sampson and Duplin County Newspapers which covered the 
Duplin County Board of Commissioners, Duplin County Board of Education 
as well as other local stories assigned by the Editor or by reporter herself. 
Coverage of the Boards of Education and Commissioners were completed on 
a monthly basis including special meetings. Duties also included covering 
special assignments, human interest stories, producing a bi-monthly column 
(Brenda’s Corner) and producing copy for Business News. Weekend editor 
responsibilities required working on the weekends, one to two times per 
month, compiling the Front page and page three, designing the Front and 
third page-- ultimately submitting the newspaper for printing on Friday and 
Saturday. * Reported stories typed on deadline.  
 
 
June 2008 – 2010 
BUSINESS EDITOR, THE DAILY RECORD, DUNN, NC 
Responsible for business news- interviewed, wrote, and designed the 
business page for the newspaper; reporter for local, human-interest stories; 
covered the Benson County Board of Commissioners and reporter for the 
Johnston County Commissioners; covered special interest stories in Harnett 
and Johnston Counties. Responsible for designing the Front and third pages 
of The Daily Record in absence of the managing editor which was completed 
on deadline for the morning edition. * Reported stories typed on deadline.  
 
WAKE COUNTY SCHOOL SYSTEM SUBSTITUTE TEACHER, WAKE 
COUNTY, N.C. 
Began employment with Wake County Schools in August, 2012 as a 
substitute teacher and continue employment at the present time.  

EDUCATION 

2001 -JUNE 2003 
B.A. ENGLISH, FAYETTEVILLE STATE UNIVERSITY, 
FAYETTEVILL, N.C. 

• Graduated Magna Cum Laude, GPA 3.79;  
• English Student of the Year;  



3 

• Sigma Tau Delta English Honor Society; 
• President’s List and Dean’s List. 

 
 
2016 - JUNE 2018 
MASTER OF EDUCATION, SECONDARY EDUCATION, GRAND 
CANYON UNIVERSITY, PHOENIX, ARIZONA 
Course of study- completed preparation for teaching on high school/ 
community college level. 

SKILLS 

• Oral Communication 
• Written communication 

• Listening 
• Computer literate 

 

ACTIVITIES 

I am an avid reader, public library user, and have a penchant for acting. I love 
visiting the North Carolina Museum of Art, North Carolina Museum of History, 
and the North Carolina Symphony. My future goal is to write a novel (genre- 
fiction).  
 
 
Leadership opportunities:  

• Sampson Community Theatre Board Member, Clinton, N. C. (Served as 
stage manager, assistant director, and/or actor in several productions 
including, Butterflies are Free, Pearlie, Dreamgirls, and The Odd Couple 
(female version).  

• Order of the Eastern Star – Past Worthy Matron of Rebecca Chapter 111, 
Garland, N.C.; North Carolina Grand Chapter Past Grand Marshal, Past 
Grand Recording Secretary;  

• Alpha Kappa Alpha Sorority, Inc., Rho Omega Omega Chapter – Past 
President, Clinton, N.C.; Sigma Tau Omega Chapter, Cary, NC- served on 
following committees: HBCU 4 Life, Seasons, Social Justice & Connection, 
and Membership. 

• Clear Run High School Alumni Association, Inc. – current recording 
secretary; past second Vice President; 

• Wake County Library Commission – 2016 – present; currently serving as 
Vice Chair – second term. 

• Wake County Board of Adjustment/Alternate member – January, 2023 



4 

My passion is writing—ultimately, I was employed with two local newspapers; 
have written for the HBCU Advocate and The Hampton Messenger (black-owned 
newspapers) as an independent contractor). I was given the historic opportunity to 
cover President Barack Obama’s (pre-inauguration day) first inauguration in 
Washington, D.C. for the Daily Record in 2008. 
 
Hobbies 
 Golf 
 Sports enthusiasts- high school basketball; college/professional basketball; 

professional football; track and field. 
 
It has been my vision to display kindness and fairness to all people I meet, be an 
advocate for students, the least informed, and the disabled. 



City of Mebane 
Boards and Commissions Application 

 
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s 
advisory boards and commissions.  To ensure that your application will receive full consideration, please answer all 
questions completely. Return this application either in person, by mail, or by fax to the Mebane Municipal Building, 
106 East Washington Street, Mebane, NC  27302, Fax (919) 563-9506. 
 
 
Personal Information 
Name:  _______________________________________________________________________ 

Home Address:  ________________________________________________________________ 

Mailing Address (if different):  ____________________________________________________ 

Home Phone:  ___________________________  Business Phone:  _______________________ 

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits?    Yes_____   No_____ 

In Alamance or Orange County?  ___________________________ 

 

Board Preference 
Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane?  Yes____  No____ 
If so, which one(s)?_____________________________________________________________ 
 
Please list the name(s) of the board(s) to which you are applying or seeking reappointment (you 
may apply to more than one): _____________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity?  If additional space is needed please attach a 
separate sheet:  
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Education 
Please list your educational background.  Include name of all schools attended: 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________





















______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
                                     Boards and Commissions Application 
                                     Page 2 
         

 

 

Employment 

Please list the names and address of your current employer, the title of your current position, and 
a brief description of your job duties. 
 
Name of Employer:  _____________________________________________________________ 
 
Address:  _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Title and Duties:  
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Civic Involvement 
Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership:  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Thank you for your interest in appointment to the City of Mebane’s Advisory Boards and 
Commissions.  Individuals selected for appointment will be notified by mail within 5 working days 
from the City Council meeting at which they have been appointed. 
 
 
 
 
 













Dr. Gradesa M. Lockhart  
1522 Birkdale Circle Mebane, NC 27302  
gradesalockhart@outlook.com or drgradesalockhart@gmail.com  
919-824-2226  
  
Racial Equity Advisory Committee Members,   
I am writing to express my keen interest in serving as a member of the Racial Equity Advisory 
Committee.  I have 27 years of experience in education, and I have been a K-12 administrator 
for 21 of the 27 years. During my career, I have successfully navigated racial equity issues from 
multiple perspectives: school leader, parent, and community member since moving to Mebane 
in 2006.   
During my career, I have successfully been able to express my vision, making it clear what 
needs to be done. I can analyze information, challenge assumptions, and accept and use 
conflict in a way to generate ideas that inspires others to achieve. I have had extensive racial 
equity training including but not limited to:   

• Beyond Diversity facilitated by Glenn Singleton with Courageous Conversation.   
• Transformational Leadership Framework facilitated by  New Leaders on ways of 
using an equity lens to increase student achievement.  
• Standards Institute Training, a model focused on deepening my understanding of 
the correlation between standards-based content and equitable instructional 
practices.  

All the training I have completed has supported my leadership experiences, especially when I 
have worked in organizations where deinstitutionalizing racism and eliminating the racial 
achievement disparities was paramount to the organization's success.   
In addition to my professional leadership experience, I have had community-based leadership 
experiences in Alamance County. I had the pleasure of serving as guardian ad litem in 
Alamance County 2012-13. Also, I am an active member of the Alamance County NAACP 
serving on the Education Committee.   
In 2021, I completed my dissertation entitled Program Evaluation of the J-1 Visa Teacher 
Exchange Program From the Perspective of Exchange Teachers Within a Rural School District. 
It is example of my writing skills, logical reasoning, creativity, diligence and punctuality to 
complete a task, which are attributes that will support the work of the committee.  

As a graduate of UNC-CH in the 90’s, I have experienced the growth and diversification 
of Mebane, which I believe would be another valuable attribute as a committee member. My 
desire to join the Racial Equity Advisory Committee is grounded in my personal desire to make 
a difference in my community. I can also bring a fresh perspective on continued ways to make 
Mebane an all-inclusive community that is committed to advancing racial equity for all of 
Mebane’s citizenry through policies and procedures.  
I thank you for your time and consideration of my credentials. I truly believe my extensive 
training in racial equity issues and application of the knowledge would be an asset to the 
committee's work.  
Sincerely,  
Dr. Gradesa M. Lockhart, Ed.D.  
 

mailto:gradesalockhart@outlook.com
mailto:Drgradesalockhart@gmail.com
https://www.newleaders.org/tlf
https://digitalcommons.gardner-webb.edu/education-dissertations/48/
https://digitalcommons.gardner-webb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1066&context=education-dissertations
https://digitalcommons.gardner-webb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1066&context=education-dissertations


City of Mebane
Boards and Commissions Application

The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s
advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full consideration, please answer all
questions completely. Return this application either in person, by mail, or by fax to the Mebane Municipal Building,
106 East Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302, Fax (919) 563-9506.

Personal Information
Name: __Christopher Norwood______________________________________________

HomeAddress: _1295 Adrian Ct. Mebane, NC 27302_________________________________

Mailing Address (if different): ____________________________________________________

Home Phone: __910-308-5784____ Business Phone: _919-560-2123 ext. 65732__ Do you live

inside the Mebane City Limits? Yes__X___ No_____

In Alamance or Orange County? __Alamance_________________________

Board Preference
Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? Yes____ No__X__
If so, which
one(s)?_____________________________________________________________

Please list the name(s) of the board(s) to which you are applying or seeking reappointment (you
may apply to more than one):
__N/A___________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? If additional space is needed please attach a
separate sheet:
I’m a military brat and I have had the pleasure of living the entirety of my life in diverse
communities with people from all over the world and different ethnic backgrounds. I’ve also had
the pleasure of someone who identifies as a black man experiencing discrimination because of
the color of my skin. One thing I’ve discovered is that the best communities I’ve been a part of
are the one’s that are characterized by a plethora of diversity that is also reflected in leadership in
the community. Mebane is interesting because the school system has a breakdown give or take of
⅓ white, ⅓ black and ⅓ hispanic. It has the makings of being a balanced community where
people who are moving here or have moved here like myself, to be a forward thinking
community when it comes to being inclusive people from different ethnic backgrounds. I would
love to serve the city in this capacity to see how we all can work together to promote equitable



access and developmental attention for those of us in this community who may feel marginalized
because of their race or ethnic background. Anytime, there’s this much diversity in a growing
community there’s a window of time to be creative and foster healthy discussions and implement
progressive ideas of race in our community and I would love to be a part of that as a member of
this community._

Education
Please list your educational background. Include name of all schools attended:

Fayetteville State University, Fayetteville, NC

Bachelor of Science in Psychology, December 2005

Master of Special Education in Learning Disabilities, May 2014

Shaw University, Raleigh, NC

Master of Divinity in Pastoral Care and Counseling, May 2022

Boards and Commissions Application
Page 2

Employment
Please list the names and address of your current employer, the title of your current position, and
a brief description of your job duties.

Name of Employer: Durham Public Schools

Address: _808 Bacon St. Durham, NC

Title and Duties:
Title:
Instructional and Vocational Specialist_
Duties:

● Conducts research and makes recommendations for vocational skill development
programs/assessments for students; evaluate vocational materials and assist with
administration of assessments, as appropriate./The results have yielded staff utilizing 3
databases tools that were not previously being utilized: ULS, XELLO and TeachTown

● Coordinates and provides professional development to district staff in identified areas
(i.e., instructional curriculum and methodology, transition planning, vocational skills,
etc.)./Based on feedback from post-training surveys, this has yielded a 30% positivity
increase in teachers' responses in comparison to previous years.

● Provides oversight of EC Job Coaches at community-based sites to ensure appropriate
support and instruction is being provided to students./Added 4 additional community



businesses and trained 6 job coaches to effectively provide over 40 students with
vocational training in the community.

● Participates in IEP meetings to ensure appropriate transitional goals and
objectives./Participating in IEP meetings has supported an increased efficiency in
Indicator 14 and also successfully oversaw the transition of 16 extended content standard
students into Project Search with 10 out of 16 securing competitive paid-employment.

Civic Involvement
Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership:

● NEA/NCAE

● Interdenominational Ministerial Alliance of Durham and Vicinity

● White Rock Baptist Church Food Distribution

● Inclusive Employment Alliance

Thank you for your interest in appointment to the City of Mebane’s Advisory Boards and
Commissions. Individuals selected for appointment will be notified by mail within 5 working days
from the City Council meeting at which they have been appointed.



City of Mebane 
Boards and Commissions Application 

 
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s 

advisory boards and commissions.  To ensure that your application will receive full consideration, please answer all 

questions completely. Return this application either in person, by mail, or by fax to the Mebane Municipal Building, 

106 East Washington Street, Mebane, NC  27302, Fax (919) 563-9506. 

 

 

Personal Information 

Name:  _______________________________________________________________________ 

Home Address:  ________________________________________________________________ 

Mailing Address (if different):  ____________________________________________________ 

Home Phone:  ___________________________  Business Phone:  _______________________ 

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits?    Yes_____   No_____ 

In Alamance or Orange County?  ___________________________ 

 

Board Preference 
Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane?  Yes____  No____ 

If so, which one(s)?_____________________________________________________________ 

 

Please list the name(s) of the board(s) to which you are applying or seeking reappointment (you 

may apply to more than one): _____________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity?  If additional space is needed please attach a 

separate sheet:  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Education 
Please list your educational background.  Include name of all schools attended: 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

Jason Gaskin

304 Wentworth Circle Mebane, NC 27302

251.223.2800 (cell)

x

Alamance County

x

Racial Equity Advisory Committee 

I believe the REAC committee is very important to the Mebane community. If selected to serve on the committee 
I hope to be a listening voice on the committee so that I might be a bridge for the community and the council as 
we grow and change as a community. I am currently participating in a cohort around Racial Equity at Impact 
Alamance and serving as the board chair of Habitat of Alamance County. I am also a United Methodist pastor 
and passionate about community service. My hope is that my gifts might be utilized to make my community 
better and a more positively charming place for my children to grow up.  It would be a privilege to serve my 
community in this way. 

Okaloosa Walton Community College (2000-2002)

Flagler College (2002-2004)

Asbury Theological Seminary (2004-2008)



______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
                                     Boards and Commissions Application 

                                     Page 2 
         

 

 

Employment 

Please list the names and address of your current employer, the title of your current position, and 

a brief description of your job duties. 

 

Name of Employer:  _____________________________________________________________ 

 

Address:  _____________________________________________________________________ 

 

Title and Duties:  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Civic Involvement 
Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership:  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Thank you for your interest in appointment to the City of Mebane’s Advisory Boards and 
Commissions.  Individuals selected for appointment will be notified by mail within 5 working days 
from the City Council meeting at which they have been appointed. 
 

 

 

 

 

Storied United Methodist Church

PO Box 1234 Mebane, NC 27302

Lead Pastor/United Methodist New Faith Communties Church Planter

Habitat of Alamance County, Board Chair (2021-Current)

ACREcolab- 8 month cohort Alamance County Racial Equity Colab 

EM Yoder PTA 







 

AGENDA ITEM #8 
Recreation and Parks Advocacy 
Commission (RPAC) 
 2024 Appointments  

Meeting Date  
November 6, 2023 

Presenter  
Aaron Davis, Recreation and Parks Director 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Recreation and Parks Advocacy Commission Appointments for 2024. 

Background 
The Recreation and Parks Advocacy Commission will begin its fourth year in 2024.  Initially, City Council 
selected six individuals who served staggered entry terms of 1, 2, and 3 years.  The two members selected 
this year will begin a three-year term and will be a big part of planning for our future using the soon to be 
adopted Recreation and Parks Master Plan and helping advocate for the City’s parks, programs, and 
facilities.  We are excited for the appointment of new Champions of Recreation and Parks. 

The qualifications of the eight candidates are detailed in the attached applications. 

Financial Impact 
None. 

Recommendation 
We recommend that the Council appoint two members to the commission, both for three-year terms. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to appoint _____________ and ______________ to the RPAC to each serve a three-year term. 

Attachments 
1. RPAC Application Information  
2. Submitted Applications (8) 

 

 

 



City of Mebane 
Recreation and Parks Advocacy Commission 

Application Information 
 

The City of Mebane is recruiting members for the Recreation and Parks Advocacy Commission to provide direction to the 
City Council and the Recreation and Parks Department regarding matters related to Recreation and Parks programs, 
facilities, policies, and its long-range plan.  These members also must be a “Champion” of Recreation and Parks by 
promoting parks, programs, and events to other citizens, legislators, and others to understand, first hand, the essential 
value that Recreation and Parks has to our positively charming community.  

 

Advocacy Commission Purpose 
 
• Serve as a liaison between City officials and the 

citizens on Recreation and Parks matters; 
• Provide guidance and feedback to the Recreation 

and Parks Department and City Council in matters 
affecting programs, facilities, policies, and long-
range plans for Recreation and Parks; 

• Inform and educate the general public about the 
importance and need for Recreation and Parks 
programs, facilities and services; 

• Volunteer to work with leaders in Recreation and 
Parks facilities, programs and activities; 

• Assist in developing an updated master plan to meet 
the present and future needs for programs, services, 
park facilities, open spaces and to advise in 
establishing priorities for each of these; 

• Recommend changes, updates, and the approval of 
rules, policy and procedures pertaining to the use of 
public parks and facilities, including fees and 
charges. 
 

Applications are Accepted 
 
Annually from September 1 – October 31  
and/or when any vacancies occur. 
Full-term appointments are for three-years 
Official terms begin on January 1 the following year. 
Applications will be accepted on-line only using the 
Recreation and Parks Registration Software “Civic Rec” 
www.tinyurl.com/cityofmebanerec 
 

For more information or questions, 
please e-mail the Recreation and Parks Director 

adavis@cityofmebane.com 

 
 

Appointment Process 
 
Applicants must reside in Mebane City Limits or the 
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) of Mebane and must 
submit an application to the Recreation and Parks 
Director online using the Recreation and Parks Software 
by the deadline date for consideration. The Mebane City 
Council will make appointments for three-year terms 
each November and partial terms when vacancies occur.  
The Mebane City Council will initially select six 
Commission members along with a seventh member, 
from a local school. Members will vote on a Commission 
Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary at the first meeting each 
year. Positions will be held for one year.  Following the 
one-year term, the Vice-Chair will assume the role of 
Commission Chair and a Vice-Chair and Secretary will 
be voted in.  
 

Meeting Information 
 

The Advocacy Commission meets every other month on 
the 3rd Monday of those months at 6:00 pm, for 
approximately 2 hours, at The Mebane Arts and 
Community Center.  Special meetings may be called at 
any time as needed. 
 

Attendance Requirements 
 
Faithful attendance at the meetings of the Recreation 
and Parks Advocacy Commission is a requirement for 
membership on the Commission to maintain continuity 
and cohesion in the deliberation and recommendations. 
This attendance policy is intended to encourage the 
regular attendance of its members. The City Council 
may remove a member with a pattern of absenteeism or 
partial participation in regular or special meetings

mailto:adavis@cityofmebane.com


Mebane Recreation & Parks Department
Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application

Participant Sheet

Participant Name Sherri Seagroves
Date of Birth 09/25/1961

Address 221 Beauregard Lane
Mebane, NC 27302

Main Phone 336-684-2058
Email sherrib@roxboro.net

Prompt Responses:
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full

consideration, please answer all questions completely.
Agreed

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits? Yes

Do you live in Alamance or Orange County? Alamance

Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? Yes

If you are serving on a board or commission, please list which one(s) RPAC

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? Mebane's RP Department makes an incredible impact on our
community, and I believe I can continue to work as a liaison
to local and state groups to strengthen the programs and
department. I am very passionate about our RPD and their

team, and I've witnessed the difference RPAC makes.

Please list your educational background. Include the name of all schools attended: Master's from UNC, Bachelor's from ECU, High School
diploma from Eastern Alamance

Please list the name of your employer Friends of the Mountains-to-Sea Trail

Please list the address of your employer 6509 Haworth Dr, Suite 210, Raleigh, NC 27609

Please list your job title and duties at your current job Outreach Coordinator and Membership Engagement. I'm
responsible for working with 3000+ volunteers and planning

all events on the MST.

Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership: Mebane Woman's Club (serve as an officer)



Mebane Recreation & Parks Department
Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application

Participant Sheet

Participant Name jesse Alston
Date of Birth 04/26/1997

Address 1461 Nc N hey 119
mebnae, NC 27302

Main Phone 336-221-4310
Email jessealston@icloud.com

Prompt Responses:
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full

consideration, please answer all questions completely.
Agreed

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits? Yes

Do you live in Alamance or Orange County? Alamance

Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? No

If you are serving on a board or commission, please list which one(s) N/A

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? To advance and help the City grow and develop.

Please list your educational background. Include the name of all schools attended: Eastern Alamance high school

Please list the name of your employer Duke University/ Health

Please list the address of your employer 310 Trent Drive Durham Nc

Please list your job title and duties at your current job Procurement Specialist

Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership: N/A



Mebane Recreation & Parks Department
Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application

Participant Sheet

Participant Name Michael Brown
Date of Birth 07/06/1986

Address 1103 Coquina Court
Mebane, NC 27302

Main Phone 919-641-3349
Email mikebrown1103@gmail.com

Prompt Responses:
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full

consideration, please answer all questions completely.
Agreed

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits? Yes

Do you live in Alamance or Orange County? Alamance

Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? Yes

If you are serving on a board or commission, please list which one(s) Children's Literacy Project Board Fieldstone Farms Board of
Directors

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? As a parks and recreation employee since 2005, I have
experience in recreational programming and would love to
utilize my knowledge of parks and recreation in my local

community.

Please list your educational background. Include the name of all schools attended: Bachelors of Arts (Education) - NCCU Masters in School
Administration (NCCU) Working on a Doctorate in

Educational Leadership (UNCG)

Please list the name of your employer Eno River Academy and Durham Parks and Recreation

Please list the address of your employer 1100 NC HWY 57, Hillsborough and 1308 Fayetteville Street
Durahm

Please list your job title and duties at your current job Dean of Students - Eno River Program Assistant, Senior - WD
Hill Recreation Center

Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership: NA



Mebane Recreation & Parks Department
Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application

Participant Sheet

Participant Name Lisa Nellis (she/her/hers)
Date of Birth 03/12/1963

Address 423 Lake Latham Rd
Mebane, NC 27302

Main Phone 919-260-0006
Email nellisa@duck.com

Prompt Responses:
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full

consideration, please answer all questions completely.
Agreed

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits? No

Do you live in Alamance or Orange County? Alamance

Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? No

If you are serving on a board or commission, please list which one(s) n/a. I live in the ETJ.

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? I'm a huge advocate of having enough recreational space.

Please list your educational background. Include the name of all schools attended: Duke University, BS Psychology

Please list the name of your employer North Carolina Youth Soccer Association

Please list the address of your employer 136 Manley Ave, Greensboro NC 27407

Please list your job title and duties at your current job I work as the Assistant Director of Recreation. I register youth
soccer players throughout the state.

Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership: n/a



Mebane Recreation & Parks Department
Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application

Participant Sheet

Participant Name Terry Tolliver (he)
Date of Birth 11/25/1991

Address 412 Five Pine Ct
Mebane, NC 27302

Main Phone 919-616-9923
Mobile Phone 919-616-9923

Email tolliverterry@gmail.com
Prompt Responses:

The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full
consideration, please answer all questions completely.

Agreed

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits? Yes

Do you live in Alamance or Orange County? Orange

Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? No

If you are serving on a board or commission, please list which one(s) none

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? To make Mebane a better place for my children.

Please list your educational background. Include the name of all schools attended: Currently enrolled at wake tech for engineering planning on
transferring to nc state.

Please list the name of your employer wolfspeed

Please list the address of your employer 4609 silicon drive durham nc

Please list your job title and duties at your current job Lead maintenance technician

Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership: None



Mebane Recreation & Parks Department
Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application

Participant Sheet

Participant Name Tyler Whitley (he/him)
Date of Birth 03/31/1986

Address 324 W Lake Trl
Mebane, NC 27302

Main Phone 205-541-7136
Email tyler.whitley.mph@gmail.com

Prompt Responses:
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full

consideration, please answer all questions completely.
Agreed

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits? Yes

Do you live in Alamance or Orange County? Alamance

Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? No

If you are serving on a board or commission, please list which one(s) N/a

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? I'm passionate about the recreational activities in Mebane.
Our parks and rec facilities and services are better than any
other city in Alamance County. These facilities are a draw for

attracting new businesses and residents. I want to ensure
Mebane stays at the forefront of high qualtiy facilities.

Please list your educational background. Include the name of all schools attended: University of Alabama - BS in Biology University of Alabama
at Birmingham - Continuing studies in business

administration Tulane University School of Public Health and
Tropical Medicine - Masters of Public Health

Please list the name of your employer Mercy For Animals

Please list the address of your employer 7908 Santa Monica BLVD., West Hollywood, CA 90046

Please list your job title and duties at your current job Director of Transfarmation; overseeing the administration of
a $2 million annual program budget that includes social
media activities, farmer outreach, technical consultant

recruitment & contracting, federal policy advocacy,
fundraising, program reporting, and managing 6-10

employees.

Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership: Plant Based Foods Institute - Board of Directors, Secretary



Mebane Recreation & Parks Department
Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application Recreation & Parks Advocacy Commission Application

Participant Sheet

Participant Name Guy Loranger (Mr.)
Date of Birth 01/19/1973

Address 400 South Third Street, Mebane, NC, USA
Mebane, NC 27302

Main Phone 919-525-0097
Email gloranger2003@yahoo.com

Prompt Responses:
The Mebane City Council has adopted this application for use by individuals interested in appointment to the City’s advisory boards and commissions. To ensure that your application will receive full

consideration, please answer all questions completely.
Agreed

Do you live inside the Mebane City Limits? Yes

Do you live in Alamance or Orange County? Alamance

Are you currently serving on a board or commission of the City of Mebane? No

If you are serving on a board or commission, please list which one(s) None

Why do you wish to serve the City in this capacity? My family and I have lived in Mebane for more than 20 years,
and we live adjacent to the basketball, volleyball, tennis, and

pickleball courts. I think I could bring an important
perspective to the Commission and help Commission and
City Council members to understand how decisions can

impact the lives of those who not only use facilities but also
those who live near them. More importantly, I love this town. I
am excited about its growth. And it would be an honor to play

a role in shaping its future.

Please list your educational background. Include the name of all schools attended: University of Notre Dame (B.A. English, 1995); N.C. Central
University School of Law (J.D., 2007).

Please list the name of your employer NC Center on Actual Innocence

Please list the address of your employer 3500 Westgate Drive, Ste. 701 Durham, NC, 27707-2568

Please list your job title and duties at your current job Staff Attorney

Please list the names of all civic organizations in which you currently hold membership: None







 

AGENDA ITEM #9 
Purchase of Vacant Lot on Ruffin Street 

Meeting Date 
November 6, 2023 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
MARISANNA, LLC has offered to sell the vacant lot at the intersection of Ruffin Street and N. Fourth Street 
for $220,000.   

Background 
The real estate broker for the MARISANNA, LLC entity contacted staff as to the City’s interest in the property 
for potential use as a parking lot.  Staff believes that there is a need for additional parking in the central 
business district which will only accelerate in the future. 

Financial Impact 
The City will spend $220,000 for the land purchase and an estimated $7,500 for due diligence (phase 1 
environmental, title examination, etc.) 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the purchase of the property in accordance with the Offer to Purchase and Contract-
Vacant Lot/Land. 

Suggested Motion 
I move that the City purchase the Property located at the southwest intersection of Ruffin and N. Fourth 
Streets pursuant to the terms of the Offer to Purchase and Contract, provided the normal due diligence is 
satisfactory to staff, and that staff be authorized to take the necessary action to purchase the same. 

Attachments 
1. Offer to Purchase and Contract-Vacant Lot 
2. Aerial Photo of Vacant Lot 

 

































 

AGENDA ITEM #10 
2022 FEMA BRIC Grant 
Application – Sewer Rehab  

Presenter 
Kyle Smith, PE, Utilities Director 
 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
The City submitted a funding application through the 2022 FEMA BRIC (Building Resilient Infrastructures 
and Communities) Grant request and has been selected to move forward to the final round of the selection 
process. As part of the grant selection process the City must execute the attached resolution designating a 
signing agent for Federal and State forms. The grant has not been awarded; this resolution allows for 
signatures for the next round of the grant cycle.  

Background 
The City submitted for funding for the engineering and construction of approximately 16,800 feet of sewer 
line rehabilitation by CIPP lining and associated manhole rehab. This project is intended to cut down on the 
amount of inflow and infiltration (I&I) entering our collection system thus making it to the WRRF for 
treatment.  

Financial Impact 
Total estimated cost for the project is $3,150,000. If the City of Mebane is selected to receive the BRIC 
grant, the city will be awarded $2,250,000 and will be required to provide a match of $900,000. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends executing the Resolution Designation of Applicant’s Agent. 

Attachments 
1. Resolution Designation of Applicant’s Agent 
2. Project Area Maps 















Monday, January 8, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, February 5, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, March 4, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, March 13, 2024               Budget Workshop

Tuesday, March 21, 2024 Budget Workshop

Monday, April 8, 2024              Regular Meeting

Thursday, April 11, 2024 Budget Workshop

Monday, May 6, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, May 6, 2024 Manager’s Recommended Budget

Monday, June 3, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, June 3, 2024 Public Hearing for Budget

Monday, July 1, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, August 5, 2024                Regular Meeting

Monday, September 9, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, October 7, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, November 4, 2024 Regular Meeting

Monday, December 2, 2024 Regular Meeting

City of Mebane
 2024 Regular Meetings and FY 2024-2025 Budget Calendar                                                                                   

Page 1DRAFT- Proposed 2024 Regular Meetings and FY 2024-2025 Budget Calendar.xlsx



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
The Planning Board meeting was held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 106 E. 
Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302 and livestreamed via YouTube. The video can be accessed 
through the following link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y9oAhHG5TFY.  
 

Members Present:   Members Absent: 
Edward Tulauskas, Chair  Gale Pettiford 
Judy Taylor, Vice Chair  Keith Hoover 
Colin Cannell   
William Chapman   
Kurt Pearson   
David Scott   
Susan Semonite   

 
City Staff Present:   
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
Briana Perkins, City Planner 
Kirk Montgomery, IT Director 
 
1. Call to Order 

At 6:30 p.m. Chair Tulauskas called the meeting to order. 
 
2. Approval of September 18, 2023, Meeting Minutes 

Kurt Pearson made a motion to approve the meeting minutes. Susan Semonite seconded the 
motion, which passed unanimously. 

 
3. City Council Actions Update 

Ashley Ownbey informed the Board that the City Council had unanimously approved the rezoning 
request for Deep River Partners for a development of 90 townhomes and five commercial parcels at 
the intersection of Mebane Oaks Road and Old Hillsborough Road. 
 

4. Request for a Special Use Permit to allow for a concrete plant on the +/- 5.28-acre parcel located 
at 920 Mattress Factory Road (GPIN: 9824778854) by VM Development, LLC. 
 
VM Development, LLC is requesting approval for a Special Use Permit to allow for the development 
of a concrete plant on a +/- 5.28 -acre parcel located at 920 Mattress Factory Road. The subject 
property is currently zoned Heavy Manufacturing (HM) and includes a single-family dwelling. The 
manufacturing of concrete is only allowed in the HM Zoning District with a Special Use Permit. 
Surrounding uses are largely industrial, with some vacant and underdeveloped land adjacent to the 
site and a nearby commercial use on Industrial Drive. The property is located in an industrial growth 
strategy area as identified by Mebane By Design, the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development 
Plan. The site plan has been reviewed for compliance with the Mebane Unified Development 
Ordinance (UDO). 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y9oAhHG5TFY


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
The site-specific plan and staff report are provided in the meeting agenda packet available here. 
 
Briana Perkins provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presenta�on of the request. 
 
Fred Gibson of Piedmont Ready Mix, which is located in Asheboro, reviewed the business Is looking 
to expand to another loca�on in Mebane. 
 
Tori Small, Civil Engineer with Westcott Small and Associates, presented the four findings of fact for 
the Special Use Permit. 
 

1) The project would not materially endanger the public health or safety. 
- Traffic would only generate an approximate addition of 75 trips per day. There was only 

a 2.59-percent increase at the intersection of Mattress Factory Road and Industrial Drive 
and 1.92-percent increase at the intersection of Industrial Drive and Buckhorn Road for 
the concrete plant operations. 

- Related to water quality, the site is required to get an industrial stormwater permit from 
the State and will have a bioretention cell. 

- An air quality permit from NCDEQ is also required. 
 

2) The project would not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property.  
- Surrounding properties are industrial.  
- Glen Patterson, Patterson Appraisals in Burlington, presented that he reviewed similar 

uses and could not find any issues with similar properties since the site is already in an 
industrial area. 
 

3) The project would be in harmony with the area in which it is to be located.  
- The site is surrounded by industrial uses and is also surrounded by HM, Heavy 

Manufacturing zoning.  
 

4) The project would be in general conformity with the Land Use Plan or other plans and 
policies officially adopted by the City Council. 
- The property is identified in an industrial growth strategy area in the City’s 

Comprehensive Land Development Plan. The project was reviewed through the 
Technical Review Committee process for compliance with the Mebane Unified 
Development Ordinance. 

 
David Scott asked if there was a traffic light at the end of Industrial Drive and Buckhorn Road. Susan 
Semonite responded that there was not a traffic light there currently, but there were plans for a light on 
Buckhorn Road right before getting onto the Interstate. 
 
Colin Cannell asked if the applicant could explain in layman’s terms how the concrete plant would 
protect air and water quality. Tori Small responded that there was a stormwater retention plan in place 

https://cityofmebane-my.sharepoint.com/personal/avogel_cityofmebane_com/Documents/Planning%20Board/2023%20Planning%20Board%20Meetings/10%20October/October%202023%20Planning%20Board%20Packet.pdf


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
for any chemicals and oils to be contained on site. She stated that on the low end of the site there were 
three concrete bins for runoff and then the bioretention pond.  
 
Fred Gibson explained that the parking lot would be concrete, and runoff would drain into settling 
ponds. He said the first pond was for heavy material, the second for mix material, and the third would 
be almost clean water into the bioretention pond. He explained that the water in the bioretention pond 
could be discharged into the local water supply since they were required to monitor pH levels and Total 
Suspended Solids. He said that the pH-treated water from the concrete plant operations would save the 
City money since it was already pretreating the water before going to the water treatment plant. Mr. 
Gibson also explained the process of the concrete going into the trucks, with any dirt and extra dust 
entering the retention pond. He said that all of the materials are watertight sealed, and the only dust 
point would be about a foot from the truck which any excess would also be vacuumed back up into the 
bins. Mr. Gibson then commented that he had previously owned a concrete plant in Tennessee where 
there was no notice of violations for ten years of operation from the Department of Air Quality. He also 
explained that the water would be recycled for operations and any remaining would go through the 
ponds to be discharged under heavy monitoring with annual inspections.  
 
Colin Cannell asked to clarify the location of the three ponds on the site plan. Fred Gibson responded 
that the ponds were all located on the south corner of the site and would be tested and cleaned out 
every week. He also stated that records of disposal, cleanouts, testing, and maintenance would be 
maintained.  
 
Judy Taylor asked about hours of operation and noise. Fred Gibson responded that the main operating 
hours would be from 7 a.m. to 5 p.m. with the occasional exception of large pours that might be earlier. 
He said the only noise would be from the trucks running and noted the surrounding uses were also 
industrial. 
 
Colin Cannell asked if there were any plans to develop the +/- .58-acre piece of land that the company 
also owned and shared his concern that the sidewalk plans did not include that parcel. He asked if the 
City had discussed with them about extending the sidewalk to connect to the next property. Mike 
Moore, VM Development, replied that during the TRC process sidewalk was added to the development. 
He explained that currently there was no sidewalk developed on either side of the development and did 
not see a need to extend it. Mike Moore said that they would be open to filling that gap to connect 
when sidewalk was developed in the future.  
 
Tom Boney Jr., Alamance News, asked if the proposed concrete plant was the first satellite location of 
the company. Fred Gibson responded that yes, it was the first satellite location. Mr. Boney then asked 
how long the company had been in business. Mr. Gibson responded that the business had been in 
operation for 47 years and had changed names from Asheboro Ready Mix to Piedmont Ready Mix about 
3 years ago. Mr. Boney asked if there were any air quality citations for the company in its 47-year 
history. Mr. Gibson said he was not aware of any citations. 
 
 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
 

 
Kurt Pearson made a motion to approve the Special Use Permit as follows: 

Motion to approve the Special Use Permit as presented.  
 
Motion to find that the request is both reasonable and in the public interest because it has been 
found that the request: 
a. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety; 
b. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property; 
c. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and 
d. Will be in conformity with the land development plan or other plans officially adopted by 

the City Council. 
 
William Chapman seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 
Chair Tulauskas noted that the request will go to the City Council on November 6, 2023, at 6 p.m.  

David Scot asked what the scope and size of the development will be in comparison with other 
opera�ons in Orange or Alamance County. Fred Gibson replied that the goal was about four loads of 
concrete per day, which was comparable with others in the area. Tom Boney, Jr. asked if the Chandler 
Concrete Plant on Senator Ralph Scot Parkway was similar. Mike Moore responded that property was a 
similar size. 

5. Request to rezone a +/- 3.8-acre unaddressed property with frontages on Lake Latham Road and 
West Holt Street (GPIN: 9815147486), por�ons of a +/- 27.5-acre property addressed 1268 West 
Holt Street (GPIN: 9815242044), and por�ons of a +/- 6.8-acre unaddressed property with 
frontages on Sun Ray Lane and Lake Latham Road (GPIN: 9815125977) from Heavy Manufacturing 
and Light Manufacturing to Heavy Manufacturing, Condi�onal District to allow for a railyard on a 
+/- 8.03-acre site by Samet Corpora�on. 
 
Samet Corpora�on is reques�ng approval to condi�onally rezone one property and por�ons of two 
other proper�es (GPINs 9815147486; 9815242044; 9815125977), totaling +/- 8.03 acres and located 
with frontages on West Holt Street, Lake Latham Road, and Sun Ray Lane from HM and LM to HM 
(CD) to allow for a rail transload facility. A conceptual site plan is included with the request and 
shows recombina�on of the subject parcels. The proper�es are located in Alamance County in the 
Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdic�on (ETJ). The applicant has agreed to pe��on for annexa�on. 
 
The site-specific plan and staff report are provided in the meeting agenda packet available here. 
 
Ashley Ownbey provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presenta�on of the request. 
 

https://cityofmebane-my.sharepoint.com/personal/avogel_cityofmebane_com/Documents/Planning%20Board/2023%20Planning%20Board%20Meetings/10%20October/October%202023%20Planning%20Board%20Packet.pdf


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 

Brian Hall, President of Real Estate for Samet Corpora�on, presented plans from 2001 that originally 
showed rail service to the industrial park. He gave a basic �meline: 2001 original plan; 2010 
statewide compe��on for rail access; 2011 winning the compe��on to have the rail access at North 
Carolina Industrial Center (NCIC) in Mebane; 2014  Cambro site built with rail access. He explained 
the partnership with eight different organiza�ons for Cambro to get rail access. He also said that the 
extension of the rail line would accommodate a maximum of ten addi�onal cars. Mr. Hall presented 
that the proposal was an extension using the current switch and no hazardous materials would be 
transported. He reported that a neighborhood mee�ng was held via Zoom on October 3, 2023, and 
only one family had par�cipated in the mee�ng and shared no concerns about the project.   
 
Colin Cannell asked about the rou�ng of trucks and about the original proposed access to NC 
Highway 119. Brian Hall explained that NCIC originally built a por�on of Development Center Drive, 
which provides access to Airgas. He said that the NCDOT was planning to extend Development 
Center Drive to Lake Latham Road and Lotus Bakery now owns a large por�on of the property. He 
said that NCIC would help fund the extension of the road if the NCDOT wanted to move forward with 
the project. Ashley Ownbey commented that the NCDOT was commited to the project, but there 
currently was no �meline or funding. 
 
Colin Cannell asked about the best route for trucks accessing the facility to or from NC Highway 119. 
Brian Hall replied that the best route is the current route, which involves a le� turn onto Lake 
Latham Road and travel on Gibson Road.  
 
William Chapman asked if staff had heard from any neighbors about the project. Ashley Ownbey 
responded that staff had not received any phone calls or visits. 
 
Judy Taylor asked about the buffer along Sun Ray Lane since some of the houses currently faced 
Cambro. Ashley Ownbey replied that there was a minimum 10-foot buffer which is proposed to be 
wider in some areas. She also stated that evergreen plan�ngs were shown in the buffer. Judy Taylor 
also asked if any of the exis�ng trees would stay or if they would all be removed. Brian Hall replied 
that any trees they could keep would stay. Ashley Ownbey also noted a retaining wall is proposed 
along Sun Ray Lane.  
 
Omega Wilson, co-founder of the West End Revitaliza�on Associa�on (WERA), said his home is 
located at the corner of Moore and West Holt Street. He remarked on the truck traffic turning right 
onto West Holt Street and then Moore Street. He said that a formal leter was sent to the district 
office of NCDOT to request a designated truck route. He explained that some trucks were traveling 
other secondary roads, such as Tate Avenue, which was not built for large trucks and was a major 
concern for neighbors in the area. Mr. Wilson explained that his other concern was related to air 
quality of railyards from his experience working as an advisor for the Environmental Protec�on 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Agency. He said historically the rail car movers in railyards are not in compliance with the engines on 
the railway, making them heavier polluters and affec�ng public health. He commented that the main 
concern of heavy truck traffic on secondary roads should be addressed on the plan with a truck 
route.  
 
Judy Taylor asked if the neighbors had asked NCDOT to reduce the speed limit on West Holt Street 
due to the amount of traffic since the crossing at Lake Latham Road to US 70 was closed. Omega 
Wilson replied that they did not request the reduc�on in speed but had requested installa�on of a 
traffic signal at the intersec�on of Moore Street and West Holt Street. He said that NCDOT has not 
responded to the request. Another request was made for a traffic count at that intersec�on. He said 
that NCDOT replied that they would not complete a count at the intersec�on.  
 
Brian Hall responded that he understood the concerns and said that the development was �ed to a 
traffic study that was completed in 2001 for the original plan and updated in 2011. He said that NCIC 
was commited to working with the NCDOT and the City of Mebane and has consistently updated 
plans throughout the years. He said that NCIC was vocal about not closing the crossing at Lake 
Latham Road, which was ul�mately NCDOT’s decision. 
 
Colin Cannell asked what type of rail car movers were going to be used in the facility. Brian Hall 
replied that the engine bringing the cars would back up and reconnect so there would not be any 
railyard movers. 
 
Tom Boney Jr. asked where the truck loading would be on the property. Brian Hall replied that it 
would be the concrete pad area shaded in grey on the site plan. Mr. Boney also asked where Cambro 
was in rela�on to the loading area. Mr. Hall said that Cambro was located to the east towards the 
botom of the site plan. Mr. Boney then asked if there was s�ll a plan to extend the rail line south. 
Mr. Hall replied that in 2010 that was the inten�on, but the property has since been purchased by 
Lotus Bakeries and developed with the Airgas facility. He said that the transload plan was to provide 
closer rail access instead of trucking from Winston-Salem or Fuquay Varina. Mr. Boney asked what 
the �meframe was and if the project would expand beyond the funding that had been provided last 
year. Mr. Hall responded that the project would not go beyond the funding already provided. He also 
said that the project would move as quickly as possible through Planning Board approval, City 
Council approval, design approval with North Carolina Railroad, Norfolk Southern, and then City of 
Mebane’s approval to start construc�on. 
 
Tom Boney, Jr. asked Ashley Ownbey if the NCDOT s�ll had the opinion that anyone could travel on 
any NCDOT road, and they would not make a designated truck route. Ashley Ownbey replied that 
historically, that was the case with NCDOT. She said that there had been complaints from neighbors 
located near the North Carolina Commerce Park about trucks traveling Kimrey Road or Cherry Lane 
and the NCDOT would respond with something like what Mr. Boney ar�culated. 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
Omega Wilson clarified that truck routes exist in other states where governments work with 
communi�es to file requests to iden�fy and mark truck routes.  He also commented that typically 
the larger yard would be used to create more rails and asked if in future more cars would be added 
that would require rail car movers. Brian Hall replied that the maximum capacity of the site was only 
ten cars due to site restraints of not owning addi�onal land. 
 

Colin Cannell made a motion to approve the request as follows: 
Motion to approve the HM(CD) zoning as presented. 
 
Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane by Design. The request: 

• Is for a property within the City’s G-1 NC 119 Bypass and US 70 Mixed Use Growth Area 
and is part of the North Carolina Industrial Center (Mebane CLP, p. 70). 

 
Judy Taylor seconded the mo�on, which passed unanimously. 

Chair Tulauskas noted that the request will go to the City Council on November 6, 2023, at 6 p.m.  

6. Updates to the Bylaws and Rules of Procedure of the Mebane Planning Board 
Ashley Ownbey presented that staff had announced at the July 17, 2023, mee�ng that the Planning 
Board would be upda�ng the Bylaws and Rules of Procedure document. Staff requested comments 
from the Planning Board at their September mee�ng. She said that staff would use discussion from 
the October mee�ng to inform conversa�on with the City Atorney and return to the Planning Board 
with a dra� to the November or December Planning Board mee�ng. 
 
Kurt Pearson asked who elects the officers since the document stated that City Council elected them. 
Colin Cannell said that there were more parts that were not correct. Ashley Ownbey replied that 
staff had taken some informa�on provided from other examples and would correct the document. 
She said that the City Council appoints members and does not elect officers. Kurt Pearson also asked 
about term limits. Ashley Ownbey explained that sec�on needs to be updated.  
 
Colin Cannell commented that the current document had too many ambiguous meanings and 
correc�ons to be made. He provided an example in Ar�cle 4 Sec�on 4 (c). He shared his preference 
to write a new document instead of trying to correct and rewrite the original document. Ashley 
Ownbey replied the current discussion was for recommenda�ons, with recommenda�on at a later 
mee�ng.  
 
David Scot asked if staff had reviewed Colin Cannell’s proposal. Ashley Ownbey replied that staff had 
reviewed it and that the Board was welcome to add more comments or recommenda�ons during 
the �me that staff consult with the City Atorney. 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

October 9, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
Kurt Pearson asked to leave the item open for discussion when it returns to the Planning Board. He 
also asked when the minutes of the Planning Board mee�ng were available a�er the mee�ng. Ashley 
Ownbey replied that dra� minutes are included in the City Council packets. Kurt Pearson asked if a 
digital record or public records request for the minutes could be provided a�er the mee�ng. Ashley 
Ownbey said that the City had requests in the past for minutes immediately following a mee�ng and 
the writen minutes could not be provided by Staff that quickly. She said that staff would work with 
the requestor to get the minutes to them as soon as staff had completed the dra�. Kurt Pearson 
asked if the City could provide the digital record of the minutes. Ashley Ownbey replied that the only 
digital record was through YouTube which was available at any �me. Kurt Pearson asked how the 
minutes would be provided if the person did not have that type of access. Ashley Ownbey replied 
that in the past staff summarized sec�ons of a mee�ng to respond more quickly to a request. Kurt 
Pearson explained that twenty years ago, staff had refused to provide informa�on un�l City Council 
packets were distributed and he was concerned that it could happen again. Ashley Ownbey 
responded that staff would work with anyone reques�ng public informa�on. 
 
Tom Boney Jr. commented about the fact that North Carolina law now specifies that “dra� minutes” 
can be requested when they are created and are public records.  
 
Colin Cannell commented that the Rules of Procedure were required by General Statute to be 
published on the website and were currently not published. 

7. New Business 
There was no new business discussed. 
 

8. Adjournment 
Chair Tulauskas adjourned the meeting at approximately 7:43 p.m. 

  


	Agenda- November 6, 2023 Regular Meeting final
	Item 5a- Summary Sheet - Fiscal Year 2023-2024 1st Quarter Financial Report
	Fiscal Year 2023-2024 1st Quarter Financial Report

	Item 5b- Approval of Minutes- October 2, 2023 Regular Meeting with PowerPoint
	US 70 Multimodal Corridor Study Update 10.2.2023

	Item 6a- Summary Sheet -Concrete Plant - Special Use Permit
	 Preliminary Presentation Slides
	Special Use Permit - 920 Mattress Factory Road
	Site Plan
	Planning Project Report - Concrete Plant
	Technical memo for Concrete Plant Mattress Factory Road

	Item 6b- Summary Sheet - Conditional Rezoning - Transload
	 Preliminary Presentation Slides - Transload
	Zoning Amendment Application - Samet Transload
	Zoning Map
	Site Plan - Rail Transload
	Planning Project Report - Transload
	 Technical Memo - Transload

	Item 6c- Summary Sheet- Street Closing Order- Jackson St. and Short St.
	Resolution and Order closing portions of Jackson Street and Short Street
	Plat portions jackson st and short st to be abandoned before 1st recomb
	 Map- Jackson-Short_Street_Closing

	Item 7- Summary Sheet- REAC Appointments
	 Brenda Buchanon Application and Resume
	 Dr. Gradesa Lockhart Application and Interest Letter
	Christopher Norwood REAC application
	Jason Gaskin
	 Christopher Dixon


	Item 8- Summary Sheet- RPAC Appointments for 2024
	 RPAC Application Information
	RPAC Applications 2023 ALL AD


	Item 9- Summary Sheet- Purchase of Vacant Lot on Ruffin Street
	 Offer to Purchase- Marisanna, LLC- Vacant lot on Ruffin Street
	 Vacant Lot Map

	Item 10- Summary Sheet- BRIC Grant Designation of Applicant's Agent
	Resolution Designation of Applicants Agent scan
	Project Area Maps

	Item 11- Proposed 2024 Regular Meetings and FY 2024-2025 Budget Calendar draft
	PB Minutes- October 2023 draft



